
PLANNING COMMITTEE

10.00 am

THURSDAY
7 JULY 2022

CABINET SUITE - SHIRE HALL, 
GLOUCESTER

MEETING PAPERS





PLANNING COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Thursday 7 July 2022
VENUE: Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Andrea Griffiths

2.  APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR Andrea Griffiths

3.  APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR Andrea Griffiths

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
Members who have an interest to declare are asked to complete 
the Declarations of Interests form at the back of the chamber.

Andrea Griffiths

5.  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
To answer any written public questions about matters which are 
within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is Thursday 30th 
June 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

6.  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
To answer any written members’ questions about matters which 
are within the powers and duties of the Committee.

The closing date/time for the receipt of questions is 10.00am 
on Thursday 30th June 2022.

Andrea Griffiths

7.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 38)
The Committee is asked to approve the minutes of the previous 
meeting.   

Andrea Griffiths

8.  MEMBERS SITE VISIT (Pages 39 - 42)



To receive the notes of the Members Site Visit held on 30th June 
2022.  

Sarah Pearse

9.  APPLICATION NO:22/0003/TWR3MJ SITE: LAND SOUTH OF 
BADHAM PHARMACY HEAD OFFICE, A435, BISHOPS 
CLEEVE, CHELTENHAM, GLOUCESTERSHIRE GL52 8SA 
(Pages 43 - 142)
The Committee is asked to consider the application for the 
construction of a 3-Form of Entry (3FE) Primary School, Nursery, 
New Vehicular Access and Ancillary Works.

Denis Canney

10.  ENFORCEMENT REPORT (Pages 143 - 146)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Andy Birchley

11.  DELEGATED DECISIONS REPORT (Pages 147 - 150)
The Committee is asked to note the report. Sarah Pearse

NOTES

MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Paul Baker, Cllr David Brown, 
Cllr Bernard Fisher, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Alex Hegenbarth, 
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, Cllr Chris McFarling, Cllr Dr Andrew Miller, 
Cllr Graham Morgan, Cllr Gill Moseley, Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines and 
Cllr Susan Williams

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe 01452 328506e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect 
reports relating to any item on this Agenda or have any other general queries 
about the meeting, please contact 
AndreaGriffiths, Democratic Services Unit 
: 01452 324206  e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) TRAINING/SUBSTITUTION – All members must have received recent training 
before they can sit on the Committee and take part in discussion and vote. 
Substitution arrangements are as set out in the Constitution.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the 
meeting please leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the 
assembly point which is outside the main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  
Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on Thursday 12 May 2022 
commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Paul Baker
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Linda Cohen
Cllr Bernard Fisher
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Nick Housden
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-
Charrington

Cllr Chris McFarling
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller
Cllr Graham Morgan
Cllr Gill Moseley
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE
Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Susan Williams

Officers: Simon Excell (Assistant Director of Planning & Economic 
Development), Rob Ayliffe (Monitoring Officer), Carrie Denness 
(Principal Lawyer), Kevin Phillips (Team Manager Minerals & Waste 
Planning), Sarah Pearse (Principal Planning Officer), Nick Bainton 
(Senior Planning Officer) and Andrea Griffiths (Democratic Services 
Officer).  

8. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

9. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

No public questions were received.

10. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

No member questions were received.

11. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

Resolved 

That the minutes of the meeting held on the 27th January 2022 be approved as 
a correct record.

12. MEMBERS SITE VISIT 

Page 1

Agenda Item 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

The Committee received and noted the member site visit notes. 

13. APPLICATION REFERENCE: 20/0056/STMAJW (DISTRICT REFERENCE 
S.20/2711/CM) SITE: LIMEKILN FARM MIDDLE LYPIATT STROUD GL6 7LR 

A summary of the application was presented by Nick Bainton, Senior Planning 
Officer aided by a power point presentation.  (A copy of the presentation is attached 
to the signed minute book). 

This was a planning application, reference number: 18/0065/CWMAJM relating to a 
proposed use of a field as a pet cemetery.  The use of the site was for a waste 
transfer station for the temporary storage of clinical waste; retention of 2no. 
Cremators for clinical waste burning (ABP Cat 1 material – domestic pets) and 
extended office building, together with associated works, at Lime Kiln Farm, Middle 
Lypiatt, Stroud, Gloucestershire. 

The Committee were advised that pages 1 & 2 of the report outlined the details of 
the judicial review application in respect of the previous determination of this matter 
in 2021.  In addition, the Committee had received an update report circulated via 
email prior to the Committee meeting.  The case officer also referred to the 
additional representations made in respect of the application following a further 
round of public consultation in January 2022 at paragraph 7.102 onwards in the 
report.  At this juncture the Chairman called for a brief adjournment (10:07am) to 
allow members the opportunity to read the update report.  

The Case officer advised members that it was important that the Committee 
considered the balance between the harm to the AONB and the benefits of 
permitting this development.  

The Committee reconvened at 10:12am.  

The various elements of the application were described as the following: 
- Pet cemetery: In planning terms, the land use was classified as landfill. In 

real terms, this would involve the burial of fully combusted ashes in the 
ground. There would be associated minor memorials if requested by owners. 
The use of the land for waste disposal dictates that the proposal was a 
county matter. 

- Waste Transfer Station (WTS): there was currently temporary storage of 
clinical waste: animals prior to cremation and bandages, coverings, etc. The 
proposal allowed for that to continue on site. It was noted this had been 
occurring in excess of 20 years. 

- Cremators: The existing Stroud District Council permission limited the use to 
specified cremators. The use of the replacement cremator represented a 
technical breach of condition of the district council permission.

- Buildings: No further built forms were proposed. It was noted that no visible 
changes were proposed to the site. The buildings and ancillary equipment 
had been on site for a period exceeding 4 years.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The Committee were referred to the plan of the application site.  The sites proximity 
to the surrounding towns and villages were explained in detail.  The site was 
situated on a prominence in the landscape between a number of valleys, but due to 
the existing mature vegetation and the topography, there were no far reaching 
views of the site.  

In terms of the block plan, it was explained that the application site was central to 
the plan, which contained the reception building, storage building, incinerator 
building and field where the proposed cemetery would be located. Members were 
advised that the public highway ran north to south past the site, it was essentially a 
rural lane. The access was shown as were the two public footpaths, which do not 
use the access road because they terminate either end of it. The committee noted 
the two closest dwellings were Little Limekilns and The Limekilns.

Members noted at slide 6 the view looking to the north from the end of the access, 
to the left was the office building, central was the main parking area and to the right 
was the storage building.  The Committee were provided with numerous 
photographs of the site and the surrounding area during the course of the 
presentation.  

Slide 7 displayed a photograph of the incinerator building, with the access road 
leading off east to the left.  The view to the west, where the footpath began towards 
the direction of Stroud was displayed at slide 8.  

Slide 9 showed the view from The Lime Kilns, with the top of the incinerator building 
visible. It was noted the incinerator was undertaking a burn cycle at this time.

At slide 10 the view from the public footpath to the west of the site was shown and 
the Lime Kilns was visible to the left of the picture. Members were advised that the 
application site was behind the large clump of trees.

Slide 11 displayed the view along the public footpath to the west of the site, looking 
north, it was noted the mature hedgerow was continuous.  Slide 12 was the view 
from the access road, into the field where the proposed cemetery would be located, 
it was explained that the path was not a designated footpath.

Slide 13 – 17, gave various views of the field and the junction of the access track 
with the public highway, looking east. The public footpath began on the other side 
of the road.  Views of the access road looking west from the public highway were 
clearly displayed in various directions.  

Slide 18 showed the view from public footpath looking North West in the direction of 
the application site. This footpath joined the public highway south east of the site 
and north of Middle Lypiatt Manor.

It was highlighted at slide 19 there was limited view in the distance from a gap in 
the hedge along a minor road running east to west from Middle Lypiatt Manor. Slide 
20 showed the view towards the site from Middle Lypiatt Manor. Grade 1 listed 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

building. Slide 21 displayed the view north along the public highway, from a point 
north of the application site.  

The case officer once again reminded members that it was important that the 
Committee considered the balance between the harm to the AONB and the benefits 
of permitting this development.  

The case officer concluded and recommended that planning permission should be 
granted for the proposed use of the field as a pet cemetery.  Including the use of 
the site as a waste transfer station for the temporary storage of clinical waste; 
retention of 2no. Cremators for clinical waste burning (ABP Cat 1 material – 
domestic pets) and extended office building, together with associated works, for the 
reasons summarised in paragraphs 7.54 to 7.56 of the report.

The Chairman invited the following registered speakers to address the Committee:

The committee clerk advised the Chairman that Jo Stringer had not registered to 
speak with Democratic Services prior to the meeting and it was at the Chairman’s 
discretion to allow her the opportunity to address the Committee. Ms Stringer also 
wished to circulate photographs to the Committee, she was advised that this wasn’t 
permitted at this late stage.  

Objecting: Jo Stringer:

Ms Stringer held photos up during the course of her presentation.

“I have been a resident of Lypiatt for 10 years and I have been living in Stroud for 
over 40, pretty much my whole life and a mum of four kids.    I’m currently a partner 
at KPMG, the firm who facilitated and advised on the sale of the business to Time 
Right.  I come here only in my personal capacity however it’s worth noting that I 
don’t believe a business hires one of the big four accounting firms to manage a 
transaction like this unless they’re deeply serious on strong commercial expansion, 
which is much to be applauded but not in an AONB. 

Specifically, we’ve talked about what the application covers, we’re here today, me 
and several of my neighbours, to add weight to this letter with our personal 
testament as a sample of the local residents who are passionate about protecting 
this area.  

 All of my children learnt to ride their bikes on this little lane, it’s also the lane which 
comes up against Gifford’s circus, a treasure of our county.  Whilst I can’t circulate 
these pictures, I hope it’s okay for me to hold them up as part of my speech.  

We talked about no far reaching views, this in fact is photographs of the smoke 
from the incinerator, so this is what it actually looks like, this is taken from the top of 
Brimscombe Hill. so whilst there may be limited impact on the landscape, when the 
insulator is not in operation of course it is somewhat different when it’s operating.   I 
should also say there is community anger to the idea of this decision once rejected, 
now being reconsidered.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

There are strong legal reasons for this anger, everyone it seems agrees that some 
harm will come from this.  So the question is only really about the benefit, we would 
like to focus each four minutes on three key points, the harm to the landscape 
which my friend Steve is going to cover, the harm to the community and the traffic 
which Richard will cover and harm the pollution, specifically in the land and the air 
which Daniel will cover.  

 We believe that the proposal is in clear conflict with the NPFF, insofar as the 
proposal causes clear and irreparable and indeed permanent harm to our AONB.  
This decision which should wait greatly on your shoulders I’m afraid because this is 
not something we need to put up with just for the next couple of years, this is 
something which will have a lasting and permanent impact on the landscape and 
indeed questionable impact on the waste for the surrounding towns and villages.  

Some of whom those communities rely on water sources, that pass through lime 
kiln, it’s our unequivocal view and that of our legal advisors that the proposal does 
not comply with the development plan.   we should also like to set in context the 
history of noncompliance with planning at this site.    Indeed, the planning breaches 
specifically with regards to the incinerator which was approved I believe for 
agricultural use but not for the use of cremating animal waste, which has a very 
different chemical profile.  

I think the committee should be under no illusion that any proposed mitigants work 
in practice here, the mitigants suggested are scant and are admitted to be 
ineffective to remedy the extent of the harm.  there will also be no ability to monitor 
or police them.  yes, we are local residents of Lypiatt we are also residents of 
Stroud and we represent the wider community.  There may only be five of us here 
today but there are many more of us standing behind this proposal.  

You all know the issues that came with the Stroud incinerator proposal and the 
debate, the heat that that caused in the community if this were passed today I have 
no doubt that this issue is not going away, it will get louder, there will be more 
protest, many of my friends and colleagues from the local area will be keen to 
express their views more strongly than they have done to date.” 

Objecting: Mr Steve Lee 

“I live at Lime Kilns which you can see on the image on the top left.  I’m going to 
speak about the harm to the landscape that will be caused through the 
development of a cemetery and its associated change from sheep pasture to 
commercial land fill.  

The field situated as people have seen on the site visit last week in the Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty and lies adjacent to a public right of way, which you 
can see on that linking the footpath with Stroud and the Toadsmoor valley.   It is 
very popular with walkers, joggers and indeed horse riders, pretty much everyone 
agrees that some harm will result from this development.  

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

 The application itself in its landscape and visual impact appraisal considers the 
effects of visual amenity in some detail and concludes that for visitors the open view 
across the field is highly valued and admits that over time the field appearance 
would alter, due to its use as a cemetery.  

The GCC landscape and visual architect consultant concurs with the LVIA and also 
states that such an alteration would not be acceptable in visual terms.   The officers 
report also agrees with the LVIA the proposed amendment would have minor 
adverse effects on the landscape character of the Cotswold AONB and on the 
visual amenity for visitors to it.  

It also states that there will be adverse effect even after any mitigations, Stroud 
District Council state the development has potential to have a detrimental impact on 
setting and character of a Cotswold AONB and it will change the landscape over a 
period of time.   perhaps most importantly reasonable consideration should be 
given to the impact on the people who actually live and regularly visit the AONB.  

Of the 35 public comments received, all of them objected to the application and 
virtually all of them highlight significant landscape impact and damage to the AONB 
as a reason.

It is very difficult to reverse the establishment of a large cemetery and so this 
damage should be assumed to be permanent and irreversible. 

So what are the benefits of a pet cemetery, Time right in their application make little 
attempt to explain what they are, but they do mention a wider range of services to 
pet owners and reduced vehicle movements associated with the production of 
carbon dioxide emissions.  Dealing with the second point first, any savings of 
carbon dioxide emissions will be more than offset by the additional vehicle 
movements with customers attending pet funerals and attending the grave 
thereafter and will in fact lead to an increase in C02 emissions.  

So we are really left with a wider range of services to pet owners and Time right 
admit themselves that only a small percentage of their customers will actually use 
this service.  So at best for the community at large any benefit is severely limited.  

Weighing up the harm caused by this limited benefit we must take into account the 
NPPF which explains that great weight should be given to conserving and 
enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in the AONB, which has the highest state 
of protection.  

In addition to Gloucestershire’s WCS14, states proposals for waste development 
within the Cotswold AONB will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that 
there is a lack of alternative sites not affecting the AONB to serve the market need 
and where the impact can be satisfactory mitigated.  There are at least six pet 
crematoriums within 30 minutes of Stroud, not one of which are within the AONB.  

So on one hand a wider range of services for a very limited number of Time right 
customers and on the other hand a significant adverse impact on the AONB, which 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

cannot be fully mitigated.  And which we must apply great weight as well as the 
existence of alternatives sites outside of the AONB.  

I hope you will agree that the harm outweighs any benefits and you will reject the 
application. Thank you.”

Objecting: Richard Claridge 

“I believe the current highways report to be sadly lacking, we’ve all seen the size of 
the road, its tiny and as residents we already have trouble getting down this road.  
The things that are bothering me is that there are no limits to the amount of burial 
sites, thus with mourners and visitors to the site, staff and deliveries to the site to 
the graves - the traffic will grow exponentially.  
You have all seen it.  

Current incinerators are capable of producing 960 kilogrammes of waste per 24 
hours.  The planning officer currently states there would be no more than two 
burials per week. This is based on the idea that burials at approximately 560 
pounds per burial will not be commercially viable at greater volume than this.  

But there is nothing stipulating the method or approach for this which creates this 
price point and to optimise commercials, which shows that there are surely going to 
do, they may very well then change their approach decrease the price and this 
increase their volume.  

Other pet burial sites run at a frequency of up to one per hour, which is the potential 
impact we must consider.  Assuming one an hour: 
- 24 usual vehicle movements per day, as per the officer report, that equates 

to 120 extra cars weekly going up that tiny road.
- 10 extra vehicle movements per burial, allow one per hour so we’ve got 80 

extra per day, which equates to an extra 400 cars going up that tiny road 
plus the 120 which is 500 cars per week that can grow exponentially and this 
is what we are so worried about in the AONB.

Specifically, the officer report states in 2:10 “an additional 4 vehicular movements 
per day would be generated by visitors, with a maximum of ten journeys when a 
burial is taking place.  These are figures purely for when a burial occurs. 

An extra 14 journeys maximum purely associated with a burial, in addition to the 
usual staff movements.  Burials are anticipated to occur approximately twice a 
week, again there are no limits on the amount of burials.  

When combined with daily staff vehicular movements, the total baseline traffic flows 
associated with the existing operations is estimated to be maximum of 24 
movements per day.  

Yet quotes further in 7.16 “It is considered that there are clear benefits in terms of 
vehicle movements and associated reduction in carbon dioxide emissions.” Can I 
lay that at your door as there is clearly a conflict.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

The roads to Lime Kilns is already too small at present, it’s difficult to pass even a 
car.  This road is used by walkers, cyclists, horse riders, children playing and of 
course the local pony club.  The increased amount of traffic to the site will 
significantly hinder residential traffic and community use.  

I would ask the members to seriously consider when voting, about making this road 
extremely dangerous.  Thank you.”

Objecting: Daniel Burgon 

“As Jo said, everyone it seems but the applicant agrees that some harm will result 
from the development. 

Whilst we are all concerned about all the various dimensions of harm that will be 
caused, I would like to focus specifically on the pollutant harm, especially regarding 
that from both air pollution and clinical waste stored on site and buried in the 
ground.

The NPPF states (at para 170) that “Planning … decisions should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by: … e) preventing new … 
development from contributing to … unacceptable levels of …
air … pollution. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local 
environmental conditions such as air quality …”

The application does not address these satisfactorily at all, and seems instead to 
rely on the fact that the incinerators are already being in use as evidence either that 
they do not cause health issues and pollution or that they should in any event be 
allowed to be retained and expanded. However, as the application concedes, the 
incinerators that are on site are there partly in contravention of current planning - 
and so this is an inappropriate assumption for the applicant to make and there has 
been no evidence of this at all.  

As you were shown by the photos from Jo, this is some of the smoke produced by 
the incinerators.  These photographs provided by a local Parish Councillor are from 
2018,2019 and 2020 and clearly show excess black smoke likely to be laden with 
particulates emerging from the incinerator. A local resident confirms that this is a 
regular occurrence, rather than exceptional events. A photograph in 2019 resulted 
in a visit by Stroud District Council Environmental Health, Officers who issued 
instructions on measures to prevent re-occurrence. The photos from 2020 indicate 
that the practice has continued and more photos are available.  

The concern is that the existing planning permission seems to be for an agricultural 
incinerator where as it seems there are two on site used for veterinary/pet waste 
and the current application is an attempt to legalise this. It is not clear whether the 
incineration equipment is suitable for pet cremation along with associated wrapping 
that may contain plastics. It is also not clear what controls are in place to ensure the 
clinical waste which is collected and transferred on site is never incinerated.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Why should mismanagement of these incinerators which is clearly shown go 
without the necessary planning permission being granted for their increased future 
use.   

Finally, let’s remind ourselves of the geology of the site. The proposed pet cemetery 
is on limestone under laid with layers of clay, hence the adjacent 'Claypits Lane'. 
This allows significant lateral movement of water and defined spring lines. One of 
the nearest spring to the site feeds the domestic drinking supply of two of the 
nearby houses in the 'Heavens' and from there feeds the small brook in the 
Heavens Valley. This is a popular place for local families to come and play with 
their toddlers and young children in this small stream on a warm day.

This is critical because the majority of animals buried at the site will have been 
euthanised. Their remnants will contain a mixture of central nervous system agents, 
paralytic agents and local anaesthetics. It is clinical waste that will stored on the site 
and there has been no evidence to show that it will stored safely.  Specialist advice 
suggests that the barbiturate type pharmaceuticals normally used for animal 
euthanasia are particularly persistent in the wider environment and groundwater. 
They couldn’t have chosen a worse site for this type of cemetery, as it would be on 
top of a hill that leads down to the surrounding area which has a very small layer of 
top soil and a lot brash, which allows for fast water movement, so I advise that you 
do not allow permission to be granted.  Thank you.”  

Agent: Mr Jon Wilks: 

“Time Right are one of the country’s leading pet crematorium companies, but 
nonetheless pride themselves on delivering a local service to their customers They 
have invested heavily in the latest equipment available to the industry to meet 
environmental standards and reduce their impact on the wider environment, 
operating successfully within a heavily regulated industry, and achieving all best 
practice standards. 

They take pride in dealing with all the pets entrusted to their care with dignity and 
respect. As part of their services they also provide training to the veterinary industry 
on end of life care so they can support their customers with compassion and 
understanding.   

As the officer has detailed in his report, there has been a pet cremation business at 
the site for some 30 years, following planning approval in the early 1990s. The 
operation of the site as a pet crematorium, including the transportation of animal 
carcasses to the site for burning within an incinerator, and the transportation of 
resulting clinical waste from the site for disposal, are therefore lawful, and are not 
up for consideration as part of this application. 
In terms of the day to day operation of the existing pet cremation business, all that 
this application seeks planning permission for is the regularisation of a small 
extension to the office, the incinerators used, and the use of a small, internal area 
of the existing storage shed for the temporary storage of waste, known as a Waste 
Transfer Station.  

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

The need for the regularisation of the incinerators has arisen as a result of a discord 
with the original planning permission which specified a particular make and model 
of incinerator. The current incinerators are more reliable, efficient, and 
environmentally friendly than previous models and have been operating 
successfully from the site for several years. They form part of this application simply 
for regularisation purposes. 

With regard the waste transfer station, this is effectively a grand-sounding title for a 
small, internal area within the storage barn where clinical waste would be 
temporarily stored before being transferred off-site. 

Neither the regularisation of the incinerators, nor the waste transfer station, would 
therefore result in any additional operational traffic movement above and beyond 
the 4 vans which currently travel to and from the site on a daily basis, or result in 
any increase in staff or visitor traffic. 

The proposed pet cemetery represents a new element to the use. It would however 
be extremely limited in its physical form as detailed by the Officer. There would be 
minor physical changes to provide access to the cemetery field and parking near 
this access. Some customers may choose to lay headstones, albeit these would 
need to be flat to the ground. The cemetery would hold between 1 and 2 burials a 
month and may generate 1 to 2 visitors a day on average. Traffic movement arising 
from the cemetery would therefore be extremely limited. 

Picking up some of the points raised by the third party objectors, particularly in 
respect of the number of burials and potential for traffic generation, having 
discussed that matter with the applicant they would be prepared to accept a 
planning condition that would limit the number of burials on site in accordance with 
the submission.  In terms of the issue of the smoke from the incinerator, referencing 
the photos from the objectors that is not a normal representative of the operation of 
the incinerators. 

Whilst therefore the concerns of neighbouring residents are recognised, the reality 
is that this application is limited in its scope and is promoted by an existing, 
established business to enable it to continue to operate and provide a limited 
expansion to its services, in a manner which is respectful of its location. I would 
therefore urge you to support the application in line with your officer’s 
recommendation.  Thank you.”

County Councillor Chloe Turner: 

Councillor Turner stated that it would have been courtesy for a copy of the update 
report to be circulated to the local member and the registered speakers prior to the 
meeting.  

“I’m pleased that the Planning Committee has had the opportunity to visit the site in 
person this time, and to understand and appreciate its situation in the Cotswolds 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

 Like others, I am none the wiser from the application and other documents as to 
what the benefit of this new waste site (the pet cemetery) is, that benefit which must 
outweigh the harm to the AONB in terms of loss of views, additional traffic 
movements, additional development in the form of the cemetery. Even the 
applicant’s Landscape and Visual Appraisal does acknowledge that there would be 
“minor adverse effects”. My understanding is that this harm must be given greater 
weight in order to conserve and enhance the landscape and scenic beauty of the 
AONB, so I am left wondering what is the benefit that outweighs this harm, such 
that the application could be approved.  

Hopefully the site visit also afforded members the chance to see for themselves the 
nature of the access lanes, their consistent use by vulnerable road users including 
pedestrians and horses, and their patent unsuitability for increased large motor 
traffic. By this, I mean the small number of additional traffic movements which have 
been suggested by the applicant, which we are required to accept, even though I 
struggle to understand how there is a business case for this new waste facility with 
so few customers.  But also the additional movements which have not yet been 
supplied by the applicant, in the form of visits by former customers to the resting 
place of their pet.  

On this latter point, a quick perusal of the website of Pet Cremation Services the 
trading name of the applicant, Time Right Ltd, shows that at their other cemeteries 
around the country, bereaved pet owners are at liberty to, and in fact encouraged 
to, make return visits. For example, at their Cornish site, St Francis Pet Cemetery, 
the brochure suggests that pet owners might return to “place floral tributes or just 
spend some quiet moments, reflecting on fond memories, sitting in the gardens or 
by our ornamental pond during daylight hours.” It even goes as far as to say that 
“The Tree of Remembrance is also lit-up during the Christmas period,” an action 
clearly marketed at visitors. At their Surrey site, the brochure notes that “the Garden 
of Remembrance is always open as a tranquil place to gather your thoughts and 
memories 365 days of the year” – again, this clearly recognises that a pet cemetery 
is not just about the burial, it is about having a place to come back to.  

Stroud District Council note in their response that “there is the potential for an 
increase in vehicular movements associated with the intensification of uses at the 
site including visits by members of the public using proposed pet cemetery facilities. 
The assessment of this application should carefully consider the impact of any 
increased vehicular movements over and above the use of the local highway 
network and in particular consider the potential conflict to recreational users.” 

This then is my primary concern, that what we are in fact looking at is a much 
higher number of cumulative movements, as yet undisclosed, relating to bereaved 
pet owners with a clear incentive to return. Given the impact on vulnerable road 
users and the character of the AONB, I urge the Committee to refuse this 
application. Thank you.” 

The Chairman invited questions from Members following the presentations.  

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Councillor Williams wished to know what percentage of cremations were from local 
vets in the five valleys area.  The case officer explained that he was unable to 
answer that question.  The Chairman explained that a large percentage were from 
local vets and the ashes were returned to the veterinary practice.  

The Principal Lawyer advised the Committee if they felt this information was key to 
their deliberations then they could ask for this information.  

At the Chair’s discretion, the agent was asked for clarity on these points, Mr Wilks 
explained there were only a small number of walk in clients and over 90% were 
from vet practices and this area covered a 60-mile geographical radius.  

The Chair also asked the agent what proportion of the cremated ashes were 
collected by individuals or by the vets.  The agent confirmed that the ashes were 
collected in their entirety by the collection service and returned to the veterinary 
practices.  

Councillor Miller requested clarification on the elements of the application i.e. could 
the different elements of the application be determined separately.  The Principal 
Lawyer explained there was one application for determination, therefore couldn’t 
separate out the different elements of the application. Also members were 
reminded that there was already an extant District Council permission in existence 
for some of the activities on the site.  

Councillor Miller also questioned the sustainable development context of the 
application.  The case officer advised that pets could be incinerated, they could also 
be placed in landfill waste or buried in the garden, as there were no other ways of 
dealing with the remains.  

Councillor Miller asked whether there were any alternative sites within the county.  
The case officer clarified for the avoidance of doubt, there were no other pet 
cemeteries within the county boundary of Gloucestershire.  Other cremations 
facilities were available but not a cemetery.  It was noted that the nearest pet 
cemeteries were in Trowbridge, Bristol and Ledbury.  

Councillor Miller also asked about the visual amenity impact.  It was noted that the 
landscape advisor had applied conditions to limit the impact, in terms of ecology 
and appearance.  

Councillor Tracey wondered how many calls had been received regarding the 
smoke and dust.  The committee were informed that the case officer is partially 
involved in an Enforcement role for GCC and any complaints regarding this 
application would have been reported to Stroud District Council and complaints 
regarding the emission of smoke would have been reported to the Environmental 
Health Officer (EHO), it was the EHO had been consulted on the application and no 
objection had been raised.  

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

Councillor Tracey wished to know how many were walk in customers.  The 
Chairman referred to the earlier question and clarified that this information was 
unavailable.  

Councillor Tracey questioned who would maintain the pet cemetery, members were 
informed that the site would be maintained by the applicant.  

Councillor Tracey asked about the clinical waste, it was confirmed that only the 
animal carcasses would be incinerated and any ancillary items such as bandages, 
lines, etc. would be removed prior to incineration and disposed of appropriately.  

Councillor Tracey also asked if a condition could be applied to upgrade the road, 
the Principal Lawyer confirmed this was not possible.  The case officer confirmed 
there were no highways objections on the number of predicted vehicular 
movements.  

Councillor Fisher wondered if there were any winter pictures, as the officer 
presentation clearly showed summer photographs and the view in winter would be 
very different.  The case officer confirmed there were no winter pictures available, 
and the pictures used were from the previous application last summer.  He added 
that it was down to councillors to make an informed judgement, he continued to 
advise the Committee that some of the hedges were leylandi and provided year 
round coverage.  

Councillor Fisher also asked if the Cotswold AONB Board had been consulted, the 
case officer confirmed they had been consulted but did not respond.  

As a point of clarity, the case officer explained if permission was refused for the 
cemetery, the cremation side of the business would continue from the site.  The 
case officer once again, reiterated there was not another pet cemetery within 60 
miles.  It was noted once a carcass had been cremated, it was inert material and 
there was no chemical residue.  

Councillor McFarling questioned why the second incinerator was operating without 
regularisation and were the exhaust gases monitored.  The Committee were 
informed that the incinerator had been operating prior to 2018 and until 2020 GCC 
weren’t aware of the site, as it was originally a matter for Stroud District Council 
(SDC).  However, there had been a delay due to the pandemic in respect of the 
applications determination.  The case officer explained in terms of emissions, the 
regulator was SDC and they monitored the emissions.  

Councillor McFarling remarked that the remains were being dealt with at the 
moment without the need for a cemetery.  The Committee were advised that pet 
owners could bury their pets at home in their gardens, whether that was in the form 
a carcass of ash.  It was noted that approved cemetery facilities were outside of 
Gloucestershire.  

Councillor Baker felt it was a question of balancing the impact on the AONB versus 
rural enterprise, he wondered how many local jobs would be created and what the 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

finish of the field would be.  The Committee were informed that there was a balance 
to be struck and the detail was within the report.  The case officer didn’t believe that 
additional jobs would be created, it was a case of continuing the business in the 
current location that would provide the sustainability of local jobs.  It was noted that 
the field was currently being used for agricultural purposes and if granted it would 
be transferred to short cut grass.  In addition, the biological consultants had raised 
no concerns on this element.  

Councillor Housden questioned the highways element and acknowledge that 
highways were the experts.  The case officer advised that the Committee could 
decide to overrule the Highway Authority, but it would be a question of councillor’s 
judgement versus the professional expert technical advice.  The Principal Lawyer 
advised that the applicant would have the right to an appeal any determination of 
the application, it would fall to members to provide their reasoning as to highway 
concerns in any appeal, which may require them to provide evidence at appeal 
Councillor Housden felt that the Highway Authority were the professionals and their 
advice should be taken.  

Councillor Housden asked about the SDC planning history of this site.  The case 
officer explained there were many permissions granted prior to the millennium, 
however SDC had no archive of these permissions.  It was ascertained over time 
there were two incinerators in situ as of 2018 and beyond that it is conjecture.  Air 
quality monitoring information would possibly be available from 2018 onwards.  

The Case officer referred to paragraph 4.5 of the report and clarified that 
development should not be refused on highway grounds unless there was an 
unacceptable impact on the highway safety or the residual cumulative impact on the 
road network would be severe.  

It was clarified that in terms of air quality, it was noted that SDC had not objected to 
the application and they would continue to monitor the emissions. Members had 
concerns regarding the smoke referred to by the objectors and felt it would have 
been useful to have that information.  The case officer explained it was not possible 
to corroborate the pictures as there was no proof as to where or when they were 
taken and that these matters were outside of GCC’s control and were controlled by 
SDC.  

Councillor Williams questioned the grass being mowed and the impact on ground 
nesting birds and the additional of memorials and flowers.  It was explained that the 
ground would be maintained and memorial stones would be laid flat, and as the 
cemetery grew there would be less space for ground nesting birds, however no 
objections had been raised by the biodiversity consultant or Natural England.  In 
addition, it was noted that memorials would be limited to flat headstones due to the 
impact on the AONB.  

Councillor McFarling questioned the inertness of the remains and the concerns over 
chemicals.  Members were informed that the cremation process, given the high 
temperatures and time controls denatures the remains, and makes the remains 
completely inert material.  The Chairman advised the Committee that the incinerator 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

reached temperatures of 850 degrees centigrade, so there were no issues relating 
to the aquifer.  

Councillor Cohen questioned the suggested two burials per months as quoted 
within the report, as she felt it was not realistic.  

The Principal Lawyer explained that the information was available in the report as 
provided by the applicant and it was not possible to ask the registered speakers to 
clarify further at this point.  The case officer confirmed that the application was 
based on the submitted information and the applicant had stated two per month and 
there was no other information to the contrary, as the applicant owned the field they 
had no ongoing costs.  

Councillor Moseley referred to the hedge between the field and the footpath and 
asked if a periphery hedge would provide biodiversity for the birds.  It was noted 
that Condition 16 referred to the landscape and after care management of the site 
and the County Ecologist would ensure a natural hedge was installed through 
conditions.  

On there being no further questions, the Committee entered into debate.  

Councillor Fisher stated it was a cemetery for ashes and that the business would 
continue although he wondered what value was added to the business by this 
addition.  He noted that the company operated many sites and it was their decision 
to do this for a couple of burials per month and there was no control over the 
highways element.  He continued to refer to the solicitor’s letter as submitted by the 
objectors regarding the damage to the AONB and that NPPF paragraph 176, was to 
conserve and preserve the AONB. It was noted as a pet owner he had previously 
scattered his pet’s ashes where they used to walk.   He felt the application didn’t 
comply with paragraph 176 and he wouldn’t support the application.  

Councillor Vines remarked that a lot of issues had been raised regarding the 
cemetery location in the AONB and that he had attended the site visit.  He noted 
that the stone settings would remain flat to the ground and he felt there was no 
significant impact on the AONB and he proposed to accept the officer’s 
recommendation in the report.  

Councillor Housden referred to the balance of the AONB and he felt the officer had 
provided a good report and presentation, however he was not convinced that the 
benefits of the pet cemetery outweighed the harm which would be caused by its 
introduction and he questioned whether there was a need for a pet cemetery 
locally.  He had concerns over the fact that two incinerators had been operating on 
the site with no planning permission, although he acknowledged this was a SDC 
issue, and he objected on balance to the harm caused to the AONB, he felt the 
benefits did not outweigh the negatives.  

The Principal Lawyer confirmed that there was consent for one incinerator on the 
site and the later incinerator was a different type.  The Chairman added that the 
latest model would be more efficient.  

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

Councillor Williams agreed with Cllr Housden’s comments, stating that there was no 
information to show how the cemetery would serve the local community she was 
concerned about the impact on ground nesting birds.  

Councillor McFarling referred to paragraph 7.48 of the report and he noted the 
climate emergency and the need to reduce travel.  He continued to refer to the 
update report as circulated at the meeting in relation to the solicitor’s letter on 
behalf of the local residents, WCS 14 and the impact on the AONB not being fully 
mitigated.  Councillor McFarling stated that the proposal was neither outstanding or 
beautiful and questioned whether the loss to the AONB had been satisfactorily 
mitigated, that landscapes needed to be preserved given that they were being 
impacted with each passing year, he felt that the loss to the AONB would grow as 
the site was promoted.  He felt it was necessary to enhance what remained and 
given the impact on sky larks and the decline in biodiversity, he wished to refuse 
the application.  

Councillor Baker stated it was highly regarded as an AONB for a reason, on 
balance he felt there was no business case to allow the application to go ahead in 
the AONB and referred to NPPF 172 & 176. 

The Principal Lawyer explained that the NPPF had been updated (July 2021) 
paragraph 176 of the NPPF was prior to the update numbered paragraph 172, 
therefore they were the same advice.  

Councillor Tracey added that the site would still continue operating if the application 
was refused and that pets could be placed in bin bags to go to landfill, which she 
found upsetting as an animal lover.  She continued to suggest that an application 
for housing could be submitted or the application could be deferred.  

The Principal Lawyer advised the Committee that it was not possible to use 
supposition, they had to determine the application before them.  Members were 
reminded that if they chose to refuse the application, the incineration part would 
continue as there was consent already in place and this was subject to SDC 
enforcement.  The applicant could seek to appeal the determination to the Planning 
Inspectorate and the costs involved would be outside of the council’s control.  

Councillor Fisher remarked that the reason for refusal was not down to the cost of 
an appeal.  The Principal Lawyer confirmed that any cost relating to an appeal was 
not a material planning consideration when determining the application.  

Councillor Hale supported Councillor Vines’ proposal and was concerned for those 
who had to travel considerable distance for the disposal of their pets.  As an animal 
lover, he added that people treasured their pets and felt there should be pet 
cemetery in Gloucestershire.  

Councillor Morgan added that he attended the site visit with an open mind and as a 
pet owner he had his pet’s ashes at home, as did many people.  He thought it was 
unkind to put a pet into landfill and having looked at the site he felt it was peaceful 

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

and he couldn’t see the impact a pet cemetery would have.  He felt there would be 
a greater impact on climate change expecting people to travel vast distances to an 
alternative cemetery in another county.  

Councillor Housden stated that he couldn’t see that the business case for this 
proposal outweighed the impact on the AONB and the guidance in the NPPF, great 
weight had to be afforded to the AONB and on balance this proposal didn’t mitigate 
such an impact, therefore he proposed to reject the application given the impact on 
the AONB in relation to the NPPF paragraph 176.  This was seconded by Councillor 
Williams.  

At this point Councillor Vines, referred to his initial proposal and that it was 
seconded by Councillor Hale, therefore he felt his proposal should be taken first.  
The clerk and other officers referred to their notes and were unable to confirm, 
whether it had been seconded during the debate.   

At this point, the meeting was briefly adjourned (12:15pm) to seek further advice 
from the County Council’s Monitoring Officer.  

The meeting reconvened (12:30pm) and the Monitoring Officer advised that the first 
proposal needed clarification, he confirmed with Councillor Hale that it was his 
intention to second Councillor Vines’ initial proposal.  

On that point, Councillor Vines’ proposal, as seconded by Councillor Hale to accept 
the officer recommendation as detailed in paragraph in 7.107 – 7.109 of the report, 
was put to the vote and was lost (6 in favour, 9 against).  

The Chairman recapped that the proposal was lost and moved to Councillor 
Housden’s proposal as seconded by Councillor Williams, to reject the application as 
it did not accord with the provisions of paragraph 176 of the NPPF.  On being put to 
the vote the proposal to refuse the application was carried (9 in favour, 6 against).  

The Planning Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That Planning Permission be refused in accordance with the provisions of 
Paragraph 176 of the NPPF.  

14. APPLICATION NO:22/0011/CHR3MJ SITE: WARDEN HILL PRIMARY SCHOOL, 
DURHAM CLOSE, CHELTENHAM, GLOS GL51 3DF 

A summary of the application was presented by Sarah Pearse, Principal Planning 
Officer aided by a power point presentation.  The planning application number: 
22/0011/CHR3MJ was made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act (TCPA) by the Governing Body of Warden Hill Primary School and GCC’s Asset 
Management and Property Services for the variation of condition 3 (Scope of 
Development) relating to planning consent 21/0024/CHR3MJ dated 08/09/2021 for 
the removal of time restrictions in full, to allow the new school to continue operating 

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

unrestricted hours that have been in place since the school opened in 1962 at 
Warden Hill Primary School Durham Close Cheltenham Gloucestershire GL51 3DF. 

It was explained that Warden Hill Primary School was an existing 2-Form of Entry 
(2FE) school located in the Warden Hill ward of Cheltenham at the southern end of 
the town. The original school was constructed in the late 1960s.  The aerial 
photograph at slide 2 showed that the former infants and junior school now 
operated as one.

The school was located within a residential area (the Cathedrals Estate) 
constructed at the same time as the school and was accessed from Lincoln Avenue 
via Durham Close, a residential cul-de-sac of bungalows with a pedestrian only 
alley to Lichfield Drive to the east. 

To the north west there were flats, a veterinary practice and small shopping centre 
to the rear of Durham Close fronting onto Salisbury Avenue and St. Christophers 
Church and Church Hall lay on the corner of Salisbury Avenue and Lincoln Avenue.

Members were informed that the existing school buildings were a mixture of single 
and two storey flat-roof buildings, temporary classrooms, other ancillary structures 
and a large playing field to the south of the site. The school was rated as an 
‘outstanding’ school by Ofsted, however, surveys of the buildings showed that the 
school was in need of extensive refurbishment.  Consequently, planning permission 
for new school buildings was granted permission in September 2021 (planning 
reference 21/0024/CHR3MJ). The existing school buildings remain in place and 
operational while the new school building is being constructed and would be 
demolished upon completion of the new school building. There would be no 
increase in the numbers of pupils attending the school and all other aspects of the 
school would remain the same.

The approved new school building would be located in the centre of the site 
indicated by the dotted purple line (as displayed on Slide 3), set further back from 
the road (Durham Close). A new car park would be constructed at the front of the 
site, utilising the existing vehicular access from Durham Close. 
It was noted the construction of the new school building had commenced and it was 
hoped that it would be possible to occupy the new building from January 2023. 

Slide 4 of the presentation displayed a view of ongoing construction works from the 
playing field. Slide 5 showed a photograph and it noted that much of the front of the 
school has been given over to accommodating the construction operation.

The Committee were informed that the application has come to the Planning 
Committee at the request of the Local Member, Cllr Emma Nelson as she felt that 
“there is now considerable local interest in this application both from the school's 
operational perspective, and the potential impact upon the amenity of local 
residents.” It was noted that further detail was given in the report.

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 19 -

The Case Officer explained the proposal before Committee was for the variation of 
condition 3 attached to planning permission 21/0024/CHR3MJ granted permission 
on 9th September 2021. 

She proceeded to explain when the original application 21/0024/CHR3MJ was 
considered, as it was an existing school and having regard to consultation 
responses from Statutory Consultees and the public, it was not considered 
necessary to impose a school opening hours’ condition as there would be no 
increase in pupil numbers and the school would continue to operate as it has in 
previous years. 

However, condition 3 referred to the submitted planning documents including the 
application form (dated 26/03/2021). The Committee were advised that Question 19 
of the application form related to hours of opening. Generally, for a school this 
answer would be No. However, the yes box was ticked and a start time of 0700 and 
end time of 1800 hours was selected with nothing on Saturday, Sunday and Bank 
holidays.

Members were informed as indicated by the Applicant in section 2.2 of the case 
officers report “within the original application form it was stated the school operating 
times were 07:00 – 18:00 Monday to Friday. This reference was made to be 
consistent with the information contained within the School Travel Plan provided by 
Cotswold Transport Planning.”  It was not their intention for these hours to be 
applied to the ongoing operations at the whole school. Following this inaccuracy 
being brought to the attention of, and investigated by, the County Planning 
Authority (CPA) this current application was submitted to address this situation. 
 
The Case Officer explained in essence the school wished to continue as it had 
previously with the flexibility of no restrictions on their working / opening hours for 
the reasons set out in section 2 of the officer’s report.  The impact of the restricted 
hours would have on the school were set out and discussed in the case officers 
report.

It was highlighted that this application had evoked strong feelings in the local 
community. This was evidenced through the numerous representations highlighted 
in section 5 of the officer’s report, the school was clearly very well thought of and 
the new buildings and learning environment welcomed in the neighbourhood.  
However, the principal concern raised by residents living in the immediate vicinity of 
the school, and in particular Durham Close, the only access to the school, related to 
noise disturbance from school associated activities taking place during unsocial 
hours i.e. before 7am and beyond 10pm in the evening. Those objecting to the 
proposal had experienced disturbance by noise and deliveries before 7am including 
bin lorries and milk deliveries to the school causing sleep loss, stress and anxiety 
and PTA fund raising activities in the evening, and therefore they felt that 
unrestricted access was unacceptable. 

It was noted at the Member Site Visit (MSV) A local resident asked what does the 
school need to do between the hours of 10pm and 7am?

Page 19



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 20 -

A response to the question raised by the local resident had been provided by the 
Head teacher: 
The following activities do require access after 10pm:
• Children returning from Young Voices in Birmingham (once a year) but that’s 

not to say there may be more opportunities like this in the future. 
• Late returning from PGL due to unforeseen circumstances or any school trip 

for that matter that might come back late.
• Late Governor meetings (as we are only referring to the variation request – 

NOT the recommended condition) 
• Tidying up after a PTA event (a few core members would stay behind to do 

this)
 In the future rising costs of living would mean we would potentially need to 

re-think our PGL/Outward bound activities. Some schools already have a 
sleep over on their own sites.

 It’s not that we are actively looking to do activities during these hours every 
day of the week, but as and when the need arises we should be able to 
proceed without hindrance, without compromise and without ‘conditions’ and 
be allowed to work flexibly and respond appropriately as the needs arise – 
like any other primary school.  A condition placed on the school would have 
a detrimental impact on its ability to provide the children of the school with 
the level of education it has up until now. 

 
The PTA had also contributed to the response:  
We have managed perfectly well over the years and with the exception of 1 maybe 
2 occasions of a later finish than was anticipated – we have got on just fine. 

The Case Officer advised the Committee that parent parking was not provided 
onsite and the school was part of the School Streets Scheme, whereby 
Experimental Traffic Regulation Orders, to legally close the road(s) around the 
school to most of the traffic at school opening and closing times. Durham Close 
(from its junction with Lincoln Avenue) had been made a pedestrian and cycle-
friendly environment, Monday – Friday prohibiting motor vehicles between 8:15am 
to 9:15am and 2:45pm - 3:30pm. Residents who live directly in the affected street 
(Durham Close) still had access to their properties during the closure times with a 
valid permit.

Slide 9 displayed photographs of the surrounding area. Including the parking area 
to the rear of the shops behind Durham Close and St. Christophers Church and 
Church Hall.

Members were advised there were no objections from Leckhampton with Warden 
Hill Parish Council or Cheltenham Borough Council, and their full comments could 
be viewed through public access.

In terms of representations, the Case Officer explained that 309 neighbouring 
residential properties were consulted, 229 public comments were received. 23 
Objecting and 205 supporting. It was noted that a summary of the comments were 
set out in the Officers report and could be viewed in full through public access.

Page 20



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 21 -

At this point the Case Officer referred to additional email representation received on 
the 10th May 2022 from Mrs Deborah Hughes.  A copy of this correspondence was 
circulated to members prior to Planning Committee. It contained a series of e-mails, 
a print screen of the school web page and two short videos of refuse collection 
vehicles.

It was explained that the e-mails covered a period from 2019 to 2022 and did not 
include the replies from all that were copied in.  The e-mails corroborated issues 
already raised by objectors in their representations summarised in the report, and 
covered issues which the school had already tried to address through negotiating 
with suppliers and service providers. It was noted that there was no indication of 
what day, date or time the videos were recorded.

The Case Officer had spoken to the Manager at Andigestion (the contractor for 
waste collection at the school) regarding the video of the refuse vehicles and he 
stated “Their food waste collections are scheduled on weekdays; on occasion we 
do collect at weekends but only in exceptional circumstances due to driver 
shortages etc. The only time this year that we collected from this site on a weekend 
was at 08:48 on Saturday 12th March 2022. In any case, the collection vehicles do 
not leave our site until 07:00 so the earliest a collection is likely to take place is 
07:30.”

The Committee were informed that although a planning authority's powers under 
Section 73 were more limited than when dealing with an ordinary application for 
permission, it was nonetheless right to consider relevant planning considerations 
and policies as at the date of its Section73 determination, especially in light of the 
points made by consultees and third parties during the course of the application.

The Case Officer stated that Policy SD14 of the adopted Gloucester, Cheltenham & 
Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 (adopted 11th Dec 2017), along with 
Policy SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan (adopted July 2020) and the NPPF were 
concerned to ensure that development would cause no unacceptable harm to local 
amenity including the amenity of neighbouring occupants; or result in no 
unacceptable levels of air, noise, water, light or soil pollution or odour, either alone 
or cumulatively, with respect to relevant national and EU limit values. NPPF 
paragraph 55 related to planning conditions and obligations and suggested that 
LPAs should consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be 
made acceptable through the use of conditions.

A compromised solution was proposed to impose a new condition on opening 
hours, which provided for the limited restrictions suggested at paragraph 7.12 of the 
officer’s report. In coming to a decision, Members had to be aware that there is no 
right of appeal for a decision on an application made under Regulation 3, and to 
attribute appropriate weight to the issues raised when coming to a decision. This 
balanced recommendation to impose a condition with limited opening hours was 
proposed by taking into consideration the concerns of the local Member and the 
representations made by local residents, alongside the needs of the school and its 
wider role in the local community.

Page 21



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 22 -

The case officer concluded that planning permission be granted in accordance with 
Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 and for 
the reasons set out in the report and summarised at paragraph 7.19 to 7.22 subject 
to the conditions set out in the report.

The case officer suggested a new condition 4 “Notwithstanding the information set 
out on the planning application form identified in condition 3 of planning consent 
21/0024/CHR3MJ relating to school opening hours, with the exception of school 
employees and school governors, there shall be no access to the school site other 
than between the hours of:
 

- Monday to Friday 0700 to 2200
- Saturday 0900 to 1800
- On Sundays and public holidays there shall be no public access to the 

school for social events, fund raising events or other activities other than with 
the prior written approval of the County Planning Authority.”

 
It was explained the reason for this condition was to safeguard the residential 
amenity of the area in accordance with Policy SD14 of the adopted Gloucester, 
Cheltenham & Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy 2011-2031 (adopted 11th Dec 
2017), along with Policy SL1 of the Cheltenham Plan (adopted July 2020) and the 
aims and interests that paragraph 185 and 187 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework seeks to protect and promote in respect of mitigating and reducing to a 
minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise and disturbance.

The Committee noted this would allow teachers and school staff unlimited access, 
but public access was restricted. If activities needed to take place on a Saturday 
after 6pm, on a Sunday or Bank Holiday the school would need the prior written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority (i.e the county council). 

The Chairman invited the following registered speakers to address the Committee: 

Objecting: Deborah Hughes:  
“I am primarily representing the residents of Durham Close, although it was not 
solely residents of the Close who submitted objections to this proposal.

On the 25th March I went into the School to discuss the School Streets Scheme, 
and in the same conversation, in an effort to be open and honest, I made them 
aware that the Residents were unhappy with the new Planning Variation to allow 
the School to operate unrestricted hours. I explained that this was primarily as we 
feared the return of the late night and early morning disturbances the Residents had 
experienced over more than four years and that these disturbances were still 
occurring now and they were not just milk floats.

At that same meeting, we also made the School aware that Residents did not
support the error in the planning application and in fact I believe, I myself am
the only person to question this error, in my letter to Planning in June 2021.

Page 22



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 23 -

We discussed the Residents suggested hours, and how it would give some
opportunity for us to be granted days when we could plan and enjoy undisturbed
time in our homes and gardens as well as the assurance that we would have our 
sleep undisturbed.

My impression during that visit, was that the School were amenable to the Sunday 
and Bank holiday suggestion but perhaps the other hours might require wiggle 
room. I suggested that there was a conversation to be had, and said that I hoped 
now, that the School and Residents could look forward to rebuilding what has 
become in recent years, a very strained relationship. I genuinely felt buoyant at the 
prospect of renewed good relations between all.

The Planning Variation, a number of newspaper adverts and 5 bright Orange
Planning Notices on Durham Close, had been in the public arena since around the 
2nd March - No Supporting Comments at all, from the School Community or 
beyond had been submitted to the Planning Portal prior to 30th March. This 
changed when a Letter from School dated 1st April, was sent out to approximately 
500 people.

lf I may quote:  "So here's the urgent ask - let would be very much appreciated if 
you could use the following link to go onto the planning portal and put in a 
supporting comment to try and balance the list of "objections" from the residents of 
Durham Close”, Final paragraph reads "For factual information, in case you read 
the objecting comments, the deliveries that are mentioned causing lack of sleep is 
an electric milk float that also delivers to the other residents in Durham Close." 

It seems the School failed to relay to the Staff and Parents, that Residents did not 
support the hours in the planning error, nor were the suggested hours mentioned 
that would easily enable school life to continue unhindered.

The letter also misrepresented the nature and length of time the disturbances had 
occurred, resulting in Residents' concerns being dismissed by the School
Community. Hundreds of Supporting Comments, with a number of unfair, unkind 
and untrue comments, were subsequently uploaded to the Planning Portal. There 
have been multiple submissions by some, and at least 3 further requests by the 
School asking for further support.

This doesn't feel much like balance. Please don't let the shouts of that majority
drown out the Resident's voices.

The Residents have seen the hours of operation extend significantly, with activity 
starting from early morning and into the evening. This has been done as an 
assumed right, and without thought, consultation or consideration, even though the 
Schools location is in a Cul-de-Sac.

We have already had so much forced upon us, the private lettings, the activity clubs 
during the holidays. But we do understand and to a degree support the Schools 
need to continue to raise money via these lettings and PTA Fundraising activities. 
The Principal Planning Officers proposal suggests an 85-hour window, offering 

Page 23



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 24 -

plenty of options and flexibility for the School, even our County Police Stations and 
Hospitals are only open to the public ten hours a day between 0800-1800.

This is no longer a School operating as they did in the 1960s. Parents and to a
degree Staff are transient users of the School. The Residents are the most directly 
affected by every activity day and night, with every pedestrian and vehicle needing 
to pass closely to our homes in order to access the School and its grounds.

We respectfully ask you to consider your decision here today and the impact of
permitting unrestricted access is likely to have on the health and mental wellbeing 
of the people living so close.  Thank you.”

Objecting: Wendy Yeates

“I have lived in Durham Close for 43 years. Both my children attended the school. I 
was a volunteer 'helper' in the infant School and worked at the Junior School. I was 
a member of the PTA. After leaving there I worked for 35 years at another local 
school and since retiring I have become a School Governor.

So, I completely understand how important all the extra-curricular activities are, how 
they enhance the education of all the pupils. I understand the importance of the 
breakfast and after school clubs in supporting the working parents. I know how 
much 'extra' time staff put in outside their working hours planning and preparing the 
lessons which will provide those best educational experiences. 

I appreciate the need for schools to generate additional income from private lettings 
and fundraising activities, especially as it has been impossible to do this for the last 
2 years. None of the residents want to limit in any way these opportunities for the 
local children.

It doesn't need to be done at the expense of the local resident's wellbeing and their 
right to some peaceful times. The school does not need to be open 24hrs a day 365 
days of the year to provide for the pupils and fulfil its' community function. Warden 
Hill is rated outstanding by Ofsted and this would not change if it was open for the 
suggested hours. 0700 - 2200 Monday to Friday 0900 – 1700 Saturdays and closed 
on Sundays and Bank Holidays.

It has been suggested that this would set a precedent and I would argue that it is a 
precedent that perhaps needs to be set when granting planning permission for 
schools being built or rebuilt in an area completely enclosed by residential 
properties. Times have changed. lf the school was treated as a business it would 
have restricted opening hours.  What is the school planning to do overnight?

ln 1962 when the school was built, just after the bungalows, the caretaker would 
open up in the morning around 7.30 and lock up before 6.00. There may have been 
a couple of evenings a term when it was open for parent's evenings or fund raising 
activities, but the rest of the time the area was quiet. Most parents walked their 
children to school and back as they lived locally. This was the same into the 80s 
and 90s but things have changed drastically since then. Residents used to get 

Page 24



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 25 -

letters from the school telling us of upcoming events and inviting us to come along. 
Residents shouldn't have to look on the website to see if it will be OK to invite 
people round to sit in their gardens or to find out if they are going to be kept awake 
late that evening because of the traffic, car doors banging and shouting from people 
leaving the premises. Not all the residents have the internet. The residents are just 
asking for their health and wellbeing to be considered and that they can have set 
times when they know they will be able to relax and recuperate. There is only one 
way in and out of the school so everything passes along the Close.

On Page 3. Section 1.7 of the Principal Planning Officer's report it was mentioned 
that there is a School Streets Trial in place and the residents are allowed access to 
their own properties at the restricted times with a valid permit. Just to clarify, what it 
doesn't say is that the residents are denied access for their visitors, builders, 
repairmen, deliveries and friends at these times.

Section 4 recommends a proposed compromise which I feel would not negatively 
impact on the pupils and would address the resident's concerns.  It appears that the 
school was not in favour because of the extra administrative procedures needed but 
surely they would only be necessary when the school wanted to apply for LPA 
approval for anything outside the suggested hours.

I read most of the published supporting comments submitted to the committee and 
it was apparent that many hadn't read the objections, as their comments implied or 
stated that we, the residents, wished to stop all extra-curricular activities. Was this 
because the letters and emails from school, asking them to write in support implied 
that this was the case? I am sorry that they may have been unwittingly misled as 
this has led to some acrimonious comments being made to and about the residents.

As residents all we want is for our community school to be just that - part of our 
community so we all live and work together harmoniously.”

Objecting: Warren Ball: 
“I moved into Durham Close in 2014 and was happy for many years - until these out 
of hours’ non-educational disturbances.

It has been an absolute nightmare, I just want the basic right to be able to sleep 
10:00pm to 07:00am, for example, I’ve had two disturbances of bin lorries to the 
school, before 6am in the last week.

So, I implore you to advise the planning department to insert a planning condition 
for access: 

- Monday -Friday 07:00-22.00
- Saturdays 09.00-16.00
- No access on Sundays and Bank Holidays.

Thank you.”

Supporting: Mrs Georgina Flooks Head teacher: 

Page 25



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 26 -

“The original planning variation that went in, simply requested the removal of the 
'main operating hours of 0700- 1800.' The reason for this removal was due to a 
clerical error on the original planning application, as schools do not have operating 
hours placed on them.

The vast majority of the County's primary schools are located in residential areas; 
Harewood lnfant and Junior Schools are in exactly the same position as us in a cul-
de-sac lined with Bungalows, St James Primary School Cheltenham and Dunalley 
both located in a cul-de-sac. Naunton Park Primary, St Marks Primary, St James 
Junior School Gloucester, Lakeside Primary, Elmbridge and Kingsholm are all set 
within and surrounded by residential properties. The schools were built to serve 
these residential areas are seen as the heart of the community and Warden Hill 
Primary is no different. Nor are the facility services required to run it e.g. refuse 
collection food deliveries etc. With GCC we have tried hard to address the concerns 
raised by our neighbours on and off over the last few years linked to noise 
disturbances and will continue to do so.

Unrestricted simply put just means not limited. Schools have a duty to provide
unlimited opportunities for their pupils in and out of the classroom. As times have 
changed over the years, so have the opportunities for the children. With the 
government's agenda so clearly focused on education, and I quote from the 
Secretary of State “A great education unlocks potential. It helps spread opportunity 
evenly to everyone in society - whatever their background - and it lies at the heart of 
the pledges the government has made about levelling up”.

The pupils of Warden Hill will not see this 'even opportunity' if the variation is not 
upheld. The Government are also looking to extend the school day - who knows 
what the future Government agendas will hold. One thing is clear - we need to be 
able to move with these agendas and without compromise so our pupils are not 
disadvantaged.

lf the variation is not granted; it will unequivocally limit our statutory duties:
1. extracurricular opportunities (as outlined by OFSTED) to support their wider 
personal development
2. Parents evenings
3. governing board meetings

Change and the unknown are part of our lives. Nobody saw the pandemic coming 
and, over the last two years, our school worked incredibly hard to change its 
working practices, to ensure thot our children continued to receive on outstanding 
education through this period. ln responding to the Government's directives, we 
were on site during bank holidays looking after our children so our NHS parents and 
all key workers could carry out their services during the lockdowns. Our school was 
fogged every weekend during the pandemic, sometimes on a Sunday. Who knows 
what awaits us in future years, but if the variation is not upheld –It would restrain 
our flexibility in serving our community on a need by need basis, now and in years 
to come.

Page 26



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 27 -

A condition as set out in the planning report, would have a detrimental impact on 
the development of our school and its ability to provide on outstanding level of 
education it has up until now. Any restrictions that involves having to make
applications for use, seriously impede on the ability of the school to continue to
develop. The school would have to use its time to make these applications when it 
should be using its time to establish and develop the school and to provide 
education to the children. Does any other school have to worry about this? No - I 
find this to unreasonable and very restrictive.

Warden Hill Primary School's day to day function is educating its children and is no 
different to any other school. It’s current operating hours are no different to any 
other school. We should be able to operate without hindrance, without  compromise 
and without ‘conditions' allowing us to continue to work flexibly and respond 
appropriately to the needs of our children and the wider community as they arise 
now and in the future - like any other primary school.” 

Supporting: Andrew Jones (Parent Representative)

“I am speaking on behalf of the 840 strong parent body in support of the
variation request for the removal of the 'main operating hours' of 7am-6pm as
this was due to a clerical error in the original planning application.

Warden Hill Primary school (WHPS) has been in situ since 1962 and has operated 
(like all other primary schools) without restricted hours. I have 2 childre,n 1 attended 
WHPS and is now at Sir Thomas Rich’s and my youngest is still at WHPS.

Both of them received (and still receive) a 'fabulous' well-rounded education at
Warden Hill and this is due to the school's capacity to offer not only the 'school
day' education but also a plethora of wider personal development
opportunities which are crucial now, more than ever for children’s well-being and 
mental health. 

The whole school community feel very strongly about this error and the fact
that so many of them went onto the portal to make their views known shows
the passionate feelings regarding this clerical error and the potentially
catastrophic impact it could have on our children and their education as a
result.

Covid had a massive impact on all of us. Our children were really fortunate to
have had the brilliant remote learning offer that they did and this was down to
the school operating in a timely fashion to the Government's directives. This
also included being open and indeed onsite and looking after key worker
children on bank holidays - I know as I was one of these key workers that benefited 
from that provision.

As we have come out of 'Covid' times the children have been able to engage in
the much needed after school activities. Most of these run from 3:15 - 4:15,
however, there are times when they run beyond 6pm: Film nights, Leavers'

Page 27



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 28 -

plays, school discos, choirs, family fun bingo night and Christmas Fayres. These 
activities are the types of activities that any other primary school
(indeed school) offer their children. Why should the children of Warden Hill be
treated differently due to a clerical error?

Some of the activities I have mentioned are run by the extremely active PTA
and bring in much needed additional revenue for our school. This money
provides the 'cherry on the top' experiences/resources for our children,
ensuring that their early life experiences are full of different opportunities that
couldn't always be funded by the school's shrinking budget. The revenue generated 
by the PTA also supports the school's ability to fund school trips to ensure that 
costs are kept to a minimum for all our parents. This is a real support for all our 
families in this current climate due to the increase in cost of living.

By not upholding the planning variation there would be a detrimental effect on
the school's ability to enrich these opportunities and worryingly, make us
different from every other primary school.

No parent thought that this would be the case when they were lucky enough in
successfully gaining a place for their child at Warden Hill - which I know is still
a very popular school amongst the wider community.

I would like to finish by saying that we have come here today in support of
upholding the planning variation which requests the removal of the operating
hours (7-6pm) therefore allowing the school back to unrestricted hours to keep
us the same as every other Primary school. By even entertaining the idea of
the condition as outlined in the planning report it would make us different
from every other primary school; it would seriously impede the school going
forwards in the way it needed to develop not in only in supporting and
educating its children but offering wider opportunities and experiences. On
behalf of the parents and future parents of Warden Hill Primary School - thank
you.”

Supporting: Matthew Pearce (School Governor) 

“I am speaking in support of the variation request for the removal of the 'main
operating hours' of 7am-6pm as this was due to a clerical error in the original
planning application.

Warden Hill Primary school has been in situ since 1962 and has operated like all 
other primary schools without restricted hours.

The crux of issue is: Do we want a minor clerical error to set a precedent for all 
schools and, in this ever-changing world; do we want to restrict how our school 
could potentially operate in the future? Throughout this, we must also remember 
our children and our ability to continue to offer an outstanding education without 
restrictions.

Page 28



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 29 -

I will show that the planning variation meets the 6 tests of planning conditions: that 
it is necessary, relevant, permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable: Therefore, 
the school should continue with unrestricted hours.  I seek to show the importance 
of operating under unrestricted hours as we have always done in contrast to the 
main operating hours listed on the planning documents.

The planning variation is necessary so that the school can continue as it always has 
done to provide an outstanding education. We want to operate as all other primary 
schools do in the county with unrestricted hours. We believe thot Warden Hill is 
getting the building it deserves and it is necessary to protect how that is used by 
having unrestricted hours. The planning variation will allow us to perform our 
statutory duties of governor meetings, wider professional development and parent’s 
evening. It will allow us to develop our curriculum with school trips that return out of 
hours further developing the children's cultural capital and not place limits on them. 
The unrestricted hours will allow the school and PTA to effectively fundraise and 
supplement our ever tightening budget we are all aware of. The return to our normal 
hours is necessary as we deem ourselves to be pretty good neighbours, who have 
worked with the other residents on parking, coaches, delivery times and noise.

This planning variation is relevant because we the existing site has always worked 
with the unrestricted hours. This is not a new school: this is a new building and we 
should access the site accordingly as we have always done.  Additionally, this 
planning variation should be permitted because the building has already been 
started and we are seeking to amend a minor clerical error.

A return to unrestricted hours would also be effective and efficient because it would 
answer the question of who enforces the proposed restrictions? An unrestricted 
operating times means that the County Council would not need to enforce the 
restrictions and the school would not need to seek permission for every event but 
could operate a respectful and common sense approach towards activities.

Furthermore, the unrestricted hours would remove for the need to be precise with 
the times and allow the school to react when extraordinary meetings are needed 
such as when reacting to the pandemic.

This new planning variation is reasonable because we are good neighbours. We 
have worked with the residents and the local authority when the residents have 
concerns and we only use the site out of hours on very limited times throughout the 
year. We have a PTA quiz, Saturday fayre, once we had a circus on a Sunday 
because we could not secure on Saturday and we will continue to work with the 
residents as we have on the School Streets, deliveries and parking issues.

A view from one our parent’s captures the situation perfectly:
"Although residents may not like aspects of living near a school, an oversight in a 
planning application, should not be exploited to impact the education and 
community the school serves, nor place unnecessary burdens upon staff."

Page 29



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 30 -

The objections that the residents have are the same as living by any other school 
and not the result of the new build and therefore the times should not have new 
restrictions placed on them.

The view of the governing body is thot a minor clerical error should not affect the 
running of our new replacement building which has cost Gloucestershire County 
Council £7.5m and that the infrequent and historic events listed in the planning 
document have been addressed and solutions sought. On behalf of the Governors 
of Warden Hill School, thank you for your time.”

Supporting: Kala Wilkes (Chair of PTA)

“I am speaking on behalf of the PTA in support of the variation request for the
removal of the 'main operating hours' of 7am-6pm as this was due to a clerical
error in the original planning application.

Our PTA events are community spirited and a reason for the whole community
parents and residents included to get together. As a school, we are
encouraged to foster strong links with the community and over the many years we 
have succeeded in doing this. lf the stated hours in the planning
committee document are granted, it will severely limit the operation of the
school in meeting its community liaison duties. This is recognised by the
Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council on the planning portal, when
they stated in their statutory consultation: "We are supportive of the return to 
unrestricted hours given the vital role the school plays in the community."

We ensure thot residents are informed of upcoming events. We share start
and finish times of our events along with offering free admission for residents
and we will continue to do so as we return to normal after the Covid 19
pandemic. We ask the parents, volunteers, children and members of the wider
community who attend these PTA events to leave the building in a respectful
and courteous manner.

Yearly, the school PTA organise: 
. 2 quizzes which finish by 10:30pm
. 2 school discos which finish by 9:00pm
. 1 Family bingo evening which finishes by 8:30pm
. 1 Christmas fayre on a Friday night finishing by 8:30pm
. 1 Summer fayre on a Saturday which starts at 8:00am and finishes by 8pm.

These events raise around £10,000 per annum, which are vital funds and these
feedback directly into our children's education. We believe this number of
events to be reasonable number of events and in line with other comparable
school PTA events. Although these hours are broadly in line with the
suggested hours, as a PTA we would not wont to lose our flexibility in
organising our events for children, parents, staff and the wider community.

We have previously fundraised for: IPads that the children have constant

Page 30



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 31 -

access to during lessons enhancing their learning; a re-designed library which
is constantly in use by all; current literature which has re-vamped class
libraries and importantly engages our young readers. This valuable
fundraising has also been used to subsidise travel to school residential which
improves the children's cultural capital - giving the children the same
opportunities as their peers. The PTA is currently fundraising for a wellbeing
pod which would be the much needed, additional well-being learning space
for our children. To place restrictions on the school would hamper this
fundraising. We want to stress that without this essential funding, the
children will cease to benefit from the extra opportunities provided by the PTA.

The PTA is run by volunteers. They offer an extensive amount of time to
organise and run these events. Having to further request permission to stage
events would make a complicated job, impossible!

We are only asking for the new building to operate under the same conditions
as the current building.

I would like to finish by saying that we have come here today in support of
upholding the planning variation which requests the removal of the operating
hours (7-6pm) therefore allowing the school back to unrestricted hours to
keep us the same as every other Primary school. By even entertaining the idea
of the condition as outlined in the planning report it would make us different
from every other primary school; it would seriously impede the school going
forwards in the way it needed to run its essential fundraising events. This
would ensure that all our pupils benefit from the monies raised keeping us the
same as other PTAs in being able to work flexibly as a volunteer body. On
behalf of the PTA and the future PTA of Warden Hill Primary School - thank
you.”

Applicant: Gareth Vine (GCC)

“The need for this application was simply to rectify a clerical error identified in the 
original application which is to provide the school and community with brand new 
modern, fit for purpose facilities.  The vast majority of schools have no restrictions 
on their use or activities and we therefore strongly disagree with the proposed 
wording as set out in this officer’s report as it will add unnecessary pressure, 
constraint and compromise to how the school currently operates. 

I would like to reiterate that Leckhampton & Warden Hill Parish Council and 
Cheltenham Borough Council have both responded saying they have no objection 
to the proposal.  It is really important that this is not overlooked.
Schools are located at the heart of communities and have been serving the families 
living there for many years. The majority of residents surrounding school sites will 
have moved into the area aware of the presence of the school and for some this 
would have been a key deciding factor for them to locate.  It is vital they remain 
flexible and are able to adapt in response to changing demands. 

Page 31



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 32 -

The government has recently announced further intentions to extend the school day 
– how this will manifest itself remains to be seen but we cannot support the placing 
of an onerous and unnecessary restraint on the staff and governing body.

There is a need to remember the great pressures the school are always under to 
maintain education especially during the pandemic, supporting keyworker families 
etc.  It is a real testament to their dedication and this should not be underestimated 
and cannot be overlooked.

There is no evidence to show that the school has in the past acted in any way 
without due care and consideration for properties. They have been as proactive as 
possible to address any concerns of local residents. 

Warden Hill Primary School is one of a handful of schools in the county which is 
part of the GCC Think Travel School Streets trial to reduce congestion and 
encouraging active travel and healthy lifestyles for children and families.  The 
school is very supportive of the scheme and is very keen that this initiative 
continues.

Concerns have been raised regarding early deliveries and disturbances that have 
been reported to Cheltenham Borough Council Planning Enforcement and 
Environmental health teams who have in turn, investigated claims. It is important to 
understand that both departments found no grounds for further investigation or 
evidence of harm etc.

The school does receive deliveries by third party operators. The management of 
these contracts are through Gloucestershire County Council, there are terms 
specified within the operating contracts which specify permitted hours for deliveries 
to the school e.g. after 7am.  There have been instances where deliveries have 
occurred earlier (outside the control of the school) however, those cases have been 
reported and dealt with through the appropriate channels at GCC – these are not 
matters the school is responsible for. 

There have also been cases of minor disturbance through milk deliveries to the 
school.  The electric vehicle that delivers the milk early also delivers to other 
residential properties in Durham Close on the same run.  The school has 
arrangements for the safe storage of the milk until staff arrive later and the head 
teacher went to great lengths to ask the Dairy to put the school delivery on a later 
delivery route.  The only downside of this is that now, the pupils don’t always get 
their milk during morning break time, when they are supposed to. 

Schools are an asset to the community and where possible look to offer their 
facilities for private hire.  The school gives due consideration to the nature and type 
of premises use requested and would not be looking to allow anything that could be 
detrimental to the adjoining residents.

The school does not carry out any activities that would not be expected in any other 
school in the country.  The ad-hoc nature of school activities also needs to be 
appreciated and understood.  Whether this is collecting pupils who are returning 

Page 32



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 33 -

from competitive events, residential activities or holding fund-raising events.  These 
are typical activities seen at all schools. 
 
The school staff are extremely dedicated and need to retain the flexibility – their 
commitment and dedication should not be penalised in the restrictions being 
proposed.  There is no reason to suggest the school would act in a way that 
requires such control – having to seek permission outside the suggested hours is 
not reasonable and simply adds another burden for the school to have to deal with.

 The school already has a process for informing residents of planned events, and 
therefore we do not feel this is a justifiable extra.  The main issues raised already 
have suitable control processes in place.  Recognition must be given to the amount 
of work and effort the school has done to resolve the issues.  Thank you.” 

Leckhampton with Warden Hill Parish Council: Cllr Graham Beale (speech 
presented by the Chairman in Cllr Beale’s absence)

“The parish council supports the need to retain unrestricted operating hours for 
Warden Hill School given the broad and occasionally unpredictable services they 
provide to children, parents, teachers and the community.

Three residents from Durham Close have contacted me directly regarding pre-7am 
noise disturbances from the school’s day-to-day operation and I have spoken at 
length to 2 of those 3 residents.

I understand from Cllr Nelson the planning variation to restrict school hours was a 
clerical error and was not intended to provide a solution to pre-7am noise 
disturbances. Restricting the hours of the school, will not only constrain the school’s 
operation but also introduce an additional level of bureaucracy, process and cost 
without fully understanding the root cause(s).  A few weeks ago I ask residents 
suffering noise disturbances to keep a log so we can review this following the 
election.

Cllr Nelson has also been working with GCC contracts to reduce noise 
disturbances. This dialogue has been successful however, there is more to do.

With my Borough Councillor hat on, working together with Cllr Tony Oliver we plan 
to survey the residents of Durham Close. Along with the noise disturbance logs, I 
expect this information to give us a greater insight into the impact and scale of the 
noise disturbances and enable us to assess whether further mitigations could 
assist.”

County Councillor: Emma Nelson 

“I appreciate that the Planning Officer has already outlined the background to this 
application, but I’d like to re-iterate my reasoning for “calling it in to Committee”. 

Page 33



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 34 -

In completing the application form for the new school, the agent unfortunately 
entered Operating Hours in Question 19 and put Monday to Friday 7 am – 6 pm, 
apparently taken from the School Travel Plan. 

What is most frustrating is that this error wasn’t corrected when the application was 
out for consultation, before it was even approved, particularly as both local 
residents and me raised several questions at the time with the External Planning 
Consultant, regarding the permitted "operating hours” given in the original 
application. 

There followed various challenges relating to early disturbances then apparently in 
breach of the approved times and it was ascertained that question 19 of the form 
should have been left blank; the application would then have been approved with 
no reference to operating hours and the unrestricted access currently in place at 
Warden Hill Primary would have continued. We would not be here.

However, what actually happened was that a significant amount of local interest 
was generated, such that a new application had to be raised to correct this clause 
which had the incorrect hours in.

If this error had not been identified and corrected by raising this additional 
application then, once the new building is complete, the school would be tied to the 
stated hours Monday to Friday 7 am – 6 pm which are clearly not workable.
 
Therefore, this application seeks to effectively remove any reference to operating 
hours and allow the school to continue to function as now, with unrestricted hours in 
line with other primary schools across the country.
I am here today as the elected local member for Leckhampton and Warden Hill.

Within this community there are staff who work at the school, parents who have 
children at the school and residents who live close by. 

So - taking these groups in the community I represent, in turn.

The Staff: Both my parents were teachers and even way back then in the “old days” 
teaching was definitely not a term time only, school day only profession, it was and 
still is, very much a vocation not a job. Now, more than ever, teachers are under 
increasing pressure and work long hours to deliver an outstanding education to our 
youngsters. They provide vital extra-curricular activities, as well as meeting with 
parents to discuss their children’s progress. Staff need to have access to set up and 
clear up.  All this is part and parcel of the rewarding profession that teaching now is, 
moulding the children of our community to ensure they succeed and are the best 
they can be.
Warden Hill Primary is rated as outstanding by Ofsted, this is a testament to the 
hard work of the teachers and all the support staff who, understandably want the 
unrestricted hours to continue.

Page 34



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 35 -

Next the Parents of children at the school, they are concerned that placing 
restrictions on the operating hours could have a serious impact on their children’s 
education, and particularly the PTA.  

As we’ve just heard, Warden Hill is fortunate to have a very active PTA who raise 
funds to subsidise numerous activities including school trips, swimming, attendance 
at the science and literature festivals and much, much more. Indeed, the PTA 
recently purchased a large quantity of brand-new reading books for the school 
library.

The PTA also organises clubs across the year groups including breakfast and 
afterschool care providing vital support to working parents, something we are sadly 
seeing an increasing need for.

As one parent put it to me:
 “We cannot afford to curtail or constrain the future of our hardworking PTA 
fundraising opportunities, which will in turn impact our children – our future 
generations of scientists, Doctors, Teachers. They need supporting. Children will be 
missing out on things when their parents can't afford it.

If hours are restricted per original application, the children are going to be massively 
disadvantaged in terms of the extra experiences that the school can provide to 
them including various sporting skills, after school clubs, PTA events, school plays 
and leavers’ events.”

And the local residents some of who are understandably concerned that the school, 
once occupying the new building, might start hiring out the excellent facility over 
extended hours in term-time and at weekends as well as throughout the school 
holidays. 

PTA events and fundraisers can go on late into the evenings with disturbance from 
the actual event and from people as they are leaving, both vocally and car doors 
banging etc.  

As I have said I am here to represent staff, parents, and residents and, although I 
do have my own opinion, I felt it right to call this application in to Committee to 
ensure complete transparency of the planning process and my sincere hope is that 
whatever the decision today the whole school community, staff, parents and local 
residents can come together going forward.”

The Chairman invited questions from Members following the presentation.  

Councillor Fisher asked if this was deemed as positive discrimination if the 
operating hours were to be applied.  The case officer explained that it was for 
members to consider the application on its own merit.  

Councillor McFarling declared he was a Governor of the White Forest Federation 
but he maintained an open mind on this application.  The principal lawyer explained 
that the member could continue providing he had not pre-determined the 

Page 35



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 36 -

application.  Councillor McFarling confirmed he had not pre-determined the 
application.  

The Chairman also declared he was a school governor and he also had not pre-
determined the application.  

Councillor McFarling suggested if all other schools didn’t have restricted hours then 
this must be discrimination.  

The Principal Lawyer explained that the report before members was the balance of 
residents’ concerns versus the needs of the school and it was up to the committee 
to decide if Condition 4 was appropriate and it was within the committee’s gift to 
remove it, if they saw fit.    

The case officer explained that Condition 3 would impose hours of restricted use 
but the committee could choose to not accept but an alternative condition would 
need to be proposed.  

Councillor Housden asked if there were any other schools in Gloucestershire with 
restricted operating hours or any within the country.  The case officer explained that 
she was unable to answer that question without checking every application granted 
by the County Planning Authority and the District Planning Authorities, however the 
hours of operation would depend on what the District Council permission had been 
granted.  

The principal lawyer clarified that a condition 4, would need to state there were no 
restrictions in respect of the school opening hours if the committee were minded to 
do so.  

Councillor Cohen declared that she was a Director of ‘Read with Me’ but had not 
pre-determined the application.

The Committee entered into debate.

Councillor Miller wished to congratulate the School on being rated outstanding by 
Ofsted, as he was Chair of the Children and Families Scrutiny Committee he was 
delighted to hear this news.  He urged the school to continue to have dialogue with 
the local residents and he felt it was strange to impose restricted hours on a school 
and noted it was a clerical error but one that could be remedied by a Condition 4 of 
unrestricted hours of operation.  

Councillor Baker proposed to refuse the officers recommendation and proposed 
that the school be allowed to continue to operate under its previous arrangement of 
unrestricted operating hours.  This was seconded by Councillor Fisher.  

Councillor Baker reiterated that the Committee should not accept the officer’s 
recommendation and the original situation be reverted to pre-application.  He added 
that he was concerned at the number of hours that had been wasted due to a 
clerical error, which had placed unnecessary stress on the school.  Councillor Baker 

Page 36



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 37 -

remarked that he was surprised that the Education Department was at logger heads 
with the Planning Department.

The principal lawyer clarified that this was not a Planning Department error, it was 
an error on the Applicant’s part on filling in the application form.  Councillor Baker 
apologised for the misinterpretation.  

Councillor Vines stated that it appeared all members were of the same opinion to 
reject the officer recommendation, and required clarification from officers in terms of 
the new condition 4.  The case officer confirmed that the officer recommendation for 
the wording of could be rejected and a new condition 4 could be proposed, for 
unrestricted hours to be reinstated.    

The case officer suggested the following wording based on the Committee’s view 
that “notwithstanding the information set out on the planning application form 
identified in Condition 3 of the planning consent 21/0024/CHR3MJ relating to the 
school opening hours, there shall be no time restrictions on the use of the school.  
The reason for this condition was to safeguard social and community infrastructure 
and in accordance with JCS policy INF4 and NPPF Chapter 8.”

The principal lawyer confirmed that the report before the committee would be 
approved with the amendment of condition 4, allowing the school to operate with 
unrestricted hours.  The Committee confirmed that was their intention.

On being put to the vote, the application was unanimously supported and the 
application was granted.  

The Committee therefore: 

Resolved 

That the planning permission be granted in accordance with Regulation 3 of 
the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992 and for the 
reasons set out in the report and summarised at paragraph 7.19 to 7.22 
subject to the conditions set in the report with the addition of Condition 4 
“notwithstanding the information set out on the planning application form 
identified in Condition 3 of the planning consent 21/0024/CHR3MJ relating to 
the school opening hours, there shall be no time restrictions on the use of the 
school.  The reason for this condition was to safeguard social and community 
infrastructure and in accordance with JCS policy INF4 and NPPF Chapter 8.”

15. DELEGATED DECISIONS 

Resolved 

That the report be noted.  

16. ENFORCEMENT REPORT 

Page 37



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 38 -

Resolved 

That the report be noted.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 2.00 pm

Page 38



1

Member Site Visit Meeting

30th June 2022 10am

Weather conditions: Warm, dry and sunny.

Planning Committee Member Attendance:

Councillors:
AWFORD, Cllr Philip
BAKER, Cllr Paul
BROWN, Cllr David
FISHER, Cllr Bernard
HALE, Cllr Terry**
HARMAN, Cllr Tim
HEGANBARTH, Cllr Alex

Ap
Ap
P
Ap
P
Ap
P

MACKENZIE-CHARRINGTON, Cllr Mark*
MCFARLING, Cllr Chris
MILLER, Cllr Andrew
MORGAN, Cllr Graham
MOSELEY, Cllr Gill
TRACEY, Cllr Pamela
VINES, Cllr Robert
Williams, Cllr Sue

P
P
P
P
P
Ab
P
Ap

Chairperson*  Vice Chairperson **

Key: P=present, Ab=absent, Ap= Apologies

Officers in attendance: 

Sarah Pearse, (SP) Principal Planning Officer, Kevin Phillips, (KP) Team Manager, 
and Denis Canney (DC), Senior Planning Officer (Case Officer). 

Members were joined on site by Rob Bird, Borough Councillor with Tewkesbury 
Borough Council and Wendy Hopkins, David Lewis and Claire Smith Harriot 
representing Bishops Cleeve Parish Council. 

Planning application 22/0003/TWR3MJ by Head of Property Services, 
Gloucestershire County Council, for the Construction of a 3-Form of Entry (3FE) 
Primary School, Nursery, new vehicular access and ancillary works on land to the 
south of Badham Pharmacy Head office, A435, Bishops Cleeve, Cheltenham, 
Gloucestershire GL52 8SA.

The case officer described the site and the surroundings, pointing to relevant 
features on a plan. He noted the site boundary, electricity pylons across the site, the 
orchard, the  Pharmacy head office and neighbouring houses. The site is outside of 
the AONB, but within an area identified as a “gap of local importance”. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



2

Member Questions:

Cllr McFarling asked about the capacity of the school. The case officer replied that 
there would initially be 40 pupils, increasing to between 580 to 630, plus a 52 place 
nursery.

Cllr McFarling observed that there would be no drop-off area. In relation to the 
orchard trees, he asked whether similar trees would be planted. The CO replied that 
grafts would be taken from existing trees. The Cllr asked whether a calculation has 
been made regarding net gain and a carbon off set calculation. The CO explained 
that a biodiversity calculation had been carried out.

Cllrs Miller, Heganbarth and Moseley asked how it is going to work if there is no drop 
off point for children? Will there be a drop off point for minibus and access for 
children  with special needs? The CO replied that provision is made for disable 
parking spaces.

Cllr MacKenzie-Charrington noted the provision for cycle and skateboard parking, 
but queried whether this was enough when more students will be walking to school. 
The CO pointed out that is was scooter parking rather than skateboards and that the 
County Highways Officer was satisfied.

Cllr Morgan noted that there would be three replacement ponds. He commented that 
it is adjacent to a very busy road, and that travel plans don’t work.

Cllr MacKenzie-Charrington noted that highways have recommended consent but 
still had reservations .

Bishops Cleeve Parish Council Representative – Wendy Hopkins

The PC agree that a new school is required, serving and educating children in the 
village. They echo the concerns already expressed that the lack of parent drop off 
and pick up is ill conceived, almost laughable. The site is not in a sustainable 
location, it is within the strategic gap, and remote from the centre of the village. It is 
not a sustainable location. It is not secondary children who are able to walk to 
school. There would potentially be 660 cars at drop off at one particular time. They 
are not all going to find spaces but will use the bus stop and the main road. There 
are no rails along pedestrian walkways on the drawings to protect children. It is a 
very busy main road into Cheltenham, and just not safe. The proposal is unrealistic, 
the drop-off and pick-up needs to be re-thought. A school is needed but let’s try and 
get it right. Everything is on the minimum standards, and it is located in the strategic 
gap. Planning is all about a balanced argument.

The CO stated that it is a balanced decision, and a departure from the local plan 
which would need to be referred to the Secretary of State if members are minded to 
approve the application.

Page 40



3

There was no District representative in attendance.

David Lewis (BCPC) stated that there is no footpath along the road at the moment 
and GCC don’t own enough land to build it. As this was a question for Highways it 
will be answered by the Highways representative at Planning Committee.

The CO explained that all works proposed are within the highway boundary.

Claire Smith-Harriot (BCPC) pointed out that the new ponds are ecological ponds 
and not to alleviate the flood risk.

The CO explained that the LLFA had been consulted and satisfied that the proposal 
does not represent a flood risk.

Cllr McFarling asked about the Dean Brook overspill. The Parish representative 
stated that the road is often flooded and it compromises the small development of 
houses on the opposite side of the road. The TBC drainage officer objected to that 
development, but it was allowed against officer recommendation, and the 
development has subsequently flooded.

Local County Councillor – Councillor Alex Heganbarth.

He expressed his concern about joining the school up with the surrounding area, 
with cycle paths, protective barriers etc. These need to be in place at the start and 
not resolved afterwards. 

Cllr McFarling stated that this was a strategic landscape designation for no building. 
The CO pointed out that there had been an application for housing and a school on 
the opposite side of the road, but this was undetermined and had been withdrawn.

The MSV walked through the orchard across the field to view the entrance points 
and the pond.

Cllr Heganbarth stated that there must be joined up transport issues, they need a 
school zone outside of the school and the road speed reduced to 40 mph. Safe 
footpaths to the site are needed.

The CO explained that there would be a shared access for cycles and pedestrians 
with a separate vehicular access. 

Cllr Hale asked if the gate into the field demarked a PROW. The CO clarified that 
there were no PROW’s crossing the site. 

Cllr Heganbarth raised a question about the pond, and asked how the drainage was 
going to be addressed, for now and future proofing. The Principal Planning Officer 
suggested that a representative from the LLFA be present at Committee to answer 
such questions.

Page 41



4

Wendy Hopkins drew attention to the noisy road and asked how the children would 
hear the teacher when the classroom windows are open.

Cllr Moseley asked if the capacity of the pond was known, or could be found out. Is 
the capacity of the pond compensated for including the overspill of the brook in 
addition to runoff. The CO explained that this question would be answered at the 
Committee meeting.

Meeting ended at 11.40.

 

Page 42



APPLICATION NO: 22/0003/TWR3MJ VALIDATION
DATE:

3rd February 
2022

DISTRICT REF: 22/00183/CM  

AGENT: McLoughlin Planning, First Floor 119 Promenade, 
Cheltenham, GL50 1NW

APPLICANT: Head of Property Services, Gloucestershire County 
Council

SITE: Land South of Badham Pharmacy Head Office, A435, 
Bishop’s Cleeve, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire GL52 
8SA

PROPOSAL: Construction of a 3-Form of Entry (3FE) Primary School, 
Nursery, New Vehicular Access and Ancillary Works

PARISH: Gotherington SITE AREA: 2.5 Ha

GRID 
REF: 

E 396337 
N 228712

INTRODUCTORY SUMMARY

The proposed development of a 3-Form of Entry (3FE) Primary School, 
Nursery, New Vehicular Access and Ancillary Works lies outside but adjoining 
the the settlement boundary north of Bishop’s Cleeve and within the parish of 
Gotherington.

Having considered the consultation responses, representations, national and 
local planning policy the proposed development, subject to planning condition 
compliance and mitigation works relating to landscaping, ecology and highway 
matters, is not considered to significantly adversely impact upon, the amenity 
of residents in the vicinity, the environment; the local highway network; upon 
the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and the 
Gotherington Special Landscape Area (SLA). As such it is considered to 
comply with national policy National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and 
the policies of the development plans including the recently adopted 
Tewkesbury Local Plan 2011-2032 apart from LAN 3 policy relating to the Gap 
of Local Importance in which the development site sits. For this reason, it is 
considered that the development departs from development plan policy LAN3.

Overall, whilst departing from Tewkesbury Local Plan (TLP) Policy LAN 3, it is 
considered that on balance, the educational need outweighs any adverse 
impact perceived or otherwise by the proposed development and is therefore 
recommended for approval. 

1.0 SITE DESCRIPTION

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



1.1 The proposed primary and nursery school site is an undeveloped parcel of 
land with an area of 2.5 hectares located on the eastern side of the A435, 
approximately 200m to the north of the junction with Evesham Road, at the 
northern end of Bishop’s Cleeve. The site is adjacent to the Old Farmers Arms 
to the north, which is now the Head Office of Badham Pharmacy, and recently 
constructed houses on Valentine Road to the south. There is a watercourse 
(Dean Brook) running along the southern boundary and there are no existing 
buildings present. The site is located 1.3 miles from the Bishop’s Cleeve Town 
Centre and 4.9 miles from Cheltenham Town Centre. 

1.2 The site is located outside of the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB) (more than 1,270 m at its nearest point) to the east. The site 
is also outside and to the south west of the Special Landscape Area (SLA) at 
Gotherington. Most of the site is within Flood Zone 1, representing a low risk 
of flooding. To the south-west of the site there is a small area situated in Flood 
Zone 3. The site contains a pond in the south-west corner and the southern 
boundary is defined by the Dean Brook watercourse which forms the 
boundary between the Parishes of Bishop’s Cleeve and Gotherington as well 
as the extent of the settlement boundary.

1.3 The site does not contain any heritage assets although there are listed 
buildings in the wider locality. The site is not crossed by any public rights of 
way (PROW). The site does not contain any sites of acknowledged 
environmental importance or nature conservation. The site is crossed from the 
north east to south west by a poles carrying a high voltage electricity supply 
cable.

1.4 South of the site is a modern two and three storey residential development. To 
the north and west of the site is Badham Pharmacy Head Office and farmland 
whilst to the east is the A435 Evesham Road.

1.5 Vehicular access to the site is currently obtained to the north of Badham 
Pharmacy Head Office.

1.6 The topography of the site is generally sloping, the highest point being in the 
north eastern corner, sloping down to the lowest point at the south western 
corner. The overall level change is around 6m. There are no existing buildings 
located on the site but there is an historic orchard south of Badham Pharmacy 
Head Office.

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

2.1 The proposal is for the construction of a new two phase, two storey Primary 
School with associated hard and soft landscaping works.

• Phase 1 to include 2 Forms of Entry (2FE)
• Phase 2 to expand to 3 Forms of Entry (3FE)
• Nursery (independent of phasing)

Page 44



This application proposes the phased development of a new primary school 
with 2FE, expanding to 3FE at a later date. A single storey nursery is also 
proposed which could be delivered, along with the associated landscape, at 
any point during the phasing process.

2.2 Associated facilities would include staff parking area, vehicular access directly 
off the A435, Multi Use Games Area (MUGA), rounders pitch, running track 
and a grass pitch. The proposal includes a package of improvements and 
enhancements to the local highway network fully detailed within the Transport 
Statement which forms part of the application.

2.3 The School would comprise of two storeys for the primary age range along 
with a single storey nursery. 

2.4 The proposed access points will be off the A435 on the western site boundary. 
There would be three accesses in total, one serving vehicular access, one 
serving the playing fields and an emergency access to the north of the site. 
Parents drop off is deliberately designed out from the proposal with the aim of 
more use of walking, cycling and scootering to the school. Parent parking 
would occur further away from the school site within residential areas.

2.5 The main application was received on 12th January 2022 and validated on 3rd 
February following the submission of additional documents required by the 
County Planning Authority (CPA) in order to validate the application.

Page 45



2.6 The applicant has submitted the following documents and plans in support of 
the application comprising:

 SK11 Rev I Sheet 1 of 3:  Site Access & Active Travel Improvements 
 SK12 Rev F Sheet 2 of 3: Site Access & Active Travel Improvements 
 SK13 Rev C Sheet 3 of 3: Site Access & Active Travel Improvements 
 Biodiversity Net Gain Feasibility & Design Stage Report by Keystone 

(Dated December 2021)
 Glint & Glare Study Revised by Pager Power (dated 30/03/2022)  
 2046 35 Rev S04 Soft Planting Proposals Phase 1 - 04.03.2022
 2046 32 Rev S03 Soft Planting Proposals Phase 2 - 04.03.2022  
 2046 36 Rev S04 Hard Landscape Proposals (Phase 1) - 03.03.2022  
 2046 33 Rev S04 Hard Landscape Proposals (Phase 2) - 03.03.2022  
 DLA.2046.L.41.S01 Section A Southern Boundary  
 DLA.2046.L.40.S01 Section B Evesham Road  
 Landscape and Visual Addendum–Further Information (dated  

30.03.2022)  
 DLA.2046.LVA-ADD.RPT.01. V1 Landscape & Visual Addendum 
 SK10 Rev I Site Access & Active Travel Improvements Location Plan  
 2046 30 Rev 06 Fencing Plan  
 9546-RLL-A-PL101 Rev A 2FE Proposed Site Plan (Phase 1)  
 9546-RLL-A-PL102 Rev A 3FE Proposed Site Plan (Phase 2)  
 Statement of Community Involvement (dated February 2022) 
 Noise & Acoustic Feasibility Study   by Acoustic Consultants Ltd. (Ref: 

8999/JC (dated 22 December 2021)
 Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (dated 20.01.2022)  
 Application Form  
 Design & Access Statement (dated December 2021)
 Main Site Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (dated February 2021) 
 Air Quality Assessment (dated October 2021)
 Evesham Road Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (dated November 

2021)
 Hedgerow Assessment (dated April 2021)
 Bat Roost Inspection Survey Report (dated April 2021)
 Dormouse Survey (dated October 2021)
 Reptile Survey (dated June 2021)
 Water Vole & Otter Survey Report (dated September 2021)
 Great Crested Newt Survey (dated June 2021)
 Arboricultural Impact Survey (dated 21st December 2021)
 Archaeological Evaluation (dated August 2021)
 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal & Bat Roost Inspection Rep (dated 

April 2021)
 Bat Roost Presence/Absence Survey Report (dated September 2021)
 Visual Analysis (dated 17 December 2021)
 Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment (dated January 2022)
 Drainage Strategy Report (dated 19th December 2021)
 Ecological Management Plan (dated December 2021)

Page 46



 Flood Risk Assessment (dated 15th December 2021)
 Geophysical Survey Report (dated March 2021)
 Interpretive Report on Ground Investigation (dated June 2021)
 Landscape & Ecological Management Plan 

DLA.2046.RPT.LEMP.01.V03
 Planning Statement (dated January 2022)
 Sustainability Statement (dated December 2021)
 Travel Plan by Cotswold Transport Planning (Dated December 2021)
 Waste Minimisation Statement (dated January 2022)
 Transport Assessment  (dated December 2021)
 Transport Assessment: Appendix A to D  
 Transport Assessment: Appendix E  
 Transport Assessment: Appendix F  
 Transport Assessment: Appendix G  
 Transport Assessment: Appendix H to N  
 Transport Assessment: Appendix O to AB  
 P21-0553 Site Location Plan  
 9546 PL001 Existing Site Plan  
 9546 PL010 Demolitions Plan  
 9546-RLL-A-PL201 2FE Ground Floor Plan (Phase 1)  
 9546-RLL-A-PL202 2FE First Floor Plan (Phase 1)  
 9546-RLL-A-PL251 3FE Ground Floor Plan (Phase 2)  
 9546-RLL-A-PL252 3FE First Floor Plan (Phase 2)  
 9546-RLL-A-PL253 2FE Roof Plan (Phase 1)  
 9546-RLL-A-PL254 3FE Roof Plan (Phase 2)  
 9546-RLL-A-PL301 2FE Proposed Elevations (Phase 1)  
 3MJ  9546-RLL-A-PL302 3FE Proposed Elevations (Phase 2)  
 9546-RLL-A-PL303 Proposed Nursey Elevations  
 MJ   Construction Logistics Plan  
 DLA.2046.L31.S05 Illustrative Masterplan - Phase 1  
 DLA.2046.L31.S05 Illustrative Masterplan - Phase 2  
 2046 38.1 Rev S02 Soft Planting Proposals-Off Site Highways 1 of 2  
 2046 38.2 Rev S02 Soft Planting Proposals-Off Site Highways 2 of 2  
 MW023/TJ/WASTE Letter Clarifying Soil Excavation & Vehicle 

Movements  
 Utilities Report  
 13668-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7050 P01 Existing Levels  
 13668-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7051 P0 Proposed Finished Levels  
 13668-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7053 P0 Cut & fill Analysis Sections Sheet 1  
 13668-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7053 P0 Cut & fill Analysis Sections Sheet 2  
 13668-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7054 P0 Cut & fill Analysis Sections Sheet 3  
 Operation & Maintenance Schedule  
 Letter 31.01.22: Further Assessment for Hydrological  
 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7000 P01 Drainage Strategy Plan  
 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7001 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 1  
 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7002 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 2  
 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7003 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 3  

Page 47



 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7004 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 4  
 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7005 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 5  
 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7006 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 6  
 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7007 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 7  
 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7010 P01 Drainage Details Sheet 1  
 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7011 P01 Drainage Details Sheet 2  
 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7020 P01 Storm Water Catchment Areas  
 13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7022 P02 Sustainable Urban Drainage 

Strategy  
 Sewer Map 1 Valentine Road  
 Sewer Map 2 Pharmacy  
 Sewer Map 3 Evesham Road  
 BCP - System 1 Car Park 17.12.2021  
 BCP - System 2 East Block 19.12.2021  
 ICP Catchment 17.12.2021  
 Extra Samples for Lead Testing  

Environmental Impact Assessment

2.7 The application was not accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES). 
Consequently, the application was screened for EIA development. The 
proposal falls under Schedule 2 10 (b) Urban development projects, including 
the construction of shopping centres and car parks, sports stadiums, leisure 
centres and multiplex cinemas, and Column 2, (i) the development includes 
more than 1 hectare of urban development which is not dwellinghouse 
development. 

2.8 The site area for development is approximately 2.5 hectares of land and 
exceeds the 1 hectare urban development threshold identified in Schedule 2. 
The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) provides further advice in respect of 
indicative criteria and thresholds relating to the likelihood of the need for EIA. 
Paragraph 17 of the PPG states that “If a proposed project is listed in the first 
column in Schedule 2 of the 2017 Regulations and exceeds the relevant 
thresholds or criteria set out in the second column (sometimes referred to as 
“exclusion thresholds and criteria”) the proposal needs to be screened by the 
local planning authority to determine whether significant effects on the 
environment are likely” and the PPG states “hence whether an Environmental 
Impact Assessment is required.” At paragraph 18 the PPG states that “only a 
very small proportion of Schedule 2 development will require an 
Environmental Impact Assessment.”

2.9 While there is potential for some effects to be generated by the proposed 
development, such as highway impacts, landscape character and visual 
impact and ecology impacts, these details can be adequately considered 
through documentation submitted and mitigation measures which could be set 
out and considered in determination of the application so as to avoid any 
significant effects that may be generated. 

Page 48



2.10 Advice in the PPG has not been solely relied upon. Schedule 3 of the 
regulations has been considered with the result that the development is not 
considered to be of more than local importance (in the context of EIA 
legislation), would not have significant environmental effects on the local area 
and would not have an unusually complex/hazardous environmental effects 
either alone or in combination with other existing or approved developments 
(in the context of EIA legislation).

2.11 Whilst the scope of the development does lie within Schedule 2 it would not, in 
the opinion of the CPA be likely to have a significant effect on the environment 
in terms of the requirement for an EIA. A Screening Opinion was issued on 22 
March 2022 stating that an ES was not required.

3.0 PLANNING HISTORY

The applicant’s planning agent submitted a pre-application request and this 
was responded to on 29 June 2021. The site itself has no planning history 
other than the pre-app referred to above.

4.0 POLICY CONTEXT

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.1 The NPPF was revised on 20 July 2021 and sets out the government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. The 
revised Framework replaces the previous NPPF published in March 2012, 
revised in July 2018 and updated in February 2019. The revised Framework is 
a material consideration in the determination of the application. In assessing 
and determining planning proposals, the local planning authority should apply 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development, which is the main focus 
of the NPPF in relation to both the plan-making and decision-making process.

4.2 Paragraph 95 of the NPPF states that it is important that a sufficient choice of 
school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities.  
Local planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative 
approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that will widen 
choice in education. They should: 

a) give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools 
through the preparation of plans and decisions on applications; and 

b)   work with schools promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies 
to identify and resolve key planning issues before applications are 
submitted.

4.3 Paragraph 104 identifies the following objectives in promoting sustainable 
transport:

a) the potential impacts of development on transport networks can be 
addressed;

Page 49



b) opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure, and 
changing transport technology and usage, are realised – for 
example in relation to the scale, location or density of development 
that can be accommodated;

c) opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use 
are identified and pursued;

d) the environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure can 
be identified, assessed and taken into account – including 
appropriate opportunities for avoiding and mitigating any adverse 
effects, and for net environmental gains; and

e) patterns of movement, streets, parking and other transport 
considerations are integral to the design of schemes and contribute 
to making high quality places.

4.4 Paragraph 105 states the “planning system should actively manage patterns 
of growth in support of these objectives. Significant development should be 
focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting 
the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This can 
help to reduce congestion and emissions, and improve air quality and public 
health. However, opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will 
vary between urban and rural areas, and this should be taken into account in 
both plan-making and decision-making.” 

4.5 Paragraph 110 states that in assessing applications for development it should 
be ensured that:

a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport 
modes can be – or have been – taken up, given the type of 
development and its location;

b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all 
users;

c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements 
and the content of associated standards reflects current national 
guidance, including the National Design Guide and the National 
Model Design Code 46; and

d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport 
network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway 
safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.

4.6 Paragraph 111 states Development should only be prevented or refused on 
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 

Page 50



safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe.

4.7 Paragraph 112 considers that applications for development should:

a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within 
the scheme and with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as 
possible – to facilitating access to high quality public transport, 
with layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other 
public transport services, and appropriate facilities that 
encourage public transport use;

b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced 
mobility in relation to all modes of transport;

c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which 
minimise the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists 
and vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter, and respond to 
local character and design standards;

d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service 
and emergency vehicles;…

4.8 Paragraph 126 states the “creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable 
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development, creates better places in which to live and work and helps make 
development acceptable to communities. Being clear about design 
expectations, and how these will be tested, is essential for achieving this. So 
too is effective engagement between applicants, communities, local planning 
authorities and other interests throughout the process.”

4.9 Paragraph 174 advises planning decisions “should contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by: 

a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of 
biodiversity or geological value and soils (in a manner 
commensurate with their statutory status or identified quality in 
the development plan); 

b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, 
and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem 
services – including the economic and other benefits of the best 
and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees and woodland; 

c) maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while 
improving public access to it where appropriate; 

d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, 
including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are 
more resilient to current and future pressures; 

Page 51



e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, 
being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected 
by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or 
land instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to 
improve local environmental conditions such as air and water 
quality, taking into account relevant information such as river 
basin management plans; and 

f) remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, 
contaminated and unstable land, where appropriate.”

Development Plan(s)

4.10 Under Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
planning applications should be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (WCS) (2012)

4.11 The WCS forms part of the Development Plan. Policies from the adopted 
WCS which are relevant to this application are:

 Policy WCS1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
 Policy WCS2 – Waste Reduction

Joint Core Strategy – Adopted 5th December 2017

4.12 The adopted Joint Core Strategy (JCS) forms part of the Development Plan 
and provides the strategic policy for development across the three 
administrative areas of Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury until 2031.  
Tewkesbury Borough Council formally adopted the Joint Core Strategy (5th 
December 2017) along with Gloucester City Council (23rd November 2017) 
and Cheltenham Borough Council (11th December 2017).

4.13 The JCS contains a number of strategic objectives, one of which (Objective 7) 
is the promotion of sustainable transport, reducing the need to travel and 
reliance on the car by improving opportunities for public transport, walking and 
cycling by making routes more convenient, safe and attractive.  

4.14 Objective 9 is concerned with promoting healthy communities by enhancing 
opportunities for high quality education working in partnership to encourage 
healthy lifestyles through access to key community facilities and sustainable 
transport as well as ensuring that environmental quality and air quality is 
protected.  

Relevant JCS policies are:
 Policy SP1 – The Need for New Development.
 Policy SP2 – Distribution of New Development.
 Policy SD3 – Sustainable Design and Construction.
 Policy SD4 – Design Requirements.

Page 52



 Policy SD6 – Landscape.
 Policy SD7 – The Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.
 Policy SD8 – Historic Environment.
 Policy SD9 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity.
 Policy SD14 – Health & Environmental Quality.
 Policy INF1 – Transport Network.
 Policy INF2 – Flood Risk.
 Policy INF3 – Green Infrastructure.
 Policy INF4 – Social and Community Infrastructure.
 Policy INF5 – Renewable Energy and low carbon energy development.
 Policy INF6 – Infrastructure Delivery.

4.15 JCS Policy INF1 – Transport Network

1.  Developers should provide safe and accessible connections to the 
transport network to enable travel choice for residents and commuters. All 
proposals should ensure that:

i. Safe and efficient access to the highway network is provided for all 
transport modes;

ii. Connections are provided, where appropriate, to existing walking,  
cycling and passenger transport networks and should be designed to 
encourage maximum potential use;

iii. All opportunities are identified and taken, where appropriate, to extend 
and/or modify existing walking, cycling and public transport networks 
and links, to ensure that credible travel choices are provided by 
sustainable modes.

2. Planning permission will be granted only where the impact of 
development is not considered to be severe.  Where severe impacts 
that are attributable to the development are considered likely, including 
as a consequence of cumulative impacts, they must be mitigated to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the 
Highway Authorities and in line with the Local Transport Plan.

3. Developers will be required to assess the impact of proposals on the 
transport network through a Transport Assessment.  The assessment 
will demonstrate the  impact, including cumulative impacts, of the 
prospective development on:

a) Congestion on the transport network
b) Travel safety within the zone of influence of the development
c) Noise and/or atmospheric pollution within the zone of influence 

of the development

4. Where appropriate the local planning authority may require applications 
to be accompanied by a Travel Plan that has full regard to the criteria 
set out in the NPPF.

Page 53



4.16 The supporting text of Policy INF1 makes reference to the potential for short - 
distance trips to transfer where appropriate to non-car modes, such as public 
transport, walking or cycling - something which the NPPF considers to be a 
core planning principle.  The policy recognises that to enable the transfer to 
non-car modes requires a co-ordinated approach across several policy and 
delivery areas and the JCS seeks to achieve this through its policies on 
design and infrastructure.  The role of the Development Plan is to reflect, 
support and enable the implementation of transport objectives of the Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) through its land-use policies and proposals.  The LTP is 
the key strategy for the delivery of essential transport infrastructure to support 
the delivery of growth identified in the JCS and sits alongside the JCS.

4.17 JCS Policy SD9: Biodiversity and Geodiversity

1. The biodiversity and geological resource of the JCS area will be 
protected and enhanced in order to establish and reinforce ecological 
networks that are resilient to current and future pressures. Improved 
community access will be encouraged so far as is compatible with the 
conservation of special features and interests.

2. This will be achieved by:

i. Ensuring that European Protected Species and National 
Protected Species are safeguarded in accordance with the law

ii. Conserving and enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity on 
internationally, nationally and locally designated sites, and other 
assets of demonstrable value where these make a contribution 
to the wider network, thus ensuring that new development both 
within and surrounding such sites has no unacceptable adverse 
impacts 

iii. Encouraging new development to contribute positively to 
biodiversity and geodiversity whilst linking with wider networks of 
green infrastructure. For example, by incorporating habitat 
features into the design to assist in the creation and 
enhancement of wildlife corridors and ecological stepping stones 
between sites

iv. Encouraging the creation, restoration and beneficial 
management of priority landscapes, priority habitats and 
populations of priority species. For example, by securing 
improvements to Strategic Nature Areas (as set out on the 
Gloucestershire Nature Map) and Nature Improvement Areas.

3. Any development that has the potential to have a likely significant 
effect on an international site will be subject to a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment.

Page 54



4. Within nationally designated sites, development will not be permitted 
unless it is necessary for appropriate on-site management measures, 
and proposals can demonstrate that there will be no adverse impacts 
on the notified special interest features of the site.

5. Development within locally designated sites will not be permitted where 
it would have an adverse impact on the registered interest features or 
criteria for which the site was listed, and harm cannot be avoided or 
satisfactorily mitigated. 

6. Harm to the biodiversity or geodiversity of an undesignated site or 
asset should be avoided where possible. Where there is a risk of harm 
as a consequence of development, this should be mitigated by 
integrating enhancements into the scheme that are appropriate to the 
location and satisfactory to the local planning authority. If harm cannot 
be mitigated on site then, exceptionally, compensatory enhancements 
off site may be acceptable.

4.17 The supporting text of the policy advises enhancements will be secured 
through the design of the development and via planning conditions.

Joint Core Strategy Review
4.18 Since the JCS was adopted back in December 2017, Gloucester City, 

Cheltenham Borough and Tewkesbury Borough Councils have been working 
towards its review. This continues to be a collaborative strategic development 
plan of the three areas and includes a close working relationship with 
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC). 

4.19 The JCS (now Joint Strategic Plan – JSP) authorities have published an 
'Issues and Options' consultation under Regulation 18 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. The 
consultation period ran from 12th November 2018 to the 11th January 2019.  
Since the consultation closed in January 2019, the JSP authorities are 
preparing a draft Reg. 18 plan for consultation, which is expected to 
commence in Spring 2023.This is at an early stage in the review process and 
therefore carries no significant weight. No other consultations are live.

Tewkesbury Borough Council Local Plan

4.20 On 12 April 2022, the Council received the Inspector’s Final Report on the 
Examination of the Tewkesbury Local Plan 2011-2031. The Inspectors' Report 
and final Main Modifications can be viewed on the following webpage 
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/tewkesbury-borough-plan-examination-library 
The Local Plan was referred for adoption at a Full Council meeting on 
Wednesday 8th June 2022.

The Adopted Plan

4.21 The Tewkesbury Local Plan 2011-2032 was adopted by Tewkesbury Borough 
Council (TBC) at the Full Council meeting held on 8th June 2022. 

Page 55

https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/tewkesbury-borough-plan-examination-library


4.22 Tewkesbury Local Plan 2011-2032
Relevant policies in this plan include the following:

Policy NAT1 – Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features
Policy NAT3 – Green Infrastructure: Building with Nature
Policy ENV2 – Flood Risk and Water Management
Policy HEA1 – Healthy & Active Communities
Policy TRAC1 – Pedestrian Accessibility
Policy TRAC2 – Cycle Network & Infrastructure
Policy TRAC3 – Bus Infrastructure
Policy TRAC9 – Parking Provision

Report on the Examination of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011-2032

4.23 The planning Inspector reported the Examination into the Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan 2011-2032 on 12 April 2022. Regarding this planning 
application site, the report refers, at paragraph 44 and 45. It states 

“ Bishops Cleeve

44. Bishops Cleeve is one of two Rural Service Centres defined by the JCS 
as the most sustainable settlements in the Borough after Tewkesbury. The 
village has expanded to the north in recent years with three further allocations 
in the submitted plan including ex-allotments site BIS3 which has become 
available for development. The level of recent and planned housing growth 
has led to a requirement for a further primary school and a potential site for 
this has been identified just the north of the village.

45. To ensure effectiveness MM2 modifies site specific Policies BIS2 and 
BIS3 to clarify flood prevention requirements and to specify the need for 
ecological enhancements to the Dean Brook.”

Neighbourhood Plans

4.24 Following the Independent Examination and Referendum, TBC brought the 
Gotherington Neighbourhood Plan (GNP) into legal force, under Section 
38A(4) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 on the 19th 
September 2017. The GNP now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
for the Borough of Tewkesbury.

Chapter 3 Preservation of the Environment “Principles” identify among others  
that “Future new development shall not encroach upon the land that 
separates Gotherington from Bishop’s Cleeve” and “ New development shall 
ensure Gotherington remains a low light pollution area with no street lighting.”

Objective 6 states “To protect the identity of Gotherington and prevent its 
coalescence with Bishop’s Cleeve and Gotherington and Woolstone.”

Page 56



Policy GNDP09 – Protecting and Enhancing the Local Landscape. This policy 
states, in part, “To protect and enhance the landscape of the Gotherington 
neighbourhood development plan area, where appropriate, development 
proposals will have to demonstrate that:

a) The sense of enclosure found in Gotherington village is maintained 
and the strong separation from of Gotherington village from Bishop’s 
Cleeve, Woolstone and the A435 is maintained;”

Policy GNDP11 – Development Outside of the Defined Settlement Boundary. 
This policy states “Outside of the defined settlement boundary land should 
remain predominantly open countryside. New development that preserves 
and enhances this openness, and the countryside setting of Gotherington, will 
be permitted for the following uses:
a) Agriculture;
b) Forestry;
c) Outdoor recreation;
d) Development that supports the growth and diversification of an existing 

rural enterprise;
e) Outdoor and other forms of tourist related development considered suitable 

in the countryside;
f) Conversion of existing buildings;
g) Replacement buildings that are not disproportionately larger than the 

original footprint; and
h) Where evidenced need for additional housing has been established 

through the development plan and cannot be met within the defined 
settlement boundary as set out in Policy GNDP02 of this Plan.” 

The GNP identifies at Appendix 4 – Biodiversity the presence of the following 
at the application site:

Number Source Type Status Comments Area 
(Ha)

5 Natural England 
Priority Habitat 

Inventory v2 2015

Traditional 
Orchard

Priority 
Habitat

0.8037

6 Natural England 
Priority Habitat 

Inventory v2 2015

Traditional 
Orchard

Priority 
Habitat

0.2564

7 Ordnance Survey 
Master Map

Scrub Trees and 
scrub 

around pond

0.1042

5 REPRESENTATIONS

5.1 The application was publicised by site notices dated 24th February 2022 and 
press notice (Gloucester Echo) dated 24th February 2022. The expiry date for 
comments was 17th March 2022. The application was also re-publicised by 

Page 57



site notice on 9th May 2022 (expiry date for comments 30th May 2022) 
following revised highway layout plans.

5.2 85 neighbour notification letters were sent to nearby residential properties with 
comments requested within 28 days of the date of the letter. A further 
neighbour notification exercise was undertaken following the provision of 
revised highway plans.  A total of 19 (as of 10.06.2022) public comments have 
been recorded all of which have objected to the application. No neutral or 
supporting representations were received. Full details of the public comments 
can be viewed online through public access: 

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?act
iveTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=R5N20JHN01600

5.3 Objections received related to the following areas of concern:

 Location;
 Highway concerns relating to

 road safety, 
 parking, 
 Road Traffic Audit (RTA) undertaken outside peak times;
 no drop off areas forcing drivers to use nearby residential areas; 
 Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO) timescales; 
 removal of cycleway/walkway along Evesham Road (linking the Finlay 

Road catchment area to the proposed cycle/walkway at the bottom of 
Sunrise Avenue); 

 impacts of road changes and reduced entrance at Stollards Close 
(Shortening access road, highway manoeuvring implications and 
noise from traffic nearer to houses, change in gradient and ongoing 
flood issues); and 

 enforcement of parking restrictions concerns. 

 Health impact from nearby road;
 Already separate school proposal identified as part of proposed housing 

development;
 Some of the representations refer to more cycleway and walking provision 

being made available from nearby housing development.

6 CONSULTATIONS

Tewkesbury Borough Council (TBC)

6.1 Planning Policy comments from TBC:

“…The development plan for Tewkesbury Borough comprises the ‘saved’ 
policies of the Tewkesbury Borough Plan to 2011 (“the Local Plan”) adopted 
March 2006 and the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core 

Page 58

https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=R5N20JHN01600
https://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=R5N20JHN01600


Strategy 2011 – 2031 (“the JCS”) which was adopted in December 2017.  The 
application site is also within the area covered by the made Gotherington 
Neighbourhood Development Plan 2011 - 2031.

The emerging Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011 – 2031 (eTBP) will be referred 
for adoption at a meeting of Full Council on 8th June 2022.  This follows 
receipt of the examining Inspector’s Report on 12th April 2022, which 
concluded that the plan could be found sound provided the Inspector’s 
recommended Main Modifications are included.  Given its advanced stage, it 
is my opinion that significant weight can be afforded to the eTBP.

The application site is located to the north of Bishops Cleeve, however is 
situated outside of the settlement boundary for the village as defined in the 
emerging Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011 - 2031. There is no policy in the 
eTBP on the general principle of a school development outside of a 
settlement. However, a significant material consideration will be draft Policy 
LAN3 which, as modified identifies the area between Bishops Cleeve and 
Gotherington, bounded by the A435 and Cleeve Road/Gotherington Lane, as 
a Gap of Local Importance.  The proposed school site sits within this gap and 
the policy is clear that permission should only be granted under exceptional 
circumstances. That is where there would be no harm to the separate identity, 
character and/or landscape setting of the two settlements and where the open 
or undeveloped character of the gap would not be significantly adversely 
affected.

In the Reasoned Justification for Policy LAN3 it is recognised that there may 
be opportunities, through appropriate location, siting and design, to 
accommodate some new development in a Gap of Local Importance without 
significantly adversely affecting the open or undeveloped character of the gap, 
or harming the separate identity and character of the settlements, or their 
landscape setting.  It is expected that this would be limited development within 
an existing group of buildings or through the re-use of existing buildings.  

The role of the housing development to the south of the application site, and 
the Old Farmers Arms building to the north, should be carefully considered in 
this context.  I note that the Planning Statement submitted in support of this 
application concludes that the position of the site in between the building to 
the north and development to the south means that coalescence of Bishops 
Cleeve and Gotherington would not be exacerbated.  I would disagree to the 
extent that the north-eastern corner of the application site extends beyond the 
Old Farmers Arms building which has the potential to exacerbate the 
coalescence of the two settlements by setting a precedent of encroachment 
into the gap of local importance.

Importantly, the appropriateness of the siting and design of the school building 
and associated infrastructure within the site will be a key test in respect of 
whether the effect on the open or undeveloped character of the gap of local 
importance is significantly adverse, and in assessing any harm to the 
separate identity, character and/or landscape setting of Bishops Cleeve and 
Gotherington respectively.

Page 59



A further material consideration relevant to this application is the Gotherington 
Neighbourhood Plan, key objectives of which include resisting development 
that would encroach upon the land that separates Bishops Cleeve and 
Gotherington, protecting the identity of Gotherington and preventing its 
coalescence with Bishop’s Cleeve.  Policy GNDP11 of the Neighbourhood 
Plan lists the uses which would be permitted outside of the defined settlement 
boundary for Gotherington, provided the development preserves and 
enhances its countryside setting and openness.  Given that a school use is 
not listed within this policy and that it would encroach into the gap between 
Bishops Cleeve and Gotherington, it is my opinion that there is some conflict 
with the Neighbourhood Plan.

The question of whether the proposed development in principle would be a 
departure from policy will depend on how each material consideration is 
weighed in the decision making process. My opinion is that there is conflict 
with the Gotherington Neighbourhood Plan and potential conflict with Policy 
LAN3 of the eTBP, however this should be considered in the balance 
particularly against the clear public benefit in meeting the need for a new 
school.

Other policy considerations
The following JCS Policies in respect of achieving Sustainable Development 
are applicable:
Policy SD3: Sustainable Design and Construction
Policy SD4: Design Requirements
Policy SD6: Landscape
Policy SD9: Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy SD14: Health and Environmental Quality

Most of the JCS Infrastructure Policies are also applicable and in particular:
Policy INF1: Transport Network
Policy INF2: Flood Risk Management
Policy INF3: Green Infrastructure
Policy INF4: Social and Community Infrastructure
Policy INF5: Renewable Energy / Low Carbon Energy Development

The following eTBP policies should also be taken into consideration, in 
respect of the natural environment, healthy communities and transport and 
accessibility:
Policy NAT1 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features
Policy NAT3 – Green Infrastructure: Building with Nature
Policy ENV2 Flood Risk and Water Management
Policy HEA1 Healthy & Active Communities
Policy TRAC1 – Pedestrian Accessibility
Policy TRAC2 – Cycle Network & Infrastructure
Policy TRAC3 Bus Infrastructure
Policy TRAC9 Parking Provision”

Page 60



6.2 Comments received from the Worcestershire Regulatory Services (WRS) 
(Environmental Health and Licensing)

“WRS on behalf of Tewkesbury Borough Council have reviewed the Noise 
and acoustic feasibility Impact Assessment prepared by Acoustic Consultants 
Ltd ref: 8999/JC.

The report indicates that with mitigation measures in place internal noise 
levels as per “Acoustic Design of Schools: Performance Standards” (2014) 
DfES can be achieved. WRS advise that mitigation measures be adopted as 
per the report.

An assessment of noise from potential external plant has also been 
undertaken, following BS4142:2014 guidance. Plant noise limits have been 
proposed in Table 7 of the report. WRS advise that these Plant Noise limits be 
conditioned to ensure that there are no adverse impacts from noise at the 
nearest sensitive receptor

Subject to the above being implemented, WRS have no adverse comment or 
objection to make in relation to the above application.”

Case Officer comment: the Tewkesbury Local Plan 2011-2032 (TBP) was 
adopted at the TBC Full Council meeting on 8th June 2022. 

6.3 County Councillor Hegenbarth was consulted. No response received.

6.4 Gotherington Parish Council (GPC) – 

“The Council objects to this application:
There is no provision for a drop off point which will force traffic to turn in the 
first available layby and return to kerbside. The applicant wrongly assumes 
that children will be walked to school and does not account for working 
parents dropping off on their way to work in the opposite direction. 
The play space is far too small.
Run-off from the school site will increase the existing flooding on the A435 
by the former ditch site (now a gated housing development) The water 
cannot escape the road due to the new kerbing in place.”

6.5 Bishop’s Cleeve Parish Council – 

Comments received 11 April 2022.

“Whilst the Council does not formally object to the principle of the 
development proposed, as there is an undisputed need for additional primary 
school provision in the parish, the detailed matters are of concern and 
OBJECT on this basis. The Council would ask that the concerns raised below 
are taken into account and additional / revised details prior to determination 
are provided for further consultation and consideration: 

1. ACCESS / ROAD SAFETY ISSUES

Page 61



i) The Council is concerned that the proposed traffic calming measures are 
neither sufficient, nor appropriate, for the proposed new school as the site is 
adjacent to the A435, a busy main road with large numbers of heavy goods 
vehicles. Whilst it is noted that there is a proposal to reduce speed from 
50mph to 40mph, then use wig wag 20mph signs near the school at peak 
school times, the Council is concerned that these speed reductions are 
insufficient and that speeding motorists could cause serious accidents. 
Although there has been an agreement on behalf of the applicant to replace 
the ghost island with a traffic island, which the Council believes is a safer 
option, it has not been agreed that traffic flow will be improved as a result. The 
Council is also concerned that bottlenecks, both of traffic and pedestrians, will 
occur at the toucan crossing as it is the only point of pedestrian and cycle 
access from the Cleevelands and Greenacres estates to the widened shared 
path / cycleway on the east side of A435.

ii) The Council notes that the Interim Travel Plan states that there will be 
direct access to the toucan crossing from the Cleevelands / Greenacre 
housing developments via the new housing development proposed at the 
former Nortenham Allotments site (ITP p13/3.9vi). However, the Nortenham 
Allotment Site application does not provide direct access from the 
Cleevelands and Greenacres developments so this will only be accessible by 
residents from these developments via Sapphire Road. 

iii) The Nortenham Allotment site is yet to be developed and the public right of 
way which runs along the boundary with the A435 will not be accessible whilst 
construction in progress. 

iv) The preferred walking distances stated in the Interim Travel Plan (ITP 
p13/3.11) suggest that an acceptable distance for a child to walk to school is 
1km, with a preferred maximum of 2km. These figures were published in 2000 
- 22 years ago - since when traffic volumes having increased significantly, 
detrimentally impacting on road safety. In addition, more households have all 
adults working, limiting the time that parents / guardians have to walk children 
to school. The Council accepts that it is accepted practice to measure 
distances "as the crow flies" but access from the west side of the A435 is 
currently only from Sapphire Road roundabout which will significantly increase 
journey length for some families, and as such could make the physical 
distance to walk in excess of the above stated preferred distances. It should 
also be noted that weather, pollution and time constraints will all affect 
willingness and / or ability to walk to school every day. 

v) The submitted proposal allows for 80 cycle and 80 scooter places on the 
school site, with the cycle provision appearing to include those for staff as 
well, according to the 3FE hard landscape proposals (EG Carter). Once at full 
capacity - 630 pupils, this will mean that, including nursery children, over 490 
children will be walking, with an additional 160 cycling or scooting, potentially 
resulting in over 1,000 pedestrians, once accompanying parents and other 
siblings are factored in, accessing or egressing the school site within a 
restricted timeframe. However wide pavements are, the Council is concerned 

Page 62



about maintaining pedestrian safety, particularly with shared cycle and 
walkways on the proposed 'Active Travel Corridor' along the A435 and 
Evesham Rd (ITP p15 3.22).

vi) The width of the active travel corridor increases from 3m on Evesham 
Road, to 4.5m at the junction between Valentine Road and Evesham Road to 
5m wide alongside the A435 to the pedestrian entrance to the school. 
However, the pedestrian entrance is only 4.5m wide and will have adults, 
children, bicycles, scooters and prams both entering and exiting. All cycle and 
scooter parking provision is centered around the Reception building, 
principally under the canopy where parents and guardians are meant to wait 
to drop off and collect pupils at the beginning and the end of the day. The 
Council is concerned about the congestion this will cause. The fencing plan 
shows this area to be enclosed by a 1.2m picket fence, effectively only 
allowing access to the scooter racks to Reception classes. The Council 
requires clarification as to how the drop-off and collection of scooters and 
bicycles will be managed in order to promote uptake of the Travel Plan.

vii) The Council is of the opinion that the Cycling / Walking / Scooting 
projections are unrealistic. The ITP compares the Propensity to Cycle Tool 
which states that 1% of children currently cycle to school (ITP p14 3.2) with a 
Cycling Level of Service audit, which measures the performance of cycle 
infrastructure, namely the A435, (ITP p18 3.32 and 3.33). This is not a 
realistic comparison, rendering the comparison meaningless. The Council 
does not accept that even using the comparison of two different tools of 
measurement, the likelihood of cycling figures rising from 1% to 84% is at all 
achievable, and additionally, the ITP does not appear to take account of 
seasonal changes - poor weather, dark mornings and afternoons. 
Furthermore, there is currently no provision for a paved footpath from 
Greenacres and Cleevelands housing estates directly onto the A435, other 
than via Sapphire Road, with any 'created' footpaths turning into quagmires 
for several months of the year making this assertion of projected travel 
method unobtainable.

viii) The Council acknowledges that the GCC Manual for Gloucestershire 
Streets 2020 (p50) states that there should be no drop-off provision for 
educational facilities. However, as this is only guidance it needs to be 
balanced with realistic, practical and above all, safe solutions. The School 
Transport Management Plan (ITP p10 2.37) states "Staff, pupils and parents / 
guardians have first-hand knowledge of issues experienced when travelling to 
the site and can therefore offer realistic approaches to improving access by 
sustainable modes." Also, the ITP (p6 2.15) refers to NPPF paragraph 112 
stating that development should "address the needs of people with disabilities 
and reduced mobility in relation to all modes of transport". In the opinion of the 
Council this cannot be achieved without a drop-off provision. The Council is 
concerned about safety issues if the lack of drop-off facilities results in parents 
dropping their children off near the school, either by utilizing the bus stop or 
lay-bys on the A435. 

Page 63



ix) According to the Office for National Statistics, in 2019, 75.1% of women 
and 92.6% of men with dependent children were in work. Given this high 
proportion of working families, many parents may not have the time to walk 
children to/from school. As the current plan is for the new school to be 
occupied one year group at a time, the Council wishes to point out that 
parents / guardians may well have children at two different school sites, 
making it impossible to deliver their children on time if walking or cycling.

x) Whilst the Council applauds the GCC for promoting its sustainable goals, it 
is of the opinion that these have to be managed in a fair and realistic manner. 
The proposed plans currently have 50 car parking spaces for the entire 
school. Whereas this should be sufficient for staff by incorporating car-sharing 
as proposed, the Council is concerned that there is a lack of additional spaces 
for community engagement on the site.

xi) The Council notes the proposed parking restrictions to be imposed within 
the vicinity of the school in the McLoughlin Planning Statement (p13 4.17) 
Urban Clearway Traffic Regulation Order and (p13 4.18) Parking Restrictions 
Traffic Regulation Order. However, these Orders are for Evesham Road, 
Greenacre Way and Sunrise Avenue, with no proposed restrictions on the 
adjoining roads, such as Valentine Road, Conway Drive or on the 
Cleevelands or Greenacre housing estates on the west of the A435. In the 
Council's opinion there will be a ripple effect of parents parking on roads 
adjacent to those with restrictions. Traffic Restriction Orders are only effective 
if there is proper and continual enforcement of the regulations, so the Council 
requests that residents be given assurances that these will be carried out on 
an on-going basis.

2) POTENTIAL FLOODING ISSUES

i) The Council has concerns about the proposal to position the main building 
along the southern edge of the site as contained in the current application, 
particularly given that the southwest corner of the site is in Flood Zone 3. The 
Design and Access Statement (p15) claims that "The location of the building 
on the site has been positioned to avoid the sensitive areas of ecology on the 
site" yet it is positioned so that the build takes place over the existing pond 
and part of the remaining orchard. The Council believes that the position of 
the building as proposed in Option 4 (Design and Access Statement p14) 
would avoid the need to fill in the pond and position the building furthest from 
Deans Brook, both of which currently help to mitigate the effects of excess 
water on the site.

ii) The Council objects to the decision to fill in the existing pond and cover it 
with the car park. Although the car park has semi-permeable surface and 
proposed mass cellular storage beneath (Hydrock Drainage Strategy Report 
p7 5.6) the soil underneath is "dense clay" and "the pond (not lined) had 
approximately 500mm deep water in the dry summer months indicating the 
ground is not suitable for soakaways." As such the Council is of the opinion 
that the loss of the pond could lead to unnecessary flood events. The pond 

Page 64



currently takes storm water from Badham's Head Office site via a pipe which 
possibly overflows into a natural ditch alongside the pond. As the applicant 
has not been able to ascertain the exact outflow point, the Council seeks 
clarification regarding the proposed discharge of storm water from the 
Badham site and is concerned about the increased risk of surface water 
flooding and run-off once the pond has been filled in. "Surface levels will be 
designed to ensure finished levels fall away from the building to ensure 
excessive amounts of surface water bypass the building and flow towards the 
southern boundary of the field towards the watercourse, or off site to the 
highway to the eastern (sic) boundary." (Hydrock Drainage Strategy report p7 
5.7) The Council is of the opinion that discharge of excess water onto the 
highway seems particularly inappropriate given that this will predominantly be 
at the access / egress point.

iii) The new ponds "have been specifically designed as only having an 
ecological function" (DAS p22) yet the Hydrock Drainage Strategy Report 
states "further detailed design is required to determine the available capacity 
and how to control the discharge rate between the 3 no. ponds to utilise all 
available capacity to prevent flooding." (p7 5.6). The Council therefore seeks 
clarification as to the actual purpose of these new ponds.

iv) The Council notes that there are no plans to widen the culvert that runs 
beneath the A435 despite the Hydrock Flood Risk Assessment (p20 5.6.4) 
stating "The significant impact of a culvert blockage to flood risk on-site 
highlights the critical need for regular maintenance in order to mitigate the 
increased flood risk." It also states that the proximity of Deans Brook 
increases the risk of flooding at the entrance / exit of the site and the car park; 
"these access points are indicated to be at 'high' risk of surface water flooding. 
As such, it is proposed that safe access and egress is addressed through a 
Flood Evacuation Management Plan which highlights the flood risk to visitors 
and details the procedures to follow in the event of a Flood Warning from the 
EA being issued for the area." (Hydrock Flood Risk Assessment p23 7.2.2). 
Such an event would directly affect the ability of school to open. The Council 
wishes it to be noted that houses opposite the site have already flooded and 
is also concerned about the increased risk of road traffic accidents if surface 
water runs onto the A435. 

v) Within the site itself the Council notes that on the Hydrock Proposed 
Finished Levels Plan, the football pitches and running track at the southern 
portion of the site are up to 2m above floor level of the school building. 
However, the retaining walls are level with the playing surface which the 
Council believes could lead to flooding issues if the positive drainage system 
proposed has limited effect due to the impermeable nature of the soil.

vi) With regards to sewerage on site, the Hydrock Drainage Strategy report 
notes the unknown position of the foul water pipe from Badhams. "Badham 
Pharmacy Office foul water drains to a pump chamber within their site on the 
boundary of the proposed school. The rising main outlet heads to the direction 
of the main proposed school and discharges to a Public Sewer in Evesham 
Road near the Valentine Road junction. Survey works have been carried out 

Page 65



but are unable to establish the route across the proposed school land." 
Hydrock Drainage Strategy Report (p3 2.2). "This rising main is likely to 
conflict with the new development and will either need to be diverted within 
the site from source to sewer or connected to the new foul system on site." 
Hydrock Drainage Strategy Report (p4 4.1). The Council would point out that 
positioning the school as suggested in Option 4 (Design and Access 
Statement p14) would avoid this problem.

3) POTENTIAL DESIGN ISSUES

i) The Council is of the opinion that the school has been designed to fit the 
site, rather than an appropriate site being found. As it is likely to be the last 
large primary school built in the area, it is important that it is fit for purpose 
and provides a legacy for the community it serves.

ii) The decision to position the school along the southern edge of the plot 
seems counter-intuitive, particularly given the Design and Access Statement 
(pp21/22) which states "During the design process, considerable efforts were 
focussed on retaining both remnant orchards, field pond, hedgerows and 
trees.......Visual analysis was used to identify that the location of least visual 
harm for the main school buildings was towards the south-east..." The Council 
would argue that positioning the school in the north-east of the plot (option 4) 
would avoid associated flooding risks, retain the existing hedgerows, orchard 
and pond and also reduce the noise and pollution levels from the busy A435.

iii) The boundary of the school runs along the A435, a very busy main road 
which carries a lot of heavy goods vehicles. The Council is of the opinion that 
the health and safety issues regarding road safety and pollution levels have 
not been adequately addressed in this proposal. Local knowledge suggests 
that levels of stationary traffic will increase markedly during peak school drop-
off times, both due to increased traffic levels and the frequent use of the 
Toucan Crossing. The subsequent pollution caused by stationary traffic will be 
emitted at a height most likely to affect children walking to school. With 
regards to local highway safety, Cotswold Transport Planning obtained 
Personal Injury Collision (PIC) data from Gloucestershire County Council for 
the last five years up to June 2021, which showed that no PIC's had occurred 
within the vicinity of the assessment site. As a result, they concluded "it is 
considered that there is no existing safety issue on the local highway network 
that could be exacerbated by the development proposals." The Council 
suggests that adding between four and six hundred primary school children, 
with accompanying adults, bicycles, scooters and prams along a stretch of 
road that previously had practically no pedestrians will indeed exacerbate 
safety issues.

iv) The proposed development falls within the criteria set by the Department 
for Education 'Area Guidelines for Mainstream Schools' Building Bulletin 103. 
However, all the proposed areas are at the extreme lower end of acceptable 
and as a result have no scope to be adapted or expanded if required in the 
future. Given the continued residential building in the parishes of Gotherington 

Page 66



and Bishop's Cleeve and the projected over subscription to the existing 
primary schools in the area, it would seem appropriate to create a building 
that had scope to be 'future proofed'. The McLoughlin Planning Statement (p6 
3.8) refer to SD4 - Design requirements of the Joint Core Strategy. The 
Council does not agree that the principles of Safety and security and 
Inclusiveness and Adaptability have been met.

v) On the Hydrock proposed finished levels plan the grassed playing fields are 
between 1.5m and 2.0m above the finished floor levels of the main school 
building. The Council is concerned about the retaining wall on two counts. 
Firstly, the Fencing Plan shows the pitches next to the retaining wall are 
fenced with a 1.2m high timber palisade picket fence. In order to completely 
prevent the risk of falls onto the concrete below, the Council considers that 
1.8m green steel mesh fencing would be a safer option. Secondly, the Council 
is concerned about the potential for run-off and subsequent flooding / water 
damage in times of heavy and prolonged rainfall. The finished floor levels 
(FFE) shown on this plan are 48.0m which either lies flush to ground level or 
100mm above ground level, whereas the Hydrock Flood Risk Assessment 
(p23 7.2.1) states "it is recommended that, where possible, the ground floor 
thresholds are set above the adjacent ground levels by a minimum of 300mm, 
either by raising the floor level above existing ground levels or sloping ground 
levels away from the building".

vi) The Fencing Plan appears to suggest that the ecological ponds (which are 
not clearly shown) will be located behind a 1.5m high timber palisade fence 
with close fitting boards and accessed via a gate from the pedestrian 
walkway. However, the Fencing plan does not show any fencing around or 
between the three ponds, which in the Council's opinion poses an 
unnecessary health and safety risk.

To conclude, Bishop's Cleeve Parish Council is strongly of the opinion that 
this site is not a suitable site option for a new primary school given its location 
adjacent to the A435, but in view of the undisputed need for an additional 
primary school on the north side of the village accepts that this site has to be 
considered. However, it is not acceptable to cram a school on to a piece of 
land that will potentially result in poor conditions for future staff and pupils due 
to the minimum standards being applied to this design in all areas. The poor 
location, both in terms of its positioning adjacent to the A435 and its position 
on the site itself demonstrates that this is an ill thought out application, with 
conflicting and incomplete information which will potentially lead to flooding 
and health and safety issues in using the site. At the very least this application 
needs further details submitted and a rethink of its orientation.”

  Comments received 9 June 2022:

        “Response to revised drawing SK11 Rev I: Sheet 1 of 3: Site Access & Active Travel    
Improvements

The Council strongly objects to the proposed changes on SK11 Rev I Sheet 1- namely the 

Page 67



decision to replace the guardrails at the pedestrian access and the footpath above the 
vehicular junction with "a 2.5m verge for planting".
The Council believe that guardrails are a far safer option for the following reasons:
1. A guardrail is more likely to prevent or reduce impact were a vehicle to mount the 
pavement
2. A planted verge will not prevent people, pets or items such as balls from potentially 
running out into oncoming traffic
3. Planting needs regular maintenance, otherwise it will become overgrown and may 
obscure the drivers' view
4. Removal of the guardrail in favour of planted verge will encourage drivers to pull 
alongside and drop pupils off in the absence of a safe dropping off zone.
In addition, the Council wishes to raise a point regarding the comments made by the 
Highway Authority.
With reference to paragraph seven, the Council notes the contradictory statements made 
within it. The Highway Authority acknowledges that parents will chose to drive and drop off 
children - 
"It is likely that there will be some degree of drop-off associated to a 'linked trip'". 
As the school is going to be occupied one year group at a time, many families will have 
children at different schools and need to use a car to ensure they arrive on time. Similarly, 
there are many families where both parents work and need to continue on to their jobs. 
However, later in the same paragraph it states 
"Give (sic) the accessibility of the proposal and the supporting measures a drop off area is 
not needed and is not desirable."
As the 'supporting measures' relate to parking restrictions closer to the school, this simply 
shifts the problem onto adjacent streets, rather than resolving it by providing a safe, time-
limited, accessible drop-off zone by the school.”

6.6 Natural England (NE) raise no objection to the application, stating:

“Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 
development will not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected 
nature conservation sites. Natural England’s generic advice on other natural 
environment issues is set out at Annex A.”

NE go on to advise:

“ Protected Landscapes – Cotswolds AONB 

The proposed development is for a site within or close to a nationally 
designated landscape namely Cotswolds AONB. Natural England advises that 
the planning authority uses national and local policies, together with local 
landscape expertise and information to determine the proposal. The policy 
and statutory framework to guide your decision and the role of local advice 
are explained below. 

Page 68



Your decision should be guided by paragraph 172 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework which gives the highest status of protection for the 
‘landscape and scenic beauty’ of AONBs and National Parks. For major 
development proposals paragraph 172 sets out criteria to determine whether 
the development should exceptionally be permitted within the designated 
landscape. 

Alongside national policy you should also apply landscape policies set out in 
your development plan, or appropriate saved policies.

We also advise that you consult the relevant AONB Partnership or 
Conservation Board. Their knowledge of the site and its wider landscape 
setting, together with the aims and objectives of the AONB’s statutory 
management plan, will be a valuable contribution to the planning decision. 
Where available, a local Landscape Character Assessment can also be a 
helpful guide to the landscape’s sensitivity to this type of development and its 
capacity to accommodate the proposed development. 

The statutory purpose of the AONB is to conserve and enhance the area’s 
natural beauty. You should assess the application carefully as to whether the 
proposed development would have a significant impact on or harm that 
statutory purpose. Relevant to this is the duty on public bodies to ‘have 
regard’ for that statutory purpose in carrying out their functions (S85 of the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act, 2000). The Planning Practice Guidance 
confirms that this duty also applies to proposals outside the designated area 
but impacting on its natural beauty. 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest Impact Risk Zones 

The Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(England) Order 2015 requires local planning authorities to consult Natural 
England on “Development in or likely to affect a Site of Special Scientific 
Interest” (Schedule 4, w). Our SSSI Impact Risk Zones are a GIS dataset 
designed to be used during the planning application validation process to help 
local planning authorities decide when to consult Natural England on 
developments likely to affect a SSSI. The dataset and user guidance can be 
accessed from the data.gov.uk website 

Further general advice on the consideration of protected species and other 
natural environment issues is provided at Annex A.”

Full comments are available on Public Access.

6.7 Sport England (SE) 

SE responded initially on 7th February 2022 providing the following comment. 
“Sport England – Non Statutory Role and Policy

The Government, within their Planning Practice Guidance (Open Space, 
Sports and Recreation Facilities Section) advises Local Planning Authorities 

Page 69



to consult Sport England on a wide range of applications. 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-space-sports-and-recreation-facilities-
public-rights-of-way-and-local-green-space#open-space-sports-and-
recreation-facilities 

.
This application falls within the scope of the above guidance as it relates to 
the creation of new playing fields.

Sport England assesses this type of application in light of the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and against its own planning objectives, 
which are Protect - To protect the right opportunities in the right places; 
Enhance - To enhance opportunities through better use of existing provision; 
Provide - To provide new opportunities to meet the needs of current and 
future generations. Further information on the objectives and Sport England’s 
wider planning guidance can be found on its website:

https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-
planning/planning-for-sport

The Proposal 

Construction of a 3 Form Entry (3FE) Primary School, New Vehicular Access 
and Ancillary Works.  The school proposes to have 3 junior football pitches, a 
running track, 2 rounders pitches  and 2 Multi Use Games areas, (MUGAs).   

Playing Field Design

The Tewkesbury Playing Pitch strategy, whilst it is out of date, does show a 
deficit of mini and junior football and these pitches will help to address this if 
opened up for community use.  I also note that Gotherington playing field 
hosts Cheltenham and District rounders league.

The three under 9/under 10 football pitches are shoe horned in and the back 
to back layout of two football pitches is poor practice.  The most western pitch 
does not appear to fit correctly with its run-off area hitting the boundary to the 
north west and ramp to the south east.  This is badly designed. The north 
pitch can and should be pushed further north to create a good separation from 
the pitch to the south.

Whilst it is good to see some summer sports – athletics running track with a 
100m straight and 2 rounders pitches, it is disappointing that there is no junior 
cricket provision, given the county’s reputation for cricket.  This is a lost 
opportunity. The 100m straight is tight on the southern boundary and should 
be moved 2-4m away from this boundary. 

There is no detail on the construction of the playing fields which can be 
addressed via condition.

There are no details on the MUGAs, surface construction, any sports lighting. 
Again this can be addressed by condition. 

Page 70

https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-


Summary

While the playing field layout is very poor, the designer could easily address 
this by creating a better layout which could include: moving some of the 
pitches and running track, reducing one of the pitches to an under 7/under 8 
football pitch.  

I think there is a need to have the pitches available for the community, which 
can be covered by a community use agreement. 

Recommendation 

By providing new pitches that could help address established playing pitch 
deficiencies, the proposal would meet objective 3, and therefore Sport 
England supports this application in principle.

Sport England recommends that a ground conditions assessment is 
undertaken by a sports turf specialist/agronomist who can recommend a 
scheme for preparing the playing fields to the required specification. The 
recommended scheme should then be implemented. Detailed guidance on 
the issues that require consideration is set out in Sport England’s guidance 
‘Natural Turf for Sport’.  A copy of this guidance can be found at: 

https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-
and-cost-guidance/outdoor-surfaces 

Conclusion

This being the case, Sport England offers its support for this application, as it 
is considered to meet Objective 3 as set out above.

Sport England recommends, based on our assessment, that if the Council is 
minded to approve the application, the following planning conditions should be 
imposed.

Case officer comment: Following the consultation response, the applicant 
revised the outdoor sports provision. SE were reconsulted and provided the 
following updated consultation response and planning conditions.

“ I welcome the changes in pitch layout and I accept the comments they make 
about the reasons for lack of cricket.

I do think it is a mistake not even put the trunking in to allow for sports lighting 
in the future.  Other LA/LEAs see the benefit of having sports lighting on 
MUGAs even in primary schools.

I welcome the fact the MUGA is to have a polymeric surface, but I would still 
like to see the construction details to ensure it is construction to the industry 
good practise.

Page 71

https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/facilities-and-planning/design-


My conditions are based on good practice to ensure the sports facilities are fit 
for purpose.  They are recommendations.  I note what the applicants states 
about community use, I would counter with the fact central government see 
schools as centres of local community, and to ensure this happens a 
community use agreement is the best solution.

Conclusions

As in my previous email response dated 7th February 2022, Sport England 
offers its support for this application.  

I still would recommend the following conditions are attached to the planning 
permission, should it be granted:

1. No development shall commence until details of the layout of playing 
fields and the design of the Multi Use Games Areas have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority [after consultation 
with Sport England]. The Multi Use Games Areas shall not be constructed 
other than in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to 
accord with Development Plan Policy **.

2. No development shall take place unless and until:
a) A detailed assessment of ground conditions of the land proposed for 
the new playing field land shall be undertaken (including drainage and 
topography) to identify constraints which could affect playing field quality; and 
b) Based on the results of this assessment to be carried out pursuant to 
(a) above of this condition, a detailed scheme to ensure that the playing fields 
will be provided to an acceptable quality (including appropriate drainage 
where necessary) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority after consultation with Sport England.

The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme 
within a timescale to be first approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority after consultation with Sport England.

Reason: To ensure that site surveys are undertaken for new or replacement 
playing fields and that any ground condition constraints can be and are 
mitigated to ensure provision of an adequate quality playing field and to 
accord with LP Policy ** 

3. The playing field shall be used for Outdoor Sport and for no other 
purpose (including without limitation any other purpose in Class F1 Use 
Classes Order 2020, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any 
statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification).

Page 72



Reason: To protect the playing field from loss and/or damage, to maintain the 
quality of and secure the safe use of sports pitch/es and to accord with LP 
Policy **.

4. Prior to the bringing into use of the playing fields and Multi Use Games 
Area, a Management and Maintenance Scheme for the facility including 
management responsibilities, a maintenance schedule and a mechanism for 
review shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority after consultation with Sport England. The measures set out in the 
approved scheme shall be complied with in full, with effect from 
commencement of use of the playing fields and Multi Use Games Areas.

Reason: To ensure that new facilities is capable of being managed and 
maintained to deliver playing fields and Multi Use Games Areas] which is fit 
for purpose, sustainable and to ensure sufficient benefit of the development to 
sport (National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) para 99) and to accord 
with LP Policy ** 

5. Within 12 months of the first site inspection by building control, a 
community use scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority [after consultation with Sport England]. The scheme 
shall apply to playing fields, Multi Use Games Areas, Car parking and toilet 
provision and shall include details of pricing policy, hours of use, access by 
non-educational establishment users, management responsibilities, a 
mechanism for review and a programme for implementation. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented upon the start of use of the development [or 
other agreed timescale] and shall be complied with for the duration of the use 
of the development.

Reason: To secure well managed safe community access to the sports 
facility, to ensure sufficient benefit to the development of sport and to accord 
with LP Policy **.

If you wish to amend the wording of the recommended condition(s), or use 
another mechanism in lieu of the condition(s), please discuss the details with 
the undersigned. Sport England does not object to amendments to conditions, 
provided they achieve the same outcome and we are involved in any 
amendments.

The absence of an objection to this application, in the context of the Town and 
Country Planning Act, cannot be taken as formal support or consent from 
Sport England or any National Governing Body of Sport to any related funding 
application, or as may be required by virtue of any pre-existing funding 
agreement.

If this application is to be presented to a Planning Committee, we would like to 
be notified in advance of the publication of any committee agendas, report(s) 
and committee date(s). We would be grateful if you would advise us of the 
outcome of the application by sending us a copy of the decision notice.”

Page 73



6.8 Severn Trent Water – No objections subject to drainage conditions.
“The development hereby permitted should not commence until drainage 
plans for the disposal of foul and surface water flows have been submitted to 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority, and
The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
before the development is first brought into use. This is to ensure that the 
development is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage as well as to 
prevent or to avoid exacerbating any flooding issues and to minimise the risk 
of pollution.”

6.9 Wales and West Utilities – No objections raised and provided extract of 
mains records in area.

6.10 Western Power Distribution (WPD) – WPD provided a plan showing existing 
WPD Electricity / WPD Surf Telecom apparatus in the vicinity of the proposed 
works. 

7.0 STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE OBSERVATIONS

7.1 GCC Highway Authority (HA)

The HA provided the following responses:

5 April 2022:

“Gloucestershire County Council, the Highway Authority acting in its role as 
Statutory Consultee has undertaken a full assessment of this planning 
application. Based on the appraisal of the development proposals the 
Highways Development Management Manager on behalf of the County 
Council, recommends that this application be deferred. 

The justification for this decision is provided below. 

The Highway Authority has undertaken extensive internal discussions relating 
to this proposal, and despite engaging in pre application conversations it is 
considered that a revision to the access design is needed to provide a more 
desirable solution to assist is speed management and providing a comfortable 
and attractive environment for pedestrians. 

Drawing SK11 D produced by Cotswold Transport Planning demonstrates the 
proposed ghost lane and pedestrian guardrail to give pedestrian protection. 
The A435 in this location is proposed to be subject to a speed limit alteration 
to enclose this proposal but give the traffic volume and vehicle size it is not 
possible to install physical feature to reduce speed. It is therefore necessary 
to ensure that the environment reflects the desired limit. Whilst the 
carriageway is being reduced to 6.5m the ghost lane provides a wide 
carriageway and allow vehicle speeds to be maintained through the junction. 
The traffic generated by the proposal does not warrant a ghost lane and as 
such it is deemed more desirable to remove it and reallocate that road space 

Page 74



to provide improved pedestrian space and to provide trees and landscaping 
as a more desirable method of protecting pedestrians than the guard railing.   
This will allow a significant amount of railing to be removed, and have 
advantages to speed management, green infrastructure provision and further 
encourage active travel. 

It is therefore recommended that the access design be amended to exclude 
the ghost lane and reuse the space to provide a more sensitive pedestrian 
environment utilising landscaping and reducing the amount of railing. 

The Highway Authority therefore submits a response of deferral until the 
required information has been provided and considered.”

Following submission of revised plans the HA commented on 29 April 2022:

“Gloucestershire County Council, the Highway Authority acting in its role as 
Statutory Consultee has undertaken a full assessment of this planning 
application. Based on the appraisal of the development proposals the 
Highways Development Management Manager on behalf of the County 
Council has no objection subject to conditions.

The justification for this decision is provided below.

The Highway Authority previously commented on the 5th April 2022 indicating 
that the access required modification to make it less engineered and to 
increase the amount of landscaping in lieu of guard railing, this was to provide 
a more pleasant environment for walking and support the traffic management 
features to help reduce vehicle speeds in the vicinity of the site.

The application seeks to provide a 3-form primary school and nursery, and 
primarily looks to service the needs of the new developments on the north of 
Bishops Cleeve. The site is highly accessible on foot and scooter and is 
considered to sit within a walking neighbourhood, as such the access strategy 
correctly maximises active travel infrastructure and limits vehicle provisions.

The proposal will result in the realignment of the A435 to provide a 5 metre 
wide active travel route, provide a new controlled crossing, narrow the road to 
6.5m and introduce traffic regulation orders to lower the speed limit to 40mph 
and provide a clearway order to prevent indiscriminate parking. Furthermore, 
improvements are made to the Evesham Road to ensure that the walking, 
scooting and cycling offer is maximised. An advisory 20mph at school opening 
and closing times will apply through a ”school safety zone” to further highlight 
the additional activity at this time. These measures provide a high quality 
connection into Bishops Cleeves existing walking and cycling infrastructure 
which in turn promotes active travel and reduces the need to travel by car.

The applicant has provided a travel plan and this is considered to be 
comprehensive and seeks to achieve a minimum of “silver” rating within the 
Modeshift Stars scheme. The travel plans officer does comment that 
additional measures should be encouraged specifically targeted at staff 

Page 75



relating to E-bikes, liftshare and incentives for shared and mass transport 
solutions. It is suggested that the identified travel plan coordinator for the 
school be a staff member who has sufficient time to implement the proposal 
rather than a senior staff member who may be occupied achieving education 
outcomes.

It is noted that several public comments raise concern about the absence of 
parent drop off areas and the potential implications of its absence. The 
applicant and Highway Authority have specifically considered this matter 
before the application was submitted, and the provision of drop off areas is 
strongly discouraged as it encourages car trips, in this location the school is 
highly accessible to the surrounding residential area and as such the provision 
of parent parking would adversely weigh against the sustainable credentials of 
the proposal. To ensure that the A435 is protected a legal order preventing 
drop off is to be provided, furthermore existing residential junctions may be 
subject to parking restrictions to maintain safety. It is likely that there will be 
some degree of drop off associated to a “linked trip”, these can be accepted 
on existing streets for the short duration that they occur and this in its own 
right does not lead to a safety or capacity issue that would conflict with 
paragraph 111 of the NPPF. Given the accessibility of the proposal and the 
supporting measures a drop off area is not needed and is not desirable and as 
such the proposal is fully accepted in this regard.

The cost of the works including ancillary traffic management, road lighting and 
the legal orders to facilitate the TRO’s, waiting restrictions and advertisement 
of controlled crossings will need to be met by the applicant and funded as part 
of the technical designs checking works. These processes can take many 
months and are considered to be essential to achieve a suitable scheme, as 
such the application should look to progress these upon the granting of any 
planning consent and conditions are proposed to prevent occupation until they 
are in place.

As a result of the active travel measures and parking management proposals 
the proposal does not result in a severe impact on capacity, nor does it 
adversely impact on safety. The proposals to look to improve existing active 
travel infrastructure and proposes wide routes on the A435 to cater for the 
expected high levels of walking trips by pupils and their escorts, this is 
supported with complementary green infrastructure and travel planning 
measures. The proposal correctly reacts to the road user hierarchy and looks 
to reduce the need to travel by car, it is therefore considered that there is no 
justifiable reason to recommend refusal.

It is recommended that the following conditions be included in any decision 
notice.

Conditions

Completion of Access Works

Page 76



The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the 
means of access for vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists have been constructed 
and completed as shown on drawings SK11 Rev I, SK 12 Rev F and SK13.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety.

Highway improvements (Details not provided)

The Development hereby approved shall not commence until drawings of the 
highway works comprising:
 School Safety Zone on A435
 Proposed street trees and landscaping on the A435 and future 
management plan

Have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority; 
and the building shall not be occupied until those works have been 
constructed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the safe and free flow of traffic onto the highway.

Grampian Traffic Regulation Order – 40 Mph Speed Limit A435
The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until a traffic 
regulation order (TRO) relating to the provision of a 40mph speed limit on the 
A435 north of Bishops Cleeve fronting the development has been 
implemented.

Reason: To Restrict impact and harm until suitable mitigation is delivered.

Grampian Traffic Regulation Order – Clearway A435

The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until a traffic 
regulation order (TRO) relating to the provision of a clearway order on the 
A435 north of Bishops Cleeve fronting the development has been 
implemented.

Reason: To Restrict impact and harm until suitable mitigation is delivered.

Grampian Traffic Regulation Order – Waiting Restrictions

The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until a traffic 
regulation order (TRO) relating to provide waiting restrictions at the junctions 
of Evesham Road/Valentine Road and Evesham Road/Greenacres Way have 
been implemented.

Reason: To restrict impact and harm until suitable mitigation is delivered.

Employment Travel Plan (Plan Approved)

The School Travel Plan hereby approved, dated December 2021 shall be 
implemented and monitored in accordance with the regime contained within 

Page 77



the Plan. In the event of failing to meet the targets within the Plan a revised 
Plan shall be submitted, within 6 months,  to the CPA for approval in writing by 
the Planning Authority to address any shortfalls, and where necessary make 
provision for and promote improved sustainable forms of travel to and from 
the site. The submitted details shall use Modeshift STARS to carry out this 
process and include mechanisms for monitoring and review over the life of the 
development and timescales for implementation. The approved Travel Plan 
shall be implemented, monitored and reviewed in accordance with the 
approved details 

Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable travel. 

Parking Facilities 

Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved a maximum of 53 
car parking spaces, a minimum of 5 accessible spaces, a minimum of 80 
Bicycle spaces, a minimum of 80 scooter spaces, a minimum of 2 motorcycle 
spaces and a minimum of 7 electric vehicles spaces, shall be provided. These 
spaces should be maintained throughout the lifetime of the planning 
permission. 

Reason: to ensure suitable parking facilities are provided to support the 
development. 

Construction Management Plan 

Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted details of a 
construction management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to 
throughout the demolition/construction period. The plan/statement shall 
include but not be restricted to: 
 Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures 

taken to ensure satisfactory access and movement for existing 
occupiers of neighbouring properties during construction); 

 Advisory routes for construction traffic; 
 Any temporary access to the site; 
 Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and 

construction materials;
 Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway;
 Arrangements for turning vehicles;
 Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles;
 Joint Highway Condition survey; 
 Methods of communicating the Construction Management Plan to staff, 

visitors and neighbouring residents and businesses. 

Reason: In the interests of safe operation of the adopted highway in the lead 
into development both during the demolition and construction phase of the 
development.

Informatives

Page 78



Works on the Public Highway

The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of work on the 
adopted highway. You are advised that before undertaking work on the 
adopted highway you must enter into a highway agreement under Section 278 
of the Highways Act 1980 with the County Council, which would specify the 
works and the terms and conditions under which they are to be carried out.

Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development 
Management Team at highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
allowing sufficient time for the preparation and signing of the Agreement. You 
will be required to pay fees to cover the Councils costs in undertaking the 
following actions:

Drafting the Agreement
A Monitoring Fee
Approving the highway details
Inspecting the highway works

Planning permission is not permission to work in the highway. A Highway 
Agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed, 
the bond secured and the Highway Authority’s technical approval and 
inspection fees paid before any drawings will be considered and approved.

Traffic Regulation Order (TRO)

You are advised that a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) is required. You must 
submit a plan to scale of an indicative scheme for a TRO, along with 
timescales for commencement and completion of the development. Please be 
aware that the statutory TRO process is not straightforward; involving 
advertisement and consultation of the proposal(s).

You should expect a minimum of six months to elapse between the Highway 
Authority’s TRO Team confirming that it has all the information necessary to 
enable it to proceed and the TRO being advertised. You will not be permitted 
to implement the TRO measures until the TRO has been sealed, and we 
cannot always guarantee the outcome of the process.

We cannot begin the TRO process until the appropriate fee has been 
received. To arrange for a TRO to be processed contact the Highway 
Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management Team at 
highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.

The cost of implementing any lining, signing or resurfacing required by the 
TRO is separate to the TRO fees, which solely cover the administration 
required to prepare, consult, amend and seal the TRO.

Street Trees

Page 79

mailto:highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov


All proposed street trees must be suitable for transport corridors as defined by 
Trees and Design Action Group (TDAG). Details should be provided of what 
management systems are to be included, this includes root protections, 
watering and ongoing management. Street trees are likely to be subject to a 
commuted sum.

Impact on the highway network during construction

The development hereby approved and any associated highway works 
required, is likely to impact on the operation of the highway network during its 
construction (and any demolition required). You are advised to contact the 
Highway Authorities Network Management Team at 
Network&TrafficManagement@gloucestershire.gov.uk before undertaking any 
work, to discuss any temporary traffic management measures required, such 
as footway, Public Right of Way, carriageway closures or temporary parking 
restrictions a minimum of eight weeks prior to any activity on site to enable 
Temporary Traffic Regulation Orders to be prepared and a programme of 
Temporary Traffic Management measures to be agreed.

Construction Management Plan (CMP)

It is expected that contractors are registered with the Considerate 
Constructors scheme and comply with the code of conduct in full, but 
particularly reference is made to “respecting the community” this says:

Constructors should give utmost consideration to their impact on neighbours 
and the public

 Informing, respecting and showing courtesy to those affected by the 
work;

 Minimising the impact of deliveries, parking and work on the public 
highway;

  Contributing to and supporting the local community and economy; and
 Working to create a positive and enduring impression, and promoting 

the Code.

The CEMP should clearly identify how the principal contractor will engage with 
the local community; this should be tailored to local circumstances. 
Contractors should also confirm how they will manage any local concerns and 
complaints and provide an agreed Service Level Agreement for responding to 
said issues.

Contractors should ensure that courtesy boards are provided, and information 
shared with the local community relating to the timing of operations and 
contact details for the site coordinator in the event of any difficulties.
This does not offer any relief to obligations under existing Legislation.”

7.2 GCC as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) 

Page 80



“The Flood Risk Assessment and drainage strategy submitted with this 
application show that the development can proceed providing a school that 
will be safe from flooding and without increasing flood risk elsewhere. The 
LLFA has no objection to this proposal.
We would advise that the proposed lengthening of the culvert under the A435 
will require consent under the 1991 Land Drainage Act. Given that the Dean 
Brook classified as an ordinary watercourse to the east of the A435 and a 
main river to the east of the A435 consents will need to be sought from both 
the Environment Agency and the Tewkesbury Borough Council.

NOTE 1: The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) will consider how the 
proposed sustainable drainage system can incorporate measures to help 
protect water quality, however pollution control is the responsibility of the 
Environment Agency

NOTE 2: Future management of Sustainable Drainage Systems is a matter 
that will be dealt with by the Local Planning Authority and has not, therefore, 
been considered by the LLFA.

NOTE 3: Any revised documentation will only be considered by the LLFA 
when resubmitted through suds@gloucestershire.gov.uk e-mail address. 
Please quote the planning application number in the subject field.”

7.3 GCC County Archaeologist

“I advise that the application area was subject to full archaeological evaluation 
at pre-application stage, and no significant archaeology was found to be 
present.

In my view there is a low risk that archaeological remains will be adversely 
affected by this development proposal. Therefore, I recommend that no 
archaeological investigation or recording need be undertaken in connection 
with this scheme.”

7.4 GCC County Ecologist

Initial comments received 15/02/2022 these can be viewed in full under 
“documents” tab “associated documents”

Summary of recommendation: Further information and/or clarification 
required.

Concluding comments:
“ Given the scale of development planned for this site the proposals to remove 
the remnant orchard habitat is not entirely surprising. However, given other 
habitat will be ‘temporarily’ lost too there is a question here as to whether 
other alternative sites were feasible for this school. Of course, the existing 
habitats do not seem to be being managed as favourably for biodiversity as 
they could and the development provides a mechanism to address this. 

Page 81



Planning Statement at 4.47 reports the proposal should return a biodiversity 
net gain of 11.95 in habitat units and 21.21 % in linear (hedgerow) units. This 
is dependent on the mitigation, creation and aftercare management measures 
being successfully implemented. The aftercare management is a long 
commitment for GCC/the new school.

The County Ecologist went on to recommend conditions and informatives to 
the applicant. Additional consultation comments were received on 11/03/2022 
stating:

“Since making my observations on the proposals additional and changed 
information has been submitted which may be relevant to biodiversity. The 
following has been presented to the County Planning Authority:

1. Landscape & Visual Addendum
2. Agent’s response letter dated 08/03/2022 to Sport England
3. Agent’s response letter dated 08/03/2022 to GCC Landscape & Visual 
Consultant
4. Plan 9546-RLL-A-PL101 - 2FE Proposed Site Plan (Phase 1) is 
superseded by 9546-RLL-A-PL101 Rev A
5. Plan 9546-RLL-A-PL102 - 3FE Proposed Site Plan (Phase 2) is 
superseded by 9546-RLL-A-PL102 Rev A

Taking an ecological standpoint only the new layout changes (items 4 & 5 
above) should have no significant changed implications for biodiversity.

In item 3 it is surprising to note that there are no apple trees on site currently. 
The tree survey previously submitted confirms the presence of apple trees 
which are scattered and in poor condition. We are advised that the absence of 
apple trees is clarified in Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) report and 
Environmental Management Plan. In respect of the BNG report I don’t believe 
such a report has been submitted yet? I already have a pre-determination 
request out to have sight of a BNG Feasibility and Design Stage Report where 
claims of a biodiversity net gain of 11.95% in habitat units and 21.21 % in 
linear (hedgerow) units is derived from.

Please note that item 1 presents four revised proposed landscaping drawings 
as follows:

1. Soft Planting Proposals Phase 1 Drawing L35 Rev S04 dated 
04.03.2022

2. Soft Planting Proposals Phase 1 Drawing L32 Rev S03 dated 
04.03.2022

3. Hard Landscape Proposals (Phase 1) Drawing L36 Rev S04 dated 
03.03.2022

4. Hard Landscape Proposals (Phase 2) Drawing L33 Rev S03 dated 
03.03.2022

These show some small variations in grass and tree plantings. Whilst these 
should not significantly affect ecological outcomes, we must now have a 

Page 82



proper BNG report submitted to reflect these and assert BNG claims. The up 
to date BNG report must include a re-run of the biodiversity metric based on 
the latest landscaping drawings. The claimed figures for BNG need to as 
accurate as they can be for such a large development. We need to be sure 
that overall, the ecological changes that will occur as a result of allowing this 
development can be acceptable overall.

I can confirm my previous observations (memo dated 15/02/2022) are now 
varied as shown below.

The following items should be addressed to be able to be able to consent the 
proposed development. If this is not possible then the planning application 
should be refused or withdrawn.

Pre-determination:
• 1. Item - A returned biodiversity net gain of 11.95% in habitat units and 
21.21 % in linear (hedgerow) units is claimed [derived from a BNG Feasibility 
and Design Stage Report which has not been submitted]. To be firmly 
assured of a real overall gain for biodiversity of this order the Planning 
Authority needs to have sight of an up to date BNG calculation which takes 
account of new varied landscape drawings recently submitted (4 in number). 

• 2. Item - It is not clear whether the applicant is going to apply for a 
traditional great crested newt European Protected Species development 
licence or a District version. In respect of the latter GCC as Planning Authority 
could authorise a District licence after appropriate documentation 
(certification) has been submitted via NatureSpace. The District licence for 
Greater Crested Newts (GCN) is the better solution as this is a complex 
project covering works across a main site and nearby highways plus GCC 
being the developer, highways authority and planning authority. Confirmation 
of the approach to be taken should be sought before the planning application 
is determined in my view.

Determination:

Once the further information above has been received I can give you final 
advice on conditions and informatives that should be attached to any consent 
to make the development acceptable.

Currently I envisage all or some of the following DRAFT items should be 
attached to any planning consent granted:

1. Condition – Scope of Development to include the latest Soft 
Landscaping Plans for the main site and highways

2. Conditions possibly for GCN District Licensing if chosen

3. Condition – Prior to the commencement of the development a 
confirmed Tree Protection Plan based on Appendices 4 to 6 of the 

Page 83



Arboricultural Assessment dated December 2022 must be submitted 
for approval in writing by the County Planning Authority.

4. Condition – Approval of the Biodiversity Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) (as is or edited to take account of a GCN 
District Licensing approach) which should be implemented alongside 
the general CEMP.

5. Condition – Mitigation and enhancement measures for the associated 
highways as set out at 6.2 to 6.8 of the Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal dated November 2021 and within the two Soft Landscape 
Proposals – Off-Site Highways Works drawings dated December 22nd 
2021 are approved and should be implemented. 

6. Condition - During the construction phase all hazardous chemicals, if 
left on site overnight, are to be secured and any excavations covered 
or designed with one sloped side or ramp in place. Also, all open pipes 
to be capped off overnight that are larger than 150mm outside 
diameter. All excavations to be filled in as soon as is practicable.

Reason: As a precaution to ensure the site is made safe from 
environmental pollution and that animals including those legally 
protected are prevented from becoming trapped within excavations. In 
accordance with Local Plan Policy X, ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus 
National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 179 and 185. This is 
also in accordance with Section 40 of the Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities Act 2006 (as amended), which confers a general 
biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities.

7. Condition – The Landscape Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) 
(Reference DLA.2046.RPT.LEMP.01.V03) and the Ecological 
Management Plan at Appendix B of the LEMP is approved and should 
be implemented. If they are not referencing out of date landscape 
drawings (e.g., there are new ones submitted in March 2022).

8. Condition – External Lighting scheme based on 5.14 to 5.16 of the Bat 
Roost Presence/Absence Survey Report dated September 2021.

9. Condition – After December 2023 no works shall take place on the 
development site until further surveys for badger activity and presence 
of any bat roosting in trees on the site are carried out and submitted to 
the County Planning Authority for consideration before works 
commence or resume.

Reason: As a precaution to ensure the site is made safe from 
environmental pollution and that animals including those legally 
protected are prevented from becoming trapped within excavations. In 
accordance with Gloucestershire Minerals/Waste Local Plan Policy X, 
ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy Framework 
paragraphs 179 and 185. This is also in accordance with Section 40 of 

Page 84



the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (as 
amended), which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local 
Authorities.

10. Informatives possibly for GCN District Licensing if chosen

11. Informative - If a protected species (such as any bat, great crested 
newt, dormouse, badger, water vole, otter, white-clawed crayfish, any 
reptile, barn owl or any nesting bird) is discovered using a feature on or 
next to the site that would be affected by the development or related 
works all activity which might affect the species at the locality should 
cease. If however, such discoveries can be dealt with satisfactorily by 
the implementation of the mitigation measures in the Biodiversity 
Construction Environmental Management Plan that has been drawn up 
by your ecological advisor and approved by the County Planning 
Authority then these should be implemented. Otherwise, a suitably 
experienced ecologist should be contacted, and the situation assessed 
before works can proceed. This action is necessary to avoid possible 
prosecution and ensure compliance with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Protection of Badgers Act 
1992. This informative should be passed on to any persons or 
contractors carrying out the development/works.

12. Informative - In relation to the County Council’s Service Level 
Agreement with the Local Biological Records Centre and to assist in 
the strategic conservation of countywide biodiversity, all species and 
habitat records from the ecological work commissioned by the 
applicant should be copied [if not already] to the Gloucestershire 
Centre for Environmental Records (GCER).

If GCN District Licencing is being sought and the development is consented 
then a GCN District Licence will need to be formally authorised by GCC as 
Planning Authority in the usual manner.

It is my view that the above advice is in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF), Planning Policy Guidance (PPG), ODPM Circular 
06/2005, Natural England’s Standing Advice, and with Section 40 of the 
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (as amended) which 
confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities whilst exercising 
their functions. Opportunities to produce measurable gains for biodiversity 
have been considered (NPPF paragraph 175(d)).”

7.5 GCC Minerals and Waste Planning Authority 

“Assessment of waste minimisation matters – compliance with adopted 
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Core Policy WCS2 - The application 
has demonstrated waste minimisation matters have been considered. 
However, further details to achieve effective implementation with the 
development will be necessary.
No objection subject to recommended conditions”

Page 85



The following conditions were advised 
“Standard condition for waste minimisation during site preparation, design and 
construction 

No below or above ground development shall commence until a detailed site 
waste management plan or equivalent has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The detailed site waste management 
plan must identify: - the specific types and amount of waste materials forecast 
to be generated from the development during site preparation & demolition 
and construction phases; and the specific measures will be employed for 
dealing with this material so as to: - minimise its creation, maximise the 
amount of re-use and recycling on-site; maximise the amount of off-site 
recycling of any wastes that are unusable on-site; and reduce the overall 
amount of waste sent to landfill. In addition, the detailed site waste 
management plan must also set out the proposed proportions of recycled 
content that will be used in construction materials. The detailed site waste 
management plan shall be fully implemented as approved unless the local 
planning authority gives prior written permission for any variation.

Reason –To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation and 
resource efficiency measures in accordance with adopted Gloucestershire 
Waste Core Strategy: Core Policy WCS2 – Waste Reduction and adopted 
Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire Policy SR01.

Standard condition for waste minimisation during occupation 

No above-ground development shall commence until full details of the 
provision made for facilitating the management and recycling of waste 
generated during occupation have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. This must include details of the appropriate 
and adequate space and infrastructure to allow for the separate storage of 
recyclable waste materials. The management of waste during occupation 
must be aligned with the principles of the waste hierarchy and not prejudice 
the local collection authority’s ability to meet its waste management targets. 
All details shall be fully implemented as approved unless the local planning 
authority gives prior written permission for any variation.

Reason - To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation and 
resource efficiency measures in accordance with adopted Gloucestershire 
Waste Core Strategy: Core Policy WCS2 – Waste Reduction”

Assessment of resource efficiency in construction matters - compliance with 
adopted Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire Policy SR01

“The application has demonstrated that consideration has been given to the 
use of secondary and / or recycled aggregate in the proposed development’s 
design and construction- No objection raised and no further action is 
recommended at this time.”

Page 86



Assessment of waste management infrastructure safeguarding - compliance 
with adopted Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Core Policy WCS 11

“The application site is not within close proximity to / or contain existing 
safeguarded waste management infrastructure and / or land allocated for this 
purpose. No objection raised and no further action is recommended at this 
time.”

Assessment of mineral infrastructure safeguarding - compliance with adopted 
Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire Policy MS02

“The application site does not adjoin or contain within it existing safeguarded 
mineral infrastructure. No objection raised and no further action is 
recommended at this time.” 

Assessment of mineral resource safeguarding - compliance with adopted 
Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire Policy MS01

“The application site is not located within a local Mineral Safeguarding Area 
(MSA) or is exempt from safeguarding requirements as set out under Table 2 
of the Minerals Local Plan for Glos. No objection raised and no further action 
is recommended at this time.”

Other comments include: “For clarification, as advised in June 2021, the 
proposal does require a Mineral Resource Assessment. Officer confirmed at 
that time, that a recorded Mineral Safeguarding Area (MSA) designation for 
the site was only in respect of an area of stand-off / buffer to support any 
future working of nearby resources should this be pursed. No mineral 
resources of potential economic importance are present across the site. In the 
absence of any existing working of nearby resources or proposals to do so in 
the future, little weight can be afforded to seeking to safeguard the land 
exclusively for access purposes at this time.”

7.6 County Landscape Advisor

Atkins GCC Landscape Consultant

Comments received 10/02/2022

“…the submitted documents and drawings and have a number of points I 
would be pleased if you would raise with the applicant for clarification:

Whilst the Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) confirms that the site 
lies within the Strategic Gap planning designation, as defined by the TBC Pre-
Submission Local Plan policy LAN3, and that it lies outside the current 
Bishops Cleeve development boundary; the significance of this appears 
downplayed. The adjacent application site, to the other side of the A435 is 
shown on drawings but there is no assessment of landscape and visual 
impacts with or without this being approved.

Page 87



I am concerned that, whilst the ecological and hedgerow surveys identify both 
the orchard and the majority of the hedgerows as Habitats of Principle 
Importance and make recommendations for, ideally, their retention; the LVIA, 
whilst some of the early sketches indicate retention, it makes no reference to 
the ecology surveys and seeks to justify loss on the basis of, for the orchard, 
that it “no longer supports associated industries. There is no obvious evidence 
of community access or cultural celebrations such as wassailing or apple 
day.” And, for the hedgerows that they “lack sufficient woody species to 
qualify as important; hedgerows vary in condition, these being moderate to 
poor and with limited prominence”. It would be helpful if the applicant could 
clarify if landscape or ecological assessment takes priority?

There is reference within the LVIA to hedgerow translocation along the A435 
boundary; but this doesn’t appear to be reflected in the planting plans?

Drawings L38.1 and L38.2 show off-site hedgerow and associated works. It 
would be helpful to understand what length of new hedgerow planting is 
proposed and how this relates to the ratio of 3:1 proposed by the ecologists 
as appropriate compensation?

There is, in various places, reference to difficulties identifying the pear and 
apple cultivars, to identifying the pear but no clarity on the apple and to the 
potential to use the existing trees as a source of graft wood. It would be 
helpful if this could be clarified and confirmed and a rationale provided for the 
selection of only one cultivar of apple and pear? I note also that the size of the 
fruit trees to be planted is not scheduled on the planting plans.

The planting plans provide species, sizes and contribution to mixes but do not 
specify planting densities. Can this please be provided for shrubs and 
hedging.

The main building is generally described as being two storey; however on the 
elevations only the floor levels are given. The first floor in parts appears 
higher than might be expected by the description. It would be helpful to have 
top of roof heights provided.

Linked to the above it would be helpful to have landscape sections through 
the site to extend, where relevant to the housing to the other side of the brook.

I note there is extensive remodelling of ground levels to achieve level pitches 
and buildings, this particularly to the southern boundary and to sections of the 
eastern and western boundaries. It would be helpful if the applicant could 
confirm that, on the southern and eastern boundaries, this will not adversely 
impact the RPAs of existing trees and hedgerow?

The Proposed Finished Levels Plan shows a retaining wall of up to circa 2m in 
height cutting the site in two from east to west. The LVIA is silent on the 
impact of this and none of the documents appear to detail finishes, safety 

Page 88



railings etc nor detail the steps and ramp indicated. This information should be 
provided.

Further retaining walls are shown parallel to the main road but again there are 
no details and the contours on the plan don’t appear to provide for them?

No details are provided of any site security fencing, of fencing to the MUGAs 
or grass pitches nor of any external lighting. This is needed as is its 
assessment in the LVIA in terms of visual impact.

I am concerned that there are two different management plans; one for 
ecology and one for landscape and ecology. Their proposals differ 
considerably, for example the ecology one covers the “orchards” and sets 
long timescales for management and survey to ensure biodiversity goals are 
met whereas the Landscape and Ecology plan makes no mention of the 
orchards and appears limited to a 5-year period. Can this please be 
addressed?

The LVIA spends a considerable time describing the landscape design 
development, which would be better set out in the DAS, but is very light and 
inexact on the actual assessment of the impact of the development and the 
effects of mitigation. This needs to be reviewed and addressed.

In conclusion, there appears to be a lot of inconstancies in the submission 
and a lack of coordination, particularly between the landscape and ecological 
submissions. I remain of the opinion that this seems an exercise in making the 
school fit the site, rather than to have sought either a larger site or proposed a 
smaller development. This in part makes it more unfortunate that the final 
scheme loses highly valued orchard, hedgerow and pond. The loss of these 
needs revisiting.”

Additional information comments received on 17/03/2022:

“…our further comment on the additional information supplied in respect of the 
above application and for our subsequent discussion. I have reviewed the 
documents and would make the following comments:

1. There is reference to information in some of the ecological reports 
being superseded by the BNG Report. I don't recall seeing that and can't see 
it separately named on the portal? I note the County Ecologist has also 
expressed concern that this needs to be provided before recommendations 
are finalised.

2. The revised landscape drawing appears bound into the LVIA 
Addendum. It would be helpful if these were issued separately so that those 
previously submitted can be marked as superseded on the portal.

3. I see that the layouts have been amended in response to Sport 
England's comments. I think it would be helpful if the proposed contour and 
levels drawing was also amended. Details on the retaining walls have yet to 

Page 89



be provided and in my previous comments I asked for clarification on the 
retaining walls shown parallel to the main road, which don’t appear on the 
sections?

4. There is reference to a fencing plan having been submitted again as 
part of the revised documents, but I can't see this scheduled on the portal? I 
have had another look since we talked but still can’t see this – could you 
please ask the applicant for a copy?

5. I note the housing application to the other side of the main road has 
now been withdrawn. Taking this into account, I find the reasoning (under 
1.24 in the LVIA addendum) that the fact the Old Farmers Arms is to the north 
of this application and thus the strategic gap is not reduced, hard to 
understand. The old pub would have predated the strategic gap designation 
and thus would have been taken into account in setting the area.

6. I am pleased to see the LVIA Addendum better sets out the 
assessment of landscape and visual impacts. I am concerned that the table 
shows a significant number of the assessed impacts either remain at major 
adverse or are only mitigated to moderate after 15 years. Can you please ask 
the applicant to review the scope for additional mitigation to reduce these to a 
more acceptable level?”

Additional information comments received on 20/04/2022:

“ … I’ve reviewed the information you attached and also the formal 
consultation and further documents on the portal. One minor point is that the 
drawing referenced in the BNG report are now superseded by the most 
recently submitted ones.

The clarifications provided by the applicant are appreciated and I think have 
gone as far as they can to address my landscape and visual concerns. 
Probably the key statement is that in the LVIA addendum where their 
response to the potential for further mitigation is (Para 1.11) “the proposals 
are already maximising the land use available for planting trees and allowing 
hedgerows to mature within reason”. There is too little space on the site!
In terms of both the landscape and visual mitigation and the BNG set out in 
the now submitted report; my major concern is achievability? The BNG report 
states that:

1.3 The net gain achievements above are dependent on strict adherence to 
the Ecological Management Plan (EMP) (Keystone Ecology, 2021m) and 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP_ (Keystone Ecology, 
2021n).

It also, under 9.1 requires monitoring and reporting at intervals up to 30 years 
to ensure the just over 11% gain is achieved.

Page 90



Similarly, the mitigation of landscape and, in particular, visual impacts is 
dependent on the new landscape being managed over a similar time frame to 
achieve those aims.

Were this a minerals or waste application we would be able to enter into 
formal agreements and/or apply conditions to ensure this was achieved. 
However, with a County Education project my concern is that, if the normal 
handover to the school to maintain the landscape after the initial year’s 
defects period happens, there is no mechanism to ensure what is a complex 
and densely planted scheme with specific maintenance skills required to 
achieve the design and biodiversity aims as well as ongoing ecologist input for 
monitoring…..”

Additional consultation comments received on 04/05/2022:

“….been back onto the portal and reviewed the most recent comments and 
objections.

The majority of objections relate to site selection and size and to the highway 
issues, especially safety. On the latter, I see that as of yesterday the County 
Highways dept have no objections to the scheme subject to conditions. I think 
I have commented sufficiently on the suitability of the site size and note that 
others, including Sport England share those concerns. The final view is one 
for you in the round on planning issues.

With regard to landscape and visual matters; I note Gary’s very helpful 
observations on the difficulties of ensuring future adherence to the BNG 
monitoring and management requirements. It is reassuring that GCC will be 
appointing a new Biodiversity Officer; which may help in future enforcement if 
required. Subject to the additional information Gary is awaiting and his review 
of that in meeting BNG requirements; then I don’t believe I need any further 
information from the applicant. Once Gary is satisfied then I concur that 
landscape and visual matters can be dealt with by condition. These I would 
anticipate would cover the following:

1) Successful grafting of sufficient existing fruit tree material onto 
rootstock to meet the requirements of the landscape scheme prior to 
removal of the existing orchard trees.

2) Implementation of the soft landscape scheme as per the application 
drawings and documents.

3) Implementation of the hard landscape scheme as per the application 
drawings and documents. Final details of materials, finishes, 
equipment to be submitted for approval.

4) Implementation of tree and hedgerow protection, as per the submitted 
arboricultural reports, prior to commencement of works on site.

Page 91



5) An appropriately worded condition to cover the implementation and 
future management of off-site landscape works.

6) An appropriately worded condition (and, if possible formal agreement 
with GCC Education Dept) to ensure the future maintenance and 
management of the landscape scheme to ensure the design aims and 
30 year BNG monitoring and reporting requirements as set out in the 
application documents are met.

Lastly, with regard to the issue of retaining walls, I am content to let that be as 
per the applicant’s clarifications that those originally indicated parallel to the 
main road are not included in the scheme.”

Additional comments received 13/06/22:

“further comment on the application having regard to the statement from 
Natural England regarding assessing the impact of the application on the 
setting of the AONB and rights of way within it.
The Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (05 January 2022  ref 
DLA/2046/LVIA/RPT/01/V2) notes in section 3.3 (Landscape Character) 
under paragraph 3.3.1 that the Site lies within National Character Area (NCA) 
106 Severn and Avon Vales context of AONB.
Section 4 relates to the views from the AONB, in particular from PRoW no. 
AG038 from Nottingham Hill on an elevated position to the east of the site 
and, PRoW no. ASM16 / Cotswold Way, on Cleeve Hill, further to the south-
west
Section 7 of the LVIA assesses the predicted effects of the proposed 
development and the effects on natural beauty and special qualities of the 
AONB. Paragraph 7.4.12 states:
“The main considerations in respect of the setting to the AONB is the potential 
impact on the contribution to tree cover and hedgerow pattern. The site does 
not border the foot of the lower slopes and therefore the small area of 
grassland, hedgerows and trees within it, do not form a direct continuation of 
the AONB into its immediate setting. The proposals will retain and enhance 
Dean Brook and therefore the connection of this watercourse from the 
escarpment to the River Severn, remains intact. The redevelopment of the 
site will result in the loss of a small area of grassland at a location more 
remote from the immediate setting. The magnitude of change will therefore be 
Minor to Negligible Adverse and permanent.” 
Paragraph 7.4.15 states:
“Overall, the site does not make sufficient contribution to warrant it being 
strongly characteristic of the AONB or its setting. Consequently, the effect on 
its setting is Negligible”.
In addition the subsequently submitted “Landscape and Visual Addendum – 
Further Information” (Dated 30.03.2022), notes in paragraph 1.8  that:
“With reference to Figure 1.1, the area of the gap designation is 136.12ha. 
The area of the application site is 2.62ha. Therefore, the site represents the 

Page 92



loss of just 3.5% of open, undeveloped land within the gap. The harm that 
occurs to the site is therefore localised, and will not significantly adversely 
affect the open and undeveloped character of the overall gap.”
Taking the above into account and having given consideration to the impacts 
on the AONB; I would concur with the applicant’s assessment that the effects 
on the setting of the AONB and views from PROWs within the AONB will be 
negligible.”

7.7 Atkins GCC Glint/Glare/Lighting Advisor

Comments received on 24/02/2022 referred to parts of the “Solar Photovoltaic 
Glint and Glare Study dated 21/01/2022” as tracked changes. The full 
document with comments is available on Public Access. 

A revised document was submitted on 31/03/2022. The consultant comments 
as such “I have reviewed the revised Glint and Glare report submitted on 31st 
of March. Most of our earlier comments have been considered and more 
information has been provided where it was required. I have made just a few 
observations again, which are mainly to do with the results and corresponding 
comments for the reflections towards the dwelling units.”

The comments refer to referencing matters within the report as well as 
improved landscape screening mitigation which cannot be controlled outside 
the site boundary. It is suggested that vegetation/trees are located on site 
within proximity of solar panels or in the line of sight of the reflection.

Again, the full document with comments is available on Public Access. 

8.0    PLANNING CONSIDERATION

8.1    The application seeks planning permission for the construction of a new 3FE 
primary school and nursery on land to the south of Badham Pharmacy Head 
Office north of Bishop’s Cleeve. The main considerations material to the 
determination of this planning application are:

 The relevant legislative and planning policy context. This includes 
statutory instruments, the national policy context such as the NPPF and 
the existing Development Plan(s);

 Educational needs in the Bishop’s Cleeve area;
 Site location;
 Highways and transport;
 Ecological impact;
 Landscape impact;
 Flood risk;
 Drainage and sustainable urban drainage;
 Archaeology;
 Design;
 Amenity impact;

Page 93



 Energy efficiency and carbon footprint and its management;
 Community engagement; and 
 Other relevant planning issues.

Planning Policy Context

8.2 The NPPF was revised on 20 July 2021 and sets out the government’s 
planning policies for England and how these are expected to be applied. This 
revised Framework replaces the previous NPPF published in March 2012, 
revised in July 2018 and updated in February 2019. The NPPF states that in 
assessing and determining proposals, the local planning authority should 
apply the presumption in favour of sustainable development, which is the 
main focus of the NPPF in relation to both the plan making and decision 
making process. The NPPF seeks to ensure there are sufficient choice of 
school places available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. 
The NPPF states that transport issues should be considered from the earliest 
stages of the development proposals to ensure that opportunities to promote 
walking, cycling, and public transport are identified and pursued. The NPPF 
requires that built development be sympathetic to the local character and 
surrounding built and landscape environment, whilst optimising the potential 
of the site. It is advised that planning decisions enhance the natural and local 
environment and seek net gains for biodiversity.

8.3 The local policies which forms the Development Plan that are of particular 
relevance to the consideration and determination of this application are the 
JCS (5/12/17), The Tewkesbury Borough Local Plan 2006 (saved policies) 
and the replacement Tewkesbury Local Plan 2011-2031 (TLP). The emerging 
TLP was adopted by TBC’s Full Council on 8th June 2022.

8.4 The planning Inspector reported the Examination into the Tewkesbury 
Borough Plan 2011-2032 on 12 April 2022. Regarding this planning 
application site, the report refers, at paragraph 44 it states 

“Bishops Cleeve

44. Bishops Cleeve is one of two Rural Service Centres defined by the JCS 
as the most sustainable settlements in the Borough after Tewkesbury. The 
village has expanded to the north in recent years with three further allocations 
in the submitted plan including ex-allotments site BIS3 which has become 
available for development. The level of recent and planned housing growth 
has led to a requirement for a further primary school and a potential site for 
this has been identified just to the north of the village.” The Inspector’s Report 
referenced the identification of the proposed site but did not allocate it, rather 
leaving it to the development management policies to decide its 
appropriateness for such development as is proposed in this application.

8.5 TBC has provided planning policy comments regarding the relevant planning 
policies and whether the application departs from policy. The relevant policies 
are referred to under the Consultations responses above. The emerging TLP 

Page 94



was already at a stage where its policies were a material consideration. Of 
particular note was the draft Policy LAN3 in the emerging TLP. This seeks to 
avoid development, except in exceptional circumstances, in the gap between 
the settlements of both Gotherington and Bishop’s Cleeve. 

8.6 Whilst the application site is located to the north of Bishop’s Cleeve, it is noted 
that it is situated outside of the settlement boundary as defined in the TLP 
2011 - 2031. There is no policy in the TLP on the general principle of a school 
development outside of a settlement. TBC planning policy comments identify 
that a significant material consideration would be policy LAN3 which, as 
modified, identifies the area between Bishop’s Cleeve and Gotherington, 
bounded by the A435 and Cleeve Road/Gotherington Lane, as a Gap of Local 
Importance.  The proposed school site sits within this gap and the policy is 
clear that permission should only be granted under exceptional 
circumstances. That is where there would be no harm to the separate identity, 
character and/or landscape setting of the two settlements and where the open 
or undeveloped character of the gap would not be significantly adversely 
affected.

8.7 In the Reasoned Justification for Policy LAN3 it is recognised that there may 
be opportunities, through appropriate location, siting and design, to 
accommodate some new development in a Gap of Local Importance without 
significantly adversely affecting the open or undeveloped character of the gap 
or harming the separate identity and character of the settlements, or their 
landscape setting.  It is expected that this would be limited development within 
an existing group of buildings or through the re-use of existing buildings.  

8.8 The Planning Statement in support of the application concludes that the 
presence of the Badham Pharmacy Head Office (formerly the Farmers Arms) 
and the housing to the south of the site is capable of accommodating the 
proposed development without affecting the Gap of Local Importance and the 
coalescence of Bishop’s Cleeve and Gotherington would not be exacerbated.  
The Tewkesbury Planning Policy consultation response disagrees with this 
view and states “I would disagree to the extent that the north-eastern corner 
of the application site extends beyond the Old Farmers Arms building which 
has the potential to exacerbate the coalescence of the two settlements by 
setting a precedent of encroachment into the gap of local importance.”

8.9 In assessing this, siting and design are key considerations. The proposed 
development has taken advantage of the site’s natural gradient sloping from 
north east to south west with a difference in level of 6m overall. The building, 
albeit two storeys, would be sited at the lower end of the site with playing 
fields to the north towards Gotherington. The playing fields would occupy land 
at a higher ground level than the school. This can be considered to minimise 
the scale of the school building helping to preserve the character and 
openness of the area taken up by playing field provision since this would 
include minimal infrastructure provision. It is acknowledged that fencing would 
be required but this can be designed to be unobtrusive compared to buildings. 
It is noted that there is no community or evening use of these facilities 
proposed as part of this application. Such a use would require further 

Page 95



consideration and may include lighting and changing/storage facilities on site. 
Such facilities would require separate consent controllable by planning 
condition removing permitted development rights at the site.

8.10 The GNP (GNDP09 – Protecting and Enhancing the Local Landscape and 
Policy GNDP11 – Development Outside of the Defined Settlement Boundary 
referred to in section 4 above) does not identify this type of development as 
being appropriate in the Gap of Local Importance. It is therefore a planning 
balance judgement between consideration of the development being allowed 
within the Gap of Local Importance as designed, with its impact not so 
significant to the character of the area against the educational need for the 
development in this location. 

8.11 Regarding whether the proposed development is a departure from 
development plan policy then The County Planning Authority would agree with 
TBC Planning Policy in its response stating “The question of whether the 
proposed development in principle would be a departure from policy will 
depend on how each material consideration is weighed in the decision making 
process. My opinion is that there is conflict with the Gotherington 
Neighbourhood Plan and potential conflict with Policy LAN3 of the eTBP, 
however this should be considered in the balance particularly against the 
clear public benefit in meeting the need for a new school.”

8.12 Further consideration of the other material considerations is discussed below 
which can be considered in whether the proposed development, on balance, 
is acceptable or not. Having said this, at this point, it is considered that the 
proposed development departs from Planning Policy LAN3 in the TBP (2011-
2032) and Gotherington Neighbourhood Plan Policy GNDP09 – Protecting 
and Enhancing the Local Landscape and Policy GNDP11 – Development 
Outside of the Defined Settlement Boundary. Consequently, if the Planning 
Committee are minded to grant planning permission, then the decision would 
need to be referred to the Secretary of State as a departure application. 
Should the application not be “called in” then, following the prescribed time 
period, planning permission could be issued accordingly.

Educational needs in the Bishop’s Cleeve area 

8.13 Gloucestershire County Council is the Local Education Authority (LEA). In 
assessing the need for a new primary school the LEA has provided the 
following justification:

“Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has a statutory duty to ensure there 
are sufficient school places available.

Since 2007 there has been an increase in the birth rate which has, in many 
locations, resulted in a higher demand for school places. There is also more 
demand from new housing, which means there has been an increase in the 
need for primary school places year on year in Bishop's Cleeve.

Page 96



Since 2011 demand has been met by working collaboratively with schools in 
the primary sector to expand and increase the number of pupils they can take 
each year (their Published Admission Number [PAN]). However, the existing 
primary school sites in Bishop's Cleeve aren't able to expand enough to meet 
this increasing new demand so we are proposing to build a new primary 
school.

The new primary school will be built to the north of Bishop’s Cleeve on land 
next to the Old Farmers Arms on Evesham Road. The school will grow in two 
phases, initially opening at 2 Forms of Entry (420 places) from 2024/25, 
growing to 3 Forms of Entry (630 places) approximately seven years after the 
school opens (sometime in the range of 2030-2033).

On 16th December 2020, Cabinet approved the establishment of a new 630 
place (4-11 age range) Primary school in Bishop’s Cleeve to meet the 
additional demand for local Primary school places from September 2023 (date 
since reviewed). 

In 2021, Gloucestershire Learning Alliance were appointed by the Secretary 
of State for Education to be the sponsor for the new school.

More information can be found on the Bishop’s Cleeve webpage.”

8.14 The Planning Statement states “The site does not benefit from an allocation 
for educational uses in the Local Plan, however the need for a new primary 
school has been generated as a result of the additional housing that has been 
constructed in Bishops Cleeve in recent years. The existing primary school – 
Cleeve School and Sixth Form Centre of Excellence – is close to reaching its 
capacity and there is no option for expansion within their existing grounds. 
Furthermore, there are more houses that have been granted planning 
permission in Bishops Cleeve which have yet to be constructed. Once they 
have been constructed and occupied the population of Bishops Cleeve will 
grow further and the demand for more primary school places will be even 
greater.”

8.15 Paragraph 95 of the NPPF states “It is important that a sufficient choice of 
school places is available to meet the needs of existing and new communities. 
Local planning authorities should take a proactive, positive and collaborative 
approach to meeting this requirement, and to development that will widen 
choice in education. They should:

a) give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools through the 
preparation of plans and decisions on applications; and

b) work with school promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to 
identify and resolve key planning issues before applications are submitted.”

8.16 The LEA is best placed to advise the CPA on the educational needs of an 
area. It considers that there is a definite need for a primary school that is 
future proofed pupil number wise to accommodate the existing and projected 

Page 97



increase in primary school places that is expected to occur when new houses 
are built in the area. 

8.17 JCS Policy INF4 point 3 seeks to ensure that social and community 
infrastructure should be centrally located to the population it serves and be 
easily accessible on foot and by bicycle. It should be located so as to have the 
potential to be well served by public transport. Developers should aim to 
provide flexible, multifunctional facilities within mixed-use developments, 
creating shared space which maximises benefits to the community and 
minimises land-take. The CPA is satisfied that there is sufficient reasoned 
justification that a new school is required in the Bishop’s Cleeve area. 
Through basic need projections taking into consideration natural population 
growth, new housing development in the area and maximising capacity at 
existing schools, the applicant has demonstrated that there is a need for a 
new primary school within this area.  

8.18 The CPA are aware of the NPPF Paragraph 95 (above) which gives great 
weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools in decisions on planning 
applications and has worked with school promoters, delivery partners and 
statutory bodies in identifying and resolving key planning issues before and 
during the submission of the application. Overall, the CPA considers the 
proposal is in accordance with Policies SP1 and INF4 of the JCS.

Site Location

8.19 Prior to submission of the application a site options appraisal was undertaken. 
Several sites were considered in and around Bishop’s Cleeve that may be 
suitable for a primary school development. The agent considered an analysis 
of options for a new primary school at Bishop’s Cleeve. Having considered the 
options, the current site was chosen to progress with a planning application. It 
is noted that the agent states that “no sequential test requirement for 
education development within the NPPF or any other planning guidance, 
which means an application cannot be refused because an alternative site in 
Bishops Cleeve is considered to be more suitable. The application must 
simply be assessed on its own individual merits. Sequential tests only apply to 
out-of-town retail developments and those within a Flood Zone, neither of 
which are applicable in this case.

The overriding point to consider with planning policies relating to the 
construction of new schools is that there is a presumption in favour to permit 
this type of development. In other words, the default position is for new 
schools to be permitted, unless adverse impacts are identified that would 
outweigh the benefits of a new school.”

8.20 The agent also provided the following comment regarding site location “There 
were no sites large enough within the settlement boundary for a new primary 
school and GCC cannot expand existing primary schools to cater for the 
number of new school places required as these are already saturated. Land to 
the east of Bishops Cleeve is in the AONB which provides a significant 
constraint both topographically, as this land is the escarpment of the Cotswold 

Page 98



Hills (i.e. too steep), and from a landscape sensitivity standpoint. The land to 
the south of Bishops Cleeve is in the Green Belt which provides another 
significant planning constraint. The land to the west of Bishops Cleeve either 
has planning permission for other development or was not commercially 
available. This leaves the northern fringe of Bishops Cleeve as the only place 
available to develop a primary school which also turns out to be the most 
logical place as it is the northern fringe where the settlement has expanded in 
recent years, i.e. this is where the demand for new primary school places is 
concentrated.”

8.21 The application site is located to the north of Bishop’s Cleeve in an area 
where housing development has and is expected to continue to be developed. 
In this sense it is well located to minimise travel through Bishop’s Cleeve to 
access the school site from residential properties. The site itself, whilst not 
being free of constraints, is considered to be suitable for development of the 
chosen school design and associated infrastructure. The site is an 
undeveloped parcel of land with an area of 2.5 hectares located on the 
eastern side of the A435, approximately 200m to the north of the junction with 
Evesham Road, at the northern end of Bishop’s Cleeve. The site is located 
outside of the Cotswolds AONB and the SLA. Regard has been had to the 
impact of the development on the setting of the AONB. The CLA has 
commented on this aspect of the proposed development and concluded 
“having given consideration to the impacts on the AONB; I would concur with 
the applicant’s assessment that the effects on the setting of the AONB and 
views from PROWs within the AONB will be negligible.” Having considered 
the applicant’s submissions including the LVIA and addendum, the CLA 
technical appraisal and advice, the distance from the AONB and the design 
and scale of the development it is not considered that the proposed 
development would have a significant impact on or harm that statutory 
purpose of the designation. The site is not within a Flood Zone but it does 
contain a pond in the south-west corner and the southern boundary is defined 
by a watercourse known as Dean Brook which forms the boundary between 
the Parishes of Bishop’s Cleeve and Gotherington and also marks the 
settlement boundary for Bishop’s Cleeve.

In conclusion, having considered the planning constraints, it is considered, on 
balance, that the site is an acceptable location for the school development.

Highways and Transport

8.22 Paragraph 104 of the NPPF states that transport issues should be considered 
from the earliest stages of the development proposals so that opportunities to 
promote walking, cycling and public transport are identified and pursued.  The 
environmental impacts of traffic and transport need to be assessed and taken 
account of for avoiding and mitigating any adverse effects and for net 
environmental gains.  

8.23 The applicant had undertaken pre-application discussions with the Highway 
Authority (HA) prior to submission of the application which informed the 
Transport Statement submitted with the application. The initial submission, 

Page 99



including a Travel Plan along with associated plans, were considered by the 
HA. The HA, on 5th April 2022, recommended that the application be deferred 
with the following justification:

“The Highway Authority has undertaken extensive internal discussions 
relating to this proposal, and despite engaging in pre application 
conversations it is considered that a revision to the access design is needed 
to provide a more desirable solution to assist is speed management and 
providing a comfortable and attractive environment for pedestrians.

Drawing SK11 D produced by Cotswold Transport Planning demonstrates the
proposed ghost lane and pedestrian guardrail to give pedestrian protection. 
The A435 in this location is proposed to be subject to a speed limit alteration 
to enclose this proposal but give the traffic volume and vehicle size it is not 
possible to install physical feature to reduce speed. It is therefore necessary 
to ensure that the environment reflects the desired limit. Whilst the 
carriageway is being reduced to 6.5m the ghost lane provides a wide 
carriageway and allow vehicle speeds to be maintained through the junction. 
The traffic generated by the proposal does not warrant a ghost lane and as 
such it is deemed more desirable to remove it and reallocate that road space 
to provide improved pedestrian space and to provide trees and landscaping 
as a more desirable method of protecting pedestrians than the guard railing. 
This will allow a significant amount of railing to be removed, and have 
advantages to speed management, green infrastructure provision and further 
encourage active travel.

It is therefore recommended that the access design be amended to exclude 
the ghost lane and reuse the space to provide a more sensitive pedestrian 
environment utilising landscaping and reducing the amount of railing.

The Highway Authority therefore submits a response of deferral until the 
required information has been provided and considered”

8.24 The applicant submitted revised drawings for consideration by the HA. 
Following consideration of the revisions the HA, on 29 April 2022, raised “no 
objection subject to conditions.” The HA consultation response is detailed 
above in the consultations section of the report at paragraph 7.1. 

8.25 GPC and Bishop’s Cleeve Parish Council (BCPC) have raised an objection to 
the application on highway safety grounds. Several nearby residents raise 
concerns on highway safety grounds. The Parish Councils’ representations 
are detailed in full above. 

8.26 The main theme raised by objectors is the lack of parental drop off provision 
at the school and the safety of young children travelling to the school by foot 
or other means. The BCPC states “The Council is of the opinion that the 
Cycling / Walking / Scooting projections are unrealistic. “and “The Council 
acknowledges that the GCC Manual for Gloucestershire Streets 2020 (p50) 
states that there should be no drop-off provision for educational facilities. 
However, as this is only guidance it needs to be balanced with realistic, 

Page 100



practical and above all, safe solutions.” The HA in response is satisfied that 
the safety of children, parents and staff is accommodated for in the highway 
design. The highway design promoted has deliberately accepted the lack of 
drop off/pick up provision as part of sustainable travel requirements promoted 
by local and national policy. The HA accepts that an inevitable consequence 
of this is that parents will drop off pupils further away from the school entrance 
and/or park in residential streets nearby.

8.27 Concerns have been expressed regarding the proposed Travel Plan regarding 
the walking distances and routes available. BCPC state “The preferred 
walking distances stated in the Interim Travel Plan (ITP p13/3.11) suggest 
that an acceptable distance for a child to walk to school is 1km, with a 
preferred maximum of 2km. These figures were published in 2000 - 22 years 
ago - since when traffic volumes having increased significantly, detrimentally 
impacting on road safety….”. In response the HA is satisfied with the content 
of the submitted Travel Plan. 

8.28 The HA has further commented regarding highway concerns raised. Relating 
to road safety, the HA advises that the proposal has had professional input 
from the designer’s side and GCC side by qualified road safety auditors. A 
safety audit has been undertaken and further ones will take place during the 
detailed design checking process and post construction. Regarding parking 
concerns, the HA comments that whilst there is no dedicated drop off area, 
measures are proposed to ensure that the highway network is protected. 
Given the ease of access to the site on foot for a significant part of the 
community it is considered there is unlikely to be high levels of parking 
demand at the site in any event. Regarding reference to road traffic audit the 
HA comment that several site appraisals and reviews have taken place and 
more will occur during construction. Regarding the concern that there are no 
drop off areas which would force drivers to use nearby residential areas, the 
HA respond that it is a walking neighbourhood and the proposal supports 
walking and scooting reducing the need to drive. Legal orders are proposed to 
protect the A435 and some junctions which might otherwise have been 
subject to parking. 

8.29 Regarding concerns relating to removal of cycleway/walkway along Evesham 
Road (linking the Finlay Road catchment area to the proposed cycle/walkway 
at the bottom of Sunrise Avenue), the HA comment that this proposal 
improves the walking and cycling infrastructure between the A435 and 
Sunrise Avenue. No alterations are proposed on Evesham Road south of the 
Sunrise Avenue roundabout from this proposal. Regarding the impacts of road 
changes and reduced entrance at Stollards Close (Shortening access road, 
highway manoeuvring implications and noise from traffic nearer to houses, 
change in gradient and ongoing flood issues), the HA comment that whilst 
changes are proposed they are all contained within the public highway and 
space is provided between the carriageway and gates to allow a car to wait 
without overhanging. Typically, a 5m setback would be required and this 
distance is exceeded. Regarding enforcement of parking restrictions 
concerns, the HA comment that this is not a material planning consideration. 
Regarding TRO timescales, the HA comment that there are timescales 

Page 101



associated with processing these orders. They are necessary and time is 
available to ensure that they are implemented in a timely manner. Conditions 
are proposed to prevent the development being brought into use until the 
relevant Orders are in place.

8.30 Overall, whilst the concerns raised on highway matters are acknowledged and 
considered material, it is the professional technical opinion of the HA that the 
highway design considerations are acceptable and satisfactory - subject to 
planning conditions. The highway design satisfies sustainable transport 
considerations encouraged by both local and national policy. As such the 
proposal is considered to comply with policy INF1 of the JCS, policies TRAC1 
and TRAC2 of the TBP and paragraphs 104, 105, 110, 111 and 112 of the 
NPPF.

Ecological Impact

8.31 The natural environment policies that are of particular relevance to the 
consideration and determination of this application are JCS Policies SD9 and 
INF3. Policy SD9 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity states the biodiversity and 
geological resource of the JCS area should be protected and enhanced in 
order to establish and reinforce ecological networks that are resilient to 
current and future pressures. Improved community access should also be 
encouraged so far as is compatible with the conservation of special features 
and interests. INF3 – Green Infrastructure - states that where assets are 
created, retained or replaced within a scheme, they should be properly 
integrated into the design and contribute to local character and 
distinctiveness. Proposals should also make provisions for future 
maintenance of green infrastructure.

8.32 The application is supported by a suite of ecology documents. These include:

Bat Roost Inspection Survey Report
Hedgerow Survey Report
Preliminary Ecological Assessment (Main Site)
Dormouse Survey Report
Water Vole and Otter Survey Report
Reptile Survey Report
Great Crested Newt (GCN) Survey Report
Badger Survey Report
Badger Sett Monitoring Report
Bat Roost Presence Absence Report
Evesham Road Preliminary Ecological Assessment
Construction Environmental Management Plan
Landscape and Ecological Management Plan
Ecological Management Plan
Arboricultural Report
Biodiversity Net Gain Report

8.33 The County Ecologist has reviewed the documents and as referred to 
originally (15/02/22) and sought “further information and/or clarification 

Page 102



required”. The County Ecologist goes onto give advice by topic area as 
follows:

8.34 Ecological reports – Comments there are a large set of ecological survey and 
assessment reports by Keystone Ecology submitted. There are Preliminary 
Ecological Appraisals (PEAs) covering the main site and the associated 
highways works. Other survey/assessment reports cover specific species or 
hedgerow matters. In addition, there are associated mitigation and 
enhancement for the construction and post development periods. The County 
Ecologist considers they are sufficient to assess and inform a decision on the 
development subject to clarification.

8.35 Designated Sites – The County Ecologist has considered the following 
designated sites - Special Area of Conservation (SAC)/Special Protection 
Area (SPA)/Ramsar site, Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Local (Key) 
Wildlife Site (LWS), National or Local Nature Reserve (NNR or LNR) and 
Regionally Important Geological Site (RIGS). 

He considers that given the distance from, plus the type and scale of the 
proposed development, no conceivable effect could result upon any 
International Sites. He also considers the development proposed is unlikely to 
significantly affect any SSSIs. NE’s SSSI Impact Risk Zones also indicate 
there was no need to consult NE. He also considers the development 
proposed is unlikely to significantly affect any LWS, NNR or LNR or RIGS site.

8.36 Conservation Road Verges (CRVs) - The development is also considered 
unlikely to significantly affect CRVs.

8.37 Priority Habitats (including hedgerows) – Traditional Orchard and hedgerow – 
the County Ecologist notes that “a small part PTES data and ecological 
survey records a small part of the site (western side near the A435) is 
traditional orchard habitat. The traditional orchard habitat is described in the 
PEA at 4.6, 4.11 and 6.4.” The tree survey submitted confirms the presence of 
apple trees but these are scattered and in poor condition and situated within 
improved grassland. The development details show the removal of this priority 
habitat which is unfortunate. There is some biodiversity value even in this 
remnant habitat and the compensation for this has hopefully been factored in 
to achieve an overall biodiversity net gain will be achieved (see below).” 

8.38 A small new orchard is proposed plus some additional fruit trees around the 
boundaries of the developed site (Soft Planting Proposals drawings for Phase 
1 & 2).

8.39 The PEA describes a species-rich intact hedgerow around the sides of the 
site at 4.9, 6.2 & 6.3 and a Hedgerow Assessment has also been submitted. 
“There are 5 hedgerow lengths of highly variable length and three of these are 
important under the Hedgerow Regulations criteria. The proposed 
development appears to only impact in any significant way upon one of these 
hedgerows which is H2 and an important one under the Hedgerow 
Regulations criteria. However, this is for the creation of 3 access gaps of 

Page 103



modest width in the most part. This is a biodiversity loss that needs to be 
mitigated and a lot of hedgerow re-inforcement and tree /shrub planting is 
planned.”

8.40 Trees – On site and boundaries – The County Ecologist notes that about 13 
scattered apple trees are present indicating a remnant of a traditional orchard 
priority habitat (see above) on site. “This would unfortunately be lost and 
compensated for in tree planting and other measures. A mature willow tree 
within hedgerow 1 shows some features associated with veteran trees and is 
due to be retained. Overall, just over 20 trees and large shrubs would be lost 
according to the Arboricultural Assessment. The Arboricultural Assessment 
considers that the tree loss can be mitigated through replacement planting 
within the site and this seems to be the case. There would still be some 
residual impact for several years until the new trees have grown.”

“Additionally, some trees on nearby highways would be adversely affected. 
However, any affected trees and hedgerows would be re-instated as well as 
on top of this some enhancement with additional shrubs, hedgerows and 
wildflower mixes being introduced. 

A Tree Retention & Removals Plan, draft Tree Protection Plan and 
Arboricultural Method Statement are presented at Appendices 4 to 6 of the 
Arboricultural Assessment.”

8.41 Other habitats/features of interest include scrub, improved grassland, running 
and standing water. The County Ecologist notes the site is mainly improved 
grassland but with a pond and around the margins scrub, trees, and 
hedgerows present. The main impacts would be on the low value improved 
grassland but also on a pond and the other habitats in certain areas. There 
would be a minimal disturbance from the proposed works to the southern 
boundary watercourse which with landscaping should be given good 
protection from future disturbance. 

8.42 European Protected Species (EPS) include various bats including common 
pipistrelle, noctule and Myotis species. Rarer were lesser horseshoe and 
serotine bats. The County Ecologist noted some trees and a shed on site 
provide potential roosting features but agreed that the small shed present on 
site offered very little potential for roosting bats.

8.43 The final design option for the development involves “the removal of only 8 
trees identified with high or moderate potential for roosting bats but from dusk 
survey results these are unlikely to have been harbouring bat roosts in 2021. 
This may change and so a precautionary approach is needed and this has 
been incorporated into a Biodiversity CEMP (Construction Environmental 
Management Plan) which has been submitted.” The County Ecologist adds 
however that dusk emergence surveys centred around the trees on site would 
need to be repeated if works commenced after 2023. In addition to mitigate 
for potential roost features not being able to remain and develop on the 8 
trees to be felled some mitigation is provided. This is for 12 bat roosting boxes 
on retained trees and 6 bat tubes on the new school building. A suitable 

Page 104



lighting scheme is required (and is recommended) as some retained trees 
could harbour roosts in the future and there is some bat activity across the 
site even if it is somewhat limited currently. A scheme must include details of 
luminaire types and positions plus come with a drawing showing lux levels 
across the site. This is to make sure undue illumination of certain trees, 
hedgerows, waterbodies, and watercourses does not occur as this might 
reduce the area’s value for bats and other nocturnal wildlife. No new lighting is 
proposed for the surrounding highways.  

8.44 Other EPS include dormice, GCN and otter. Regarding dormice, the County 
Ecologist notes there is potential habitat for dormice around the site 
boundaries. Highways land affected by works has limited or no suitable 
habitat. A dormouse survey including the use of nest tubes determined no 
signs indicating dormouse presence and no nearby records for this species 
are known. The development proposed and highway works are unlikely to 
affect dormice adversely. An informative covering dormouse is however 
recommended.

8.45 Regarding GCNs, the County Ecologist notes the pond, grassland, and 
boundaries (hedgerows) provide potential habitat for GCNs on the main site 
and parts of the highways affected by associated works. GCN District Level 
Licencing mapping indicates the location is in both a red and amber risk zone 
for GCNs. A GCN Survey Report has therefore been submitted to ascertain 
more information on local newt populations and the likely risks from both the 
main site and highways works going ahead. 

The on-site pond returned a negative eDNA (Environmental DNA) result for 
GCNs but a nearby pond to the south of the watercourse gave a positive 
result. Further investigative surveys on this off-site pond returned only one 
individual GCN but no signs of breeding occurring (e.g. eggs). The County 
Ecologist agrees that a very small population of GCNs is involved. Other 
amphibians were present in this off-site pond (smooth newt, palmate newt and 
tadpoles).

Some works (more so the highway works in the GCN report’s view) may affect 
habitat associated with a small newt population. Licencing is required. 
Positively, 3 new ponds would be created and these could provide excellent 
extended habitat for newts and other wildlife.

8.46 The Biodiversity CEMP at 2.24 states that “no works can commence on the 
main site until a GCN licence is obtained for the development”. The 
Preliminary Ecology Appraisal (PEA) for the highways proposals at 1.1 states 
that “a GCN licence will be needed to proceed with works at the northern end 
of Evesham Road”. The applicant has applied for a District EPS licence. GCC 
as Planning Authority could authorise a District Licence after appropriate 
documentation (certification) has been submitted via NatureSpace. The 
District Licence is the better solution for GCC overall as it involves developer, 
Highway Authority and Planning Authority plus the works risks straddle both 
the main site and associated highways works. 

Page 105



8.47 Regarding otters the County Ecologist notes “there is a potential habitat for 
otter presence along the watercourse on the southern boundary and the 
nearby pond. A water vole and otter survey report has been submitted. The 
report found sub-optimal habitat and no indications of otter presence next to 
the site. However, there were some signs of otter away from the main site on 
the same watercourse. Despite minimal disturbance from the proposed works 
to the watercourse (which is sub-optimal for otters) the removal of the pond 
certainly indicates the recommended precautionary approach to protect otters 
is appropriate (in the Biodiversity CEMP)”.

8.48 Other protected species include water vole, badger, reptiles, breeding 
birds/birds and white clawed crayfish. Regarding water vole the County 
Ecologist notes that there is potential habitat for water vole present along the 
watercourse on the southern boundary and the nearby pond. A water vole and 
otter survey report was submitted. The report found habitat was poor for water 
voles and found no indications of water vole presence. No measures specific 
to water voles are therefore required.

8.49 Regarding badgers, the County Ecologist acknowledges there is a potential 
habitat on this site for badgers. Confidential survey reports concluded no 
evidence of current badger activity on the proposed development site. 
However, precautions will still be needed during construction work as some 
interaction with badgers cannot be completely ruled out as they are present in 
the wider area. It was noted the submitted Biodiversity CEMP does not 
include standard badger/small animal precautions and a condition covering 
this is recommended.

8.50 Regarding reptiles, the County Ecologist notes that the loss of suitable habitat 
appears to be negligible on the surrounding highways and limited to a few 
places on the main site. A reptile survey using refugia and several visits was 
carried out. One young grass snake was recorded to the south of the site 
where the pond and adjoining watercourse are situated. The risk of adverse 
impacts on reptiles can be agreed to be low and a Precautionary Method of 
Working as set out in the Biodiversity CEMP is appropriate.

8.51 Regarding breeding birds/birds, the County Ecologist considers the loss of 
trees and grassland habitat would have some adverse effect upon birds 
although this is unlikely to be significant to local populations. Mitigation is 
required and a precautionary approach is required. The landscaping 
proposals (much tree/shrub planting plus some boxes) in the proposed LEMP 
would gradually compensate for lost habitat and over the medium to long-term 
should provide increased habitat and support a larger local population of 
birds.

8.52 Regarding white-clawed crayfish, the County Ecologist notes that there is a 
potential habitat present as there is a watercourse on the southern boundary. 
However, this appears to be sub-optimal for the species and with precautions 
in place (e.g. a Biodiversity CEMP which is proposed) an adverse effect on 
crayfish is much less likely than otter or water vole.

Page 106



8.53 The County Ecologist advises that the site is within a BUGLIFE B-Line which 
has been mapped with partners, including GCC, as a place where action for 
pollinators should be delivered as part of new projects or ongoing land 
management. The landscaping scheme would enhance the site’s value to a 
wider range of invertebrates including pollinators. No non-native or invasive 
species were recorded on site or known from adjacent areas.

8.54 Mitigation (compensation) is included and identified through the submission of 
a Biodiversity Construction Environmental Management Plan (BCEMP) which 
includes precautionary methods and mitigation measures for the construction 
phase. For highways works measures are included in the PEA dated 
November 2021 and the need for a separate condition if consent is granted 
for the development.

8.55 A LEMP has been submitted which draws on an Ecological Management Plan 
which is also submitted (Appendix B of the LEMP). Landscaping for the 
school site includes some new fruit (orchard) trees, native trees and shrubs, 
enhanced patches of grassland to wildflower meadow, planting beds and a 
rain garden with plants of biodiversity value, three new ponds as well as the 
retention of the boundary hedgerows, many trees, and the adjacent river 
corridor. Boxes for birds and bats are proposed for the site. On 
adjacent/nearby highways there will be the introduction of wildflower mix 
(Emorsgate EL1) plus shrub species including dogwood, hazel, hawthorn, 
spindle, etc.

8.56 Regarding Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) then this is achieved across the site 
and on additional land. This would be achieved by the creation of habitat and 
features on site and nearby highways. Associated highway works will affect 
some trees/hedgerows/grass verges but overall, after reinstatement and new 
habitat/feature creation some enhancement overall is likely. A returned BNG 
of 11.95% in habitat units and 21.21% in linear (hedgerow) units is claimed. 

8.57 Overall, the County Ecologist concludes that to make the development 
acceptable conditions relating to the following should be attached to any 
decision notice that may be forthcoming;

 Soft landscaping to main site and highways;
 District Licensing GCN conditions;
 Tree protection measures;
 Biodiversity CEMP alongside the general CEMP;
 Mitigation and enhancement measures for the associated highways;
 Hazardous chemical and open pipe/excavation management;
 LEMP;
 External Lighting; and 
 Badger/bat updated survey after December 2023.

8.58 It is noted that the application documents have considered and appropriately 
addressed ecology implications of the proposed development. Whilst the loss 
of the traditional orchard is unfortunate it is, with mitigation and compensation, 
not considered unacceptable to warrant a sustainable reason for refusal of 
planning permission.

Page 107



8.59 Subject to the conditions relating to the above, it is considered that the 
proposed development satisfies policies NAT1 of the TBC development plan, 
policy SD9 of the JCS and NPPF paragraphs 126 and 174. 

Landscape Impact

8.60 The application is supported by the submission of a LVIA. It is identified that 
the proposed development site is located to the north of Bishop’s Cleeve, 
however, is situated outside of the settlement boundary for the village as 
defined in the Tewkesbury Borough Plan 2011 - 2032. There is no policy in 
the TBP on the general principle of a school development outside of a 
settlement. However, a significant material consideration will be Policy LAN3 
which, as modified identifies the area between Bishop’s Cleeve and 
Gotherington, bounded by the A435 and Cleeve Road/Gotherington Lane, as 
a Gap of Local Importance.  The proposed school site sits within this gap and 
the policy is clear that permission should only be granted under exceptional 
circumstances. That is where there would be no harm to the separate identity, 
character and/or landscape setting of the two settlements and where the open 
or undeveloped character of the gap would not be significantly adversely 
affected.

8.61 In the Reasoned Justification for Policy LAN3 it is recognised that there may 
be opportunities, through appropriate location, siting and design, to 
accommodate some new development in a Gap of Local Importance without 
significantly adversely affecting the open or undeveloped character of the gap 
or harming the separate identity and character of the settlements, or their 
landscape setting.  It is expected that this would be limited development within 
an existing group of buildings or through the re-use of existing buildings. 

8.62 JCS Policy SD6 states that “development will seek to protect landscape 
character for its own intrinsic beauty and for its benefit to economic, 
environmental and social wellbeing.  Proposals will have regard to the local 
distinctiveness and historic character of the different landscapes in the JCS 
area, drawing, as appropriate, upon existing Landscape Character 
Assessments and the Landscape Character and Sensitivity Analysis. They will 
be required to demonstrate how the development will protect or enhance 
landscape character and avoid detrimental effects on types, patterns and 
features which make a significant contribution to the character, history and 
setting of a settlement or area. All applications for development will consider 
the landscape and visual sensitivity of the area in which they are to be located 
or which they may affect. Planning applications will be supported by a 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment where, at the discretion of the local 
planning authority, one is required. Proposals for appropriate mitigation and 
enhancement measures should also accompany applications.”

8.63 JCS Policy INF3 relates to Green Infrastructure and requires that “the green 
infrastructure network of local and strategic importance will be conserved and 
enhanced, in order to deliver a series of multifunctional, linked green corridors 
across the JCS area by: 

Page 108



i. improving the quantity and/or quality of assets 
ii. improving linkages between assets in a manner appropriate to 

the scale of development, and 
iii. designing improvements in a way that supports the cohesive 

management of green infrastructure.”

8.64 It goes on to state that “Development proposals should consider and 
contribute positively towards green infrastructure, including the wider 
landscape context and strategic corridors between major assets and 
populations”. “Existing green infrastructure will be protected in a manner that 
reflects its contribution to ecosystem services (including biodiversity, 
landscape/townscape quality, the historic environment, public access, 
recreation and play) and the connectivity of the green infrastructure network. 
Development proposals that will have an impact on woodlands, hedges and 
trees will need to include a justification for why this impact cannot be avoided 
and should incorporate measures acceptable to the local planning authority to 
mitigate the loss. Mitigation should be provided on-site or, where this is not 
possible, in the immediate environs of the site.”

8.65 It is noted that the application site lies outside the AONB to the east and the 
Gotherington SLA to north east. It is not considered by both the CLA and CPA 
that these designations, at several hundred metres away, would be adversely 
affected by the proposed development. This leaves the consideration of the 
Gap of Local Importance (LAN3) to be considered. As referred to in the policy 
section above, the proposed development would be sited within the 
designated Gap of Local Importance in the TLP. The purpose of such is to 
avoid coalescence of Bishop’s Cleeve and Gotherington with urban 
development. In assessing this, regard has been had to the location of the 
school buildings within the site. It is noted that the school buildings are located 
at the southern end of the site near to the Dean Brook and settlement 
boundary with Bishop’s Cleeve. The buildings are also located at the lowest 
level of the site taking advantage of the ground level difference across the site 
of 6m. The site is bisected from east to west by a retaining wall of some 2m 
tall separating the sports facilities and the school buildings. This helps to 
mitigate the visual impact of the proposed development from views outside of 
the site and at a distance from Gotherington village, the SLA and AONB. The 
Badham Pharmacy Head Office was a former public house known as the 
Farmers Arms. This building also lies within the Gap of Local Importance and 
adjoins the application site to the north adjacent to the A435. This building 
again helps mitigate views into the site from the north. It is therefore 
considered that there would be no unacceptable harm to the separate identity, 
character and/or landscape setting of the two settlements and the open or 
undeveloped character of the gap would not be significantly adversely 
affected.

8.66 The CLA has considered the application details and the consultation 
responses are detailed above. It is identified, as other consultees (SE and 
County Ecologist) have also commented, that the site appears small for the 

Page 109



development proposed. Similar concern raised by SE resulted in a redesign of 
outdoor sport provision which is acceptable to SE.

8.67 The loss of the historic orchard adjacent to the A435 road is regrettable, but it 
is noted that it is compensated and mitigated by new tree planting on the site. 
Overall, after submission of additional information and clarification of details 
there is no landscape objection raised subject to planning conditions relating 
to:

 Grafting of sufficient existing fruit tree material onto rootstock to meet the 
requirements of the landscape scheme prior to removal of the existing 
orchard trees;

 Implementation of the soft landscape scheme as per the application 
drawings and documents;

 Implementation of the hard landscape scheme as per the application 
drawings and documents. Final details of materials, finishes, equipment to 
be submitted for approval;

 Implementation of tree and hedgerow protection, as per the submitted 
arboricultural reports, prior to commencement of works on site;

 An appropriately worded condition to cover the implementation and future 
management of off-site landscape works; and

 An appropriately worded condition (and, if possible formal agreement with 
GCC Education Dept.) to ensure the future maintenance and management 
of the landscape scheme to ensure the design aims and 30 year BNG 
monitoring and reporting requirements as set out in the application 
documents are met.

8.68 Whilst the CLA still considers that the proposal represents an over 
development of the site, he is satisfied that the proposed landscaping and 
mitigation is achievable through the imposition of appropriate planning 
conditions as referred to above. In conclusion on landscape issues, the CPA 
considers that the proposed development departs from TBP LAN3 (Gap of 
Local Importance), and having taken into account the landscape issues that, 
in the planning balance, the proposal broadly accords with the aims of JCS 
Policies SD6 (landscape) and INF3 (Green Infrastructure) and TLP NAT1 
(Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Important Natural Features) subject to the 
conditions identified above. 

Flood risk, drainage and sustainable urban drainage

8.69 The NPPF3 states at Paragraph 159 that “Inappropriate development in areas 
at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from 
areas at highest risk (whether existing or future). Where development is 
necessary in such areas, the development should be made safe for its lifetime 
without increasing flood risk elsewhere.”

8.70 JCS (2011-2031) Policy INF2 (Flood Management) states that proposals must 
avoid areas at risk of flooding, in accordance with a risk based sequential 
approach. Proposals must not increase the level of risk to the safety of 

Page 110



occupiers of a site, the local community or wider environment. Proposals 
should minimise the risk of flooding, taking climate change into account.

8.71 The NPPF3 goes on the state at Paragraph 167 that “When determining any 
planning applications, local planning authorities should ensure that flood risk 
is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, applications should be 
supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment”.

8.72 A detailed Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) carried out by Hydrock was 
submitted in support of the planning application. The FRA has assessed 
whether the application site is likely to be affected by flooding and whether the 
proposed development is appropriate in the suggested location. A detailed 
assessment of flood risk has identified that, based on current Environment 
Agency (EA) Flood Zone Mapping, the site is indicated to be within Flood 
Zone 1 (Low Risk) but is suggested to be at 'high' risk of surface water 
flooding in the southern portion of the site and is at ‘low’ or ‘negligible’ risk of 
flooding from all other assessed sources. It has also considered the 
appropriate flood risk mitigation measures, which together with the drainage 
strategy, sets out how the proposed development will deal with storm and foul 
water discharge.

8.73 In order to minimise the risk of flooding and provide resilience to flooding 
when taking into account climate change, the JCS Policy INF2 clarifies that 
new development should incorporate suitable sustainable urban drainage 
systems (SUDS) in order to manage surface water drainage. In support of 
meeting the challenge of climate change and flooding, Paragraph 169 of 
NPPF states that development proposals should incorporate SUDS unless 
there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. The geological 
constraints have informed the final drainage strategy and SUDS which make 
up the overall surface water management plan for the proposed development. 
Hydrock have produced a sustainable urban drainage strategy plan.

8.74 The FRA report demonstrates that, in respect of flood risk, the proposed 
development of the site: 
• Is suitable in the location proposed;
• Will be adequately flood resistant and resilient;
• Will not place additional persons at risk of flooding, and will offer a safe 
means of access and egress through a Flood Evacuation Management Plan;
• Will not increase flood risk elsewhere as a result of the proposed 
development through the loss of floodplain storage or impedance of flood 
flows; and
• Will put in place measures to ensure surface water is appropriately 
managed.

As such, the FRA report concludes that the development would meet the flood 
risk requirements of the NPPF.

8.75 The FRA and drainage strategy submitted with this application show that the 
development can proceed providing a school that will be safe from flooding 

Page 111



and without increasing flood risk elsewhere. The LLFA has no objection to this 
proposal.

8.76 The LLFA has considered the comments raised by the BCPC and provides 
the following responses.

8.77 Regarding the concern relating to flooding issues caused by building the 
existing pond then the LLFA responds by stating that they “do not consider it 
to be a flooding issue and that the existing pond does not act in any way as a 
flood management measure, it isn’t managed as an attenuation basin. Loss of 
that pond is mitigated for by three attenuation basins (the proposed 
replacement ponds south of the site) which are managed attenuation basins.” 
The LLFA further comment that the soakaway from the carpark “will not be to 
the ground it will be to the substrate material of the carpark providing a 
significant volume of attenuation and a way of cleaning the surface runoff from 
the carpark. The substrate layers of the carpark will feed surface water to the 
managed surface water drainage system for controlled discharge to the 
watercourse. Holding water in the carpark substrate will allow some losses as 
ground water migrates to the edges where it can feed plants, some can 
evaporate through the porous paving when it stops raining and some will, 
though so slowly it can’t be relied upon for the entire discharge, will soak 
away through the clay.”

8.78 Regarding clarification of the purpose of the new ponds then the LLFA 
comments “Attenuation requirements for storm water network no.2 
accommodating (but not exclusively eastern MUGA and eastern building 
block = 155m3. The 3 no. ponds are to accommodate this attenuation 
requirement within its embankments above a permanent water level. 
However, where this is not possible due to site constraints and space 
limitations, the storm water no.2 is to be re-directed to the mass cellular 
storage within the car park…”
Ref Drainage Strategy Plan 13668-HYD-00-DR-C-7000 Rev p01
Sounds like a problem with wording in the DAS, I am guessing that the intent 
is to show that by keeping the ponds permanently we they will provide an 
ecological function as well as a flood management function. Unlike the current 
pond which offers only an ecological function. Maybe it should read “New 
ponds that have been specifically designed as NOT only having an ecological 
function, featuring semi-aquatic and marginal zones with specific wildfower 
mixes and will be permanent wet;”

8.79 Regarding the concern that houses opposite the site (to the south and west) 
have already flooded and is also concerned about the increased risk of road 
traffic accidents if surface water runs onto the A435 then the LLFA state that 
modelling shows there will be no benefit in increasing the width of the culvert 
beneath the A435. The LLFA has no record of houses opposite the site 
having been flooded. The development will not increase the risk of surface 
water running on to the A435. Regarding flooding concerns because of 
finished floor levels of sports pitches then the LLFA comments that drainage 
of the sports pitches relies on perforated drains not the porosity of the soil and 
that the playing fields are positively drained with a permeable under surface, 

Page 112



not posing any flood risk as per drawing Drainage Strategy Plan 13668-HYD-
00-XX-DR-C-7000 Rev P01. Finally, the LLFA does not consider that foul 
drainage concerns raise any concerns to the LLFA. 

8.80 Overall flood risk and drainage issues are fully addressed subject to 
appropriate conditions. The CPA is satisfied that the proposal is therefore in 
accordance with JCS (2011-2031) Policy INF2 (Flood Management).

Archaeology

8.81 The NPPF provides a framework for conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment, Paragraph 194 states that “in determining applications, local 
planning authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance of 
any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting.”

8.82 Policy SD8 of the JCS (2011-2031) reinforces that Framework. The 
explanatory text supporting this policy states that “development proposals 
must describe the significance of any heritage assets affected including any 
contribution made by their setting. Where a development site includes, or has 
potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, a desk-based 
assessment and, where necessary a field evaluation must be submitted to the 
planning authority. Developers are required to record and advance 
understanding of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) through 
development and must provide this information to the relevant local authority 
for inclusion in the appropriate Historic Environment Record.”

8.83 An Archaeological Evaluation was undertaken by archaeological consultants 
at the site. The archaeological investigations revealed no evidence for 
potentially significant archaeological remains across the proposed 
development area. Despite prehistoric and Roman activity being known in the 
vicinity, no remains from these periods were recorded within the site. The site 
was part of the agricultural landscape between Bishop's Cleeve and 
Gotherington throughout the historic periods.

8.84 The only activity of note was located in the southwest corner of the site, where 
rubble of a known 19th Century barn recorded on the 1st Edition OS mapping 
and had been demolished by 1902 was revealed. To the south of this 
evidence of terracing was noted which was interpreted as associated with the 
known quarrying that took place to the immediate south and east, as seen by 
the still extant pond.

8.85 The County Archaeologist (CA) advises that the application area was subject 
to full archaeological evaluation at pre-application stage, and no significant 
archaeology was found to be present. In the CA’s view there is a low risk that 
archaeological remains will be adversely affected by this development 
proposal. The CA recommends that no archaeological investigation or 
recording need be undertaken in connection with this scheme.

8.86 The CPA is satisfied that the proposal accords with the requirements of 
Paragraph 194 of NPPF and Policy SD8 of the JCS (2011-2031).

Page 113



Design

8.87 The building proposed is of a modern design. It is two storey and occupies the 
southern part of the site at a lower level than the adjoining sports pitches to 
the north. The land slopes towards the south with a difference in level of 6 
metres. The location minimises the impact of the site from distant views from 
Gotherington, the SLA and the AONB referred to earlier in the Landscape 
consideration section. 

8.88 JCS Policy SD4 seeks to steer development so that new proposals respond 
positively to the local character of the site and its setting, enhancing local 
distinctiveness and addressing the grain of the existing locality in terms of 
street pattern, layout, mass and form. New development should also ensure 
that designs in terms of scale, type, density and materials are appropriate to 
the site and its setting.

8.89 The NPPF sets out design guidance for new development which should 
ensure that proposals function well and add to the overall quality of an area, 
are visually attractive and incorporate appropriate and effective landscaping 
while being sympathetic to the local character including the surrounding built 
environment and landscape setting.

8.90 The planning statement (PS) provides the following commentary regarding 
design: 
“The design of the proposed school evolved from a series of options which 
were presented to members of the public at the first of two consultation events 
on 14 September 2021. The second public consultation event occurred on 30 
November 2021, both of which were held at the Bishops Cleeve Primary 
Academy.

The Design and Access Statement (DAS) enclosed with this application sets 
out the four original design options that were drawn up. Following the 
feedback that was received from the first public consultation event the third 
option was chosen which consisted of the following:

• Two-storey school building which is linear but with a kink in the centre.
• Detached single storey nursery building.
• 60-space car park including 7 electronic charging spaces and 5 accessible
spaces.
• 2 x Multi-Use Games Areas (MUGA).
• 3 x grass pitches.
• 200m running track.

One of the other three options which were not pursued included a three-storey 
school building on a smaller footprint, but was discounted to minimise 
landscape impact considering the position of the site in a semi-rural area on 
the edge of Bishops Cleeve. The concept for the exterior and massing of the 
building was to be reminiscent of a cluster of agricultural buildings, breaking 

Page 114



up the vast form into smaller elements to achieve the space requirements 
needed internally. The principal building has two distinctive wings that are 
kinked in the centre with two lower central blocks. Each form has distinctive 
elevational treatments that help to break up the massing of the building.

A standing seam cladding is used on the pitched rooves and carried down to 
the First Floor to create a unification of the two elements, with the ground floor 
in a rough dressed Bradstone to create contrast. The left central block has 
been treated with a bold timber effect cladding designed to draw the eye 
naturally towards the entrance. This cladding is utilised on the ground floor of 
the entrance block and the canopy of the reception classrooms to unify the 
design of these elements. The use of darker, natural tones helps soften the 
impact of the building in its semi-rural setting and the combination of mono-
pitch and flat roofs also help to minimise the scale and visual impact of the 
building. The detached nursery building has been designed as a subservient 
agricultural outbuilding with a pitched roof. When viewed in context with the 
principal school building it will be very discreet and will be constructed with
matching materials.”

8.91 The proposed school building has been designed to be Carbon Neutral and 
achieve net Zero Carbon Building Operational Energy and to an A+ Energy 
Performance Certificate (EPC). The design incorporates Passive Design by 
optimising building orientation and façade design using Dynamic Simulation 
Thermal Modelling and Climate Based Daylight Modelling. Roof overhangs or 
Brise Soleil would be incorporated to provide beneficial solar gains in winter 
and reduce summer overheating. The building seeks to achieve energy 
efficiency and low carbon design through the utilisation of air source heat 
pumps, hot water and cooling, as required, with a high Coefficient of 
Performance (CoP) equipment for increased energy efficiency. It is proposed 
to use all electric technologies, including LED lighting throughout, eliminating 
the need for fossil fuels. Thermal Comfort and Indoor Air Quality would be 
achieved via ventilation systems designed to the latest regulations using 
hybrid ventilation heat recovery units which have zero embodied carbon and 
use fully recyclable materials. Renewable energy and sustainable transport 
through the technology to be incorporated to provide on-site energy 
production, reducing carbon emissions. Electric Vehicle charging points are to 
be installed on-site to enable clean transport opportunities for school staff and 
visitors.

8.92 The applicant presented the design to the Design Panel on 30th November 
2021. The Design Panel commented on matters relating to ecology, drainage, 
transport, design, sustainability and landscape matters. Whilst acknowledging 
the constraints of the site it considered that the issues raised similar issues 
already acknowledged in this report by consultees and members of the public 
relating to perceived overdevelopment, ecology loss, landscape impact and 
transport impact. The Design Panel agreed that it was a difficult site to 
develop providing the needs of the school facility regarding buildings and 
outdoor facilities including vehicular parking and outdoor sports provision. The 
Design Panel also considered that the acceptability of the development would 

Page 115



be based on a planning balance judgement having considered all the issues 
raised in the processing of the application.

8.93 Concerns have been raised by BCPC regarding design issues relating to the 
appropriateness of the development regarding location, siting, health and 
safety, inclusiveness, flood risk. To conclude BCPC “is strongly of the opinion 
that this site is not a suitable site option for a new primary school given its 
location adjacent to the A435, but in view of the undisputed need for an 
additional primary school on the north side of the village accepts that this site 
has to be considered. However, it is not acceptable to cram a school on to a 
piece of land that will potentially result in poor conditions for future staff and 
pupils due to the minimum standards being applied to this design in all areas. 
The poor location, both in terms of its positioning adjacent to the A435 and its 
position on the site itself demonstrates that this is an ill thought out 
application, with conflicting and incomplete information which will potentially 
lead to flooding and health and safety issues in using the site. At the very 
least this application needs further details submitted and a rethink of its 
orientation.”

8.94 The siting, design, materials and access was informed by both the planning 
policy context and the planning constraints. The development of the site has 
had to make compromises regarding outdoor sports provision and loss of 
existing trees and pond area and parent drop off provision. These matters 
have all been assessed by technical advisers and subject to conditions are 
satisfied that the proposed development is acceptable. The building design 
and materials palette chosen have attempted to reflect the rural setting. 
Design is a subjective matter and what may seem appropriate and acceptable 
to one person may not be the same view taken by another. 

8.95 Overall, it is not considered that in design terms the development is 
unacceptable and can be considered to generally accords with JCS policy 
SD4 and the principles of the NPPF. 

Amenity Impact - Air Quality, Dust and Noise, Glint and Glare

Air Quality

8.96 The application is supported by an Air Quality assessment report. An air 
quality exposure assessment based on the potential impacts of existing and 
future traffic levels on a proposed development on land adjacent to Evesham 
Road. The pollutants modelled as part of this assessment are nitrogen oxides 
(NOx) and particulate matter (PM10). An assessment on the potential impact 
on local air quality from demolition and construction activities at the site was 
not undertaken as the information was unavailable at the time of reporting.

8.97 The report concluded that in terms of introducing new exposure, all predicted 
NO2 and PM10 concentrations at the modelled receptor locations were below 
the relevant air quality objectives and fall within APEC Category A, which 
states that there are “no air quality grounds for refusal; however, mitigation of 

Page 116



any emissions should be considered”. Overall, air quality is a low priority 
consideration with regards to the impact of the proposed development.

8.98 Concern has been expressed regarding the health impact of siting a school 
and outdoor play areas adjacent to a main road. The site does not lie in an 
area which is noted for its air pollution. Any pollution from vehicular use to the 
school is minimised by the deliberate restriction on vehicle parking on site and 
in availability of drop off points near to the school. The site itself is not located 
in a built up area, as it would be in a town location. As such any air pollution 
that may arise from vehicular traffic associated with the school would disperse 
more efficiently than from an urban location. For this reason, it is not 
considered that the air quality pollution that may arise would be significant.

8.99 Based on the information available the proposed development is not 
considered likely to have significant effects on air quality matters. 

Dust

8.100 Dust will be generated during site preparation and construction activities. 
Such activities are for a temporary period and occur as part of any large scale 
construction works. The impacts are not excessive and are capable of 
management by planning condition. Dust generated during construction can 
be managed via a DMP controlled via planning condition. Considering this the 
proposed development is not considered likely to have significant effects 
regarding dust. 

Noise

8.101 WRS on behalf of TBC have reviewed the Noise and Acoustic Feasibility 
Impact Assessment submitted.

8.102 The report indicates that with mitigation measures in place internal noise 
levels as per “Acoustic Design of Schools: Performance Standards” (2014) 
DfES can be achieved. WRS advise that mitigation measures be adopted as 
per the report.

8.103 An assessment of noise from potential external plant has also been 
undertaken, following BS4142:2014 guidance. Plant noise limits have been 
proposed in Table 7 of the report. WRS advise that these Plant noise limits be 
conditioned to ensure that there are no adverse impacts from noise at the 
nearest sensitive receptor.

8.104 Subject to the above being implemented, WRS have no adverse comment or 
objection to make in relation to the above application. The above matters are 
capable of control via a planning condition.

Glint and Glare

Page 117



8.105 The application was supported by a Solar Photovoltaic Glint and Glare Study 
from rooftop solar photovoltaics on the school buildings. The CPA technical 
adviser Atkins considered the report providing comments and seeking 
clarification. The applicant addressed these matters and submitted a further 
report including modelling of Gloucestershire Airport. The updated report 
assessment of modelling results concluded that:

“Roads
The modelling has shown that solar reflections are geometrically possible 
towards one point along the assessed section of the A435. Following a review 
of the available imagery, the solar reflections that are geometrically possible 
are expected to be comfortably outside of a road user’s primary horizontal 
field of view. A low impact is predicted, and mitigation is not required.

Dwellings
The modelling has shown that solar reflections are geometrically possible 
towards 23 of the 79 assessed dwellings.

Following a review of the available imagery and local topography, any solar 
reflections that are geometrically possible towards dwellings 29, 43 – 44, and 
47 are predicted to be significantly screened under baseline conditions. No 
impacts are predicted, and no mitigation is required.

For dwellings 30 – 41 and 53 – 54, the review of available imagery and local 
topography has shown that there is intervening deciduous vegetation which is 
expected to provide significant screening in the months when leaves are on 
trees, and filter views at other times of year. A low impact is predicted, and 
mitigation is not required.

For dwellings 61 – 64, the review of available imagery and local topography 
has shown that there is intervening deciduous vegetation which is expected to 
filter views. A low impact is predicted, and mitigation is not required.

Aviation
Solar reflections beyond 50 degrees of the pilot’s direct line of sight are 
predicted towards the runway 18 approach. A low impact is predicted based 
on the associated guidance and industry best practice. No mitigation is 
required.”

8.106 The CPA technical adviser was satisfied that their earlier comments were 
considered and more information provided with a few observations regarding 
results and corresponding comments for the reflections towards the dwelling 
units. The glint and glare is mitigated by existing trees in the line of sight of 
the roof panels and the dwellings. It is suggested that this matter is controlled 
via landscaping details to be agreed via planning condition. 

8.107 Overall, it is considered that amenity impacts with regards to air quality, noise,  
dust and glint and glare mitigated by planning condition is acceptable and in 
accordance with JCS policy SD14 (Health and Environmental Quality). 

Page 118



Energy efficiency and carbon footprint

8.108 NPPF Chapter 14, Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 
coastal change paragraph 152 states “…The planning system should support 
the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account 
of flood risk and coastal change. It should help to: shape places in ways that 
contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions, minimise 
vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of existing 
resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support 
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.”

8.109 NPPF Paragraph 154 b) states that “…New development should be planned 
for in ways that:
b) can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its 

location, orientation and design. Any local requirements for the 
sustainability of buildings should reflect the Government’s policy for 
national technical standards.”

8.110 NPPF Paragraph 158: “When determining planning applications for renewable 
and low carbon development, local planning authorities should:
b) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or 

low carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects 
provide a valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; 
and

c) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. 
Once suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy have been 
identified in plans, local planning authorities should expect subsequent 
applications for commercial scale projects outside these areas to 
demonstrate that the proposed location meets the criteria used in 
identifying suitable areas.”

8.111 GCC have committed to addressing climate change. On the 15th of May 
2019, GCC endorsed a climate change emergency and committed to help 
deliver a carbon neutral county by 2050. Councillors agreed at Full Council to 
work with partners to identify what measures are needed to deliver a stepped 
target of 80 percent reduction of carbon emissions by 2030. This commitment 
refers to the inclusion in the Council’s major strategies such as the LTP to 
having clearly identified strategies to reduce carbon emissions. On 20th 
December 2019, GCC’s Cabinet met to discuss the Climate Change Strategy 
for the period 2019/20 to 2024/25. Cabinet members resolved approve the 
immediate action plan (on climate change) and endorse the Climate Change 
Strategy. While not part of the Development Plan, the Council’s Climate 
change commitment could be considered a material consideration when 
determining planning applications. Members have expressed a desire to 
consider climate change matters in Planning Committee meetings.

8.112 The proposed school building has been designed to be Carbon Neutral and 
achieve net Zero Carbon Building Operational Energy and to an A+ EPC. This 
is referred to in more detail above under Design consideration.

Page 119



8.113 The CPA considers that the design of the proposed new School, through the 
use of appropriate materials and technology together with innovative design, 
meets the requirements of Paragraph 154 (b) of the NPPF which seeks to 
ensure that “new development should be planned for in ways that can help to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location, orientation 
and design.”

8.114 However, the school building itself is not the only consideration when looking 
at climate change. This proposal will also involve the removal of established 
hedgerow and traditional orchard representing a carbon and biodiversity loss. 
Notwithstanding the proposed ecological compensation and mitigation 
provides a BNG, as referred to in ecology consideration above, which is 
balanced against the climate change implications of the development.

Waste minimisation and management

8.115 WCS Policy WCS2 seeks to ensure that all development incorporates the 
principles of waste minimisation. The policy states that “Planning applications 
for 'major' development must be supported by a statement setting out how 
any waste arising during the demolition, construction and subsequent 
occupation of the development will be minimised and managed.”

8.116 GCC Minerals and Waste Policy have provided comments relating to waste 
impacts of the proposed development. The comments recommend planning 
conditions relating to waste minimisation during site preparation, design, 
construction and occupation of the proposed development. The applicant has 
also submitted a waste minimisation supporting document as part of the 
application. Coupled with the planning conditions referred to the proposed 
development is considered to accord with GCC WCS policy WCS2.

Community Engagement

8.117 The NPPF (paragraphs 39 and 26) encourages early and effective 
engagement with all stakeholders in the planning application process. This 
includes pre-application engagement and consultation. 

8.118 The applicant has submitted a document entitled Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) dated February 2022. The SCI describes the elements of 
the consultation that have been undertaken prior to the submission of the 
application. The following forms of consultation have been undertaken prior to 
submission:
• Pre-application discussions with Planning Officers at GCC; and 
• Two consultation events held at Bishop’s Cleeve Primary Academy School. 

8.119 The agent considers that the SCI confirms that the GCC has met the national 
guidance relating to community engagement and pre-application discussions 
stating that “such engagement is a material planning consideration that should 
be looked upon favourably when determining planning applications.”

Page 120



8.120 Following initial discussions with senior officers in the GCC Planning 
Development Management and GCC Asset Management a formal pre-
application enquiry was submitted to the CPA in May 2021 and responded to 
in May 2021 identifying matters that would need to be addressed in the 
supporting information accompanying the planning application.

8.121 Two independent public consultation events at Bishop’s Cleeve Primary 
School were undertaken. The first of which took place on 14 September 2021. 
At this event the four initial options and other information boards were 
displayed which can be viewed through Public Access via the link below 
(8.130).

8.122 At the first event 38 people signed in during the three-hour session including 
six Parish Councillors and one County Councillor. From these figures it can be 
concluded the turnout resulting from the 1,400 letters that were sent to 
residents was 2.7%. Of the 38 attendees, 18 people completed the feedback 
forms or emailed their views without fully completing the forms. Copies of the 
Display Boards from the event were made available electronically via GCC’s 
website with a link provided by a QR code on the advertisement.

8.123 The SCI states the main concerns residents raised related to highway safety 
and other highways issues. In response to this, the applicant’s planning 
application included a Transport Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan that would 
need to be agreed with GCC in order for planning permission to be granted. 
Concerns relating to flooding, air pollution and biodiversity were also 
addressed in further supporting statements.

8.124 The second consultation event was held on 30 November 2021. At this event 
the final draft proposal which was based on Option 3 that was shown at the 
first consultation event. There was no clear preferred option based on the 
responses to the first consultation, but a recurring theme was that a two-
storey option was preferred (which eliminated Option 1).

8.125 At the second event 17 people signed in during the three-hour session. From 
these figures it can be concluded the turnout resulting from the 1,400 letters 
that were sent to residents was 1%. However, despite the turnout being lower, 
the amount of people that responded to the consultation online via the 
feedback forms was higher, with 44 people completing the forms.

8.126 Compared to the first consultation event, the responses to this question were 
more detailed and wide-ranging. The majority of positive comments related to 
the fact people were grateful that a much-needed primary school was finally 
being proposed for Bishop’s Cleeve. The second most popular positive aspect 
of the proposal was that the proposal aims to be carbon neutral. Other 
benefits people cited included the that it contains a nursery, environmental 
issues being taken into account, the use of renewable energy sources, the 
provision of sports facilities for children and a good exterior design.

8.127 The questions regarding improvements that could be made to the 
development and an open question section for any other comments people 

Page 121



had to offer, the main issues in order of importance / frequency of appearance 
in the responses (shown in brackets) were:

• No drop-off area for parents / walking not an option for everyone (16);
• Insufficient parking / drop-off area will lead to parking in surrounding
  residential streets (9);
• A435 is too busy for a primary school to be located so close (9);
• Insufficient pedestrian and cycle infrastructure (6);
• Lower speed limit needed for A435 (3); and 
• The school will be located too close to neighbouring properties (2).

8.128 The CPA is satisfied that appropriate community engagement has taken place 
and the applicant has considered the responses made by the public in 
consideration of the proposed development.

8.129 Link to SCI submitted:
https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCCont
ents?Filename=images%2f22_0003_TWR3MJ_SCI.PDF

Other relevant planning issues

8.130 Other planning issues relate to the expectation of SE that the development 
will also be used for community use and suggest planning conditions to 
support and control this. In so doing they also expect that ducting is put in 
place at this stage to accommodate external sport facility lighting. 

8.131 Regarding these matters there is no consideration at this stage for a 
community use of the sports facilities. Such facilities are likely to include 
outside use of sporting facilities. Such a use is likely to be undertaken during 
the evenings when external lighting will be required. This would need to be 
formally considered since it may be the case that such a use including lighting 
could be unacceptable given the setting of the proposed development. As 
such the request to attach conditions regarding community use has been 
discounted at this stage.

8.132 I am satisfied that the school can have lighting but that this is controlled via 
planning condition regarding timing and technical specification so as not to 
adversely impact on ecology and amenity interests that may be affected by 
uncontrolled external lighting. I am also satisfied that the school can have an 
evening use for normal school activities such as after school clubs, parents’ 
evenings, school meetings and relating to theatrical and musical rehearsals, 
performances, productions and concerts. More than this may need formal 
consideration through the planning process.

Conclusion (Summary Reasons for the recommendation to Grant of 
Planning Permission)

8.133 The proposed development, subject to planning condition compliance and 
mitigation works relating to landscaping, ecology and highway matters, is not 

Page 122

https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f22_0003_TWR3MJ_SCI.PDF
https://ww3.gloucestershire.gov.uk/PROW/PROWWS.asmx/GetFileGCCContents?Filename=images%2f22_0003_TWR3MJ_SCI.PDF


considered to significantly adversely impact upon, the amenity of residents in 
the vicinity, the environment; the local highway network; upon the Cotswolds 
AONB and the Gotherington SLA. As such it is considered to comply with 
national policy (NPPF) and the policies of the development plans including the 
recently adopted Tewkesbury Local Plan 2011-2032 apart from LAN 3 policy 
relating to the Gap of Local Importance in which the development site sits. For 
this reason, it is considered that the development departs from development 
plan policy LAN3. If Members are minded to grant planning permission, then 
the application would be referred to the Secretary of State (through the 
National Planning Casework Unit (NPCU)) under the departure regulations. 
Should the Secretary of State decide not to call in the application for 
determination then, after the prescribed time period, planning permission 
would be issued. Overall, whilst departing from Policy LAN 3 in the newly 
adopted TLP it is considered that, on balance, the educational need 
outweighs any adverse impact perceived or otherwise by the proposed 
development and is therefore recommended for approval. 

Positive and Proactive Statement
8.134 In determining this planning application, the CPA has worked with the 

applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking solutions to 
problems arising in relation to dealing with the planning application by liaising 
with consultees, respondents and the agent, and by discussing changes to 
the proposal where considered appropriate or necessary.  This approach has 
been taken positively and proactively in accordance with the requirement in 
the NPPF, as set out in the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015.  

Human Rights

8.135 From 2nd October 2000 the Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of 
enshrining much of the European Convention on Human Rights in UK law. 
Under 6(1) of the Act, it is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way, which 
is incompatible with a convention right. A person who claims that a public 
authority has acted (or proposes to act) in a way which is made unlawful by 
Section 6(1), and that he is (or would be) a victim of the unlawful act, may 
bring proceedings against the authority under the Act in the appropriate court 
or tribunal, or may rely on the convention right or rights concerned in any legal 
proceedings.

8.136 The main Convention rights relevant when considering planning proposals are 
Article 1 of the First Protocol (the peaceful enjoyment of property) and Article 
8 (the right to a private and family life). Article 1 of the First Protocol 
guarantees the right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions and Article 8 of the 
Human Rights Act 1998 guarantees a right to respect for private and family 
life. Article 8 also provides that there shall be no interference by a public 
authority with the exercise of this right except in the interests of national 
security, public safety, or the economic well-being of the country, for the 
prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for 
the protection of the freedom of others.

Page 123



8.137 Representations, including objections, have been received from nearby 
residents, members of the public and the parish councils of Gotherington and 
Bishop’s Cleeve which are indicated in the report and considered accordingly 
throughout the report.  For the reasons set out in ‘Planning Considerations”, it 
is not thought there would be any breach of the convention rights.  Even if 
there was to be an interference with convention rights then, in this case, it is 
thought that the interference would be justified in the interests of public 
amenity.  Accordingly, it would not be unlawful to grant planning permission for 
this development.  

9.0 RECOMMENDATION

That the Planning Committee be minded to grant planning permission for the 
reasons summarised in paragraph 8.133 subject to the application being first 
referred to the Secretary of State to consider as a departure application from 
the adopted TLP 2011-2032, in accordance with Regulation 3 of the Town and 
Country Planning General Regulations 1992 and subject to the conditions set 
out below. That the Team Manager Development Management and Minerals 
& Waste Planning is granted delegated authority to impose such conditions 
relating to GCN’s in line with the GCN licensing approach to be taken prior to 
the decision being actioned: 

CONDITIONS

Commencement

1. The development hereby authorised shall begin not later than the expiration of 
3 years from the date of this permission. Written notification of the date of 
commencement shall be sent to the County Planning Authority within 7 days 
of such commencement.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

Scope of Development

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted application form, its accompanying documentation, and the 
approved drawings except as varied by other condition(s) of this permission 
as follows:

Documents

Application Form 
Statement of Community Involvement (dated February 2022) 
Design & Access Statement (dated December 2021)
Planning Statement (dated January 2022)
Sustainability Statement (dated December 2021)
Waste Minimisation Statement (dated January 2022)
Travel Plan by Cotswold Transport Planning (Dated December 2021)

Page 124



Transport Assessment (dated December 2021)
Construction Environment Management Plan (June 2022)
CEMP: Biodiversity Keystone (dated December 2021)
Ecological Management Plan (dated December 2021)
Landscape & Ecological Management Plan DLA.2046.RPT.LEMP.01.V03
Biodiversity Net Gain Feasibility & Design Stage Report  by Keystone (Dated 
December 2021)
Glint & Glare Study Revised by Pager Power (dated 30/03/2022) 
Visual Analysis (dated 17 December 2021)
Landscape & Visual Impact Assessment (dated January 2022)
Landscape and Visual Addendum–Further Information (dated 30.03.2022) 
Noise & Acoustic Feasibility Study   by Acoustic Consultants Ltd. (Ref: 
8999/JC (dated 22 December 2021)
Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (dated 20.01.2022)  
Main Site Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (dated February 2021) 
Air Quality Assessment (dated October 2021)
Evesham Road Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (dated November 2021)
Hedgerow Assessment (dated April 2021)
Bat Roost Inspection Survey Report (dated April 2021)
Dormouse Survey (dated October 2021)
Reptile Survey (dated June 2021)
Water Vole & Otter Survey Report (dated September 2021)
Great Crested Newt Survey (dated June 2021)
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (dated 21st December 2021)
Archaeological Evaluation (dated August 2021)
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal & Bat Roost Inspection Rep (dated April 
2021)
Bat Roost Presence/Absence Survey Report (dated September 2021)
Drainage Strategy Report (dated 19th December 2021)
Flood Risk Assessment (dated 15th December 2021)
ICP Catchment 17.12.2021  
BCP - System 1 Car Park 17.12.2021  
BCP - System 2 East Block 19.12.2021  
Geophysical Survey Report (dated March 2021)
Operation & Maintenance Schedule  
Utilities Report  Jones King (dated January 2022)
Interpretive Report on Ground Investigation (dated June 2021)

Plans

P21-0553 Site Location Plan  
9546 PL001 Existing Site Plan  
9546 PL010 Demolitions Plan  
9546-RLL-A-PL101 Rev A 2FE Proposed Site Plan (Phase 1)  
9546-RLL-A-PL102 Rev A 3FE Proposed Site Plan (Phase 2)  
9546-RLL-A-PL201 2FE Ground Floor Plan (Phase 1)  
9546-RLL-A-PL202 2FE First Floor Plan (Phase 1)  
9546-RLL-A-PL251 3FE Ground Floor Plan (Phase 2)  
9546-RLL-A-PL252 3FE First Floor Plan (Phase 2)  
9546-RLL-A-PL253 2FE Roof Plan (Phase 1)  

Page 125



9546-RLL-A-PL254 3FE Roof Plan (Phase 2)  
9546-RLL-A-PL301 2FE Proposed Elevations (Phase 1)  
3MJ  9546-RLL-A-PL302 3FE Proposed Elevations (Phase 2)  
9546-RLL-A-PL303 Proposed Nursey Elevations  
MJ   Construction Logistics Plan  

SK10 Rev I Site Access &Active Travel Improvements Location Plan  
SK11 Rev I Sheet 1 of 3:  Site Access & Active Travel Improvements  
SK12 Rev F Sheet 2 of 3: Site Access & Active Travel Improvements  
SK13 Rev C Sheet 3 of 3: Site Access & Active Travel Improvements  
Transport Assessment: Appendix A to D  
Transport Assessment: Appendix E  
Transport Assessment: Appendix F  
Transport Assessment: Appendix G  
Transport Assessment: Appendix H to N  
Transport Assessment: Appendix O to AB  

2046 38.1 Rev S02 Soft Planting Proposals-Off Site Highways 1 of 2  
2046 38.2 Rev S02 Soft Planting Proposals-Off Site Highways 2 of 2  
2046 35 Rev S04 Soft Planting Proposals Phase 1 - 04.03.2022
2046 32 Rev S03 Soft Planting Proposals Phase 2 - 04.03.2022  
2046 36 Rev S04 Hard Landscape Proposals (Phase 1) - 03.03.2022  
2046 33 Rev S04 Hard Landscape Proposals (Phase 2) - 03.03.2022 

DLA.2046.L31.S05 Illustrative Masterplan - Phase 1  
DLA.2046.L31.S05 Illustrative Masterplan - Phase 2  
DLA.2046.L.41.S01 Section A Southern Boundary  
DLA.2046.L.40.S01 Section B Evesham Road  
DLA.2046.LVA-ADD.RPT.01. V1 Landscape & Visual Addendum  
2046 30 Rev 06 Fencing Plan  
13668-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7050 P01 Existing Levels  
13668-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7051 P0 Proposed Finished Levels  
13668-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7053 P0 Cut & fill Analysis Sections Sheet 1  
13668-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7053 P0 Cut & fill Analysis Sections Sheet 2  
13668-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7054 P0 Cut & fill Analysis Sections Sheet 3  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7000 P01 Drainage Strategy Plan  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7001 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 1  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7002 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 2  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7003 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 3  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7004 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 4  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7005 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 5  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7006 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 6  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7007 P01 Drainage Strategy Sheet 7  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7010 P01 Drainage Details Sheet 1  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7011 P01 Drainage Details Sheet 2  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7020 P01 Storm Water Catchment Areas  
13688-HYD-00-XX-DR-C-7022 P02 Sustainable Urban Drainage Strategy  
Sewer Map 1 Valentine Road  
Sewer Map 2 Pharmacy  
Sewer Map 3 Evesham Road  

Page 126



Extra Samples for Lead Testing  
MW023/TJ/WASTE Letter Clarifying Soil Excavation & Vehicle Movements - 
Carter 
Further Assessment for Hydrological  and Drainage Risk due to Soils letter – 
Structural Soils Ltd (dated 31 January 2022)

Reason: To define the scope of this permission and to ensure that the 
development is carried out as approved and to clarify that the development 
must be carried out in full conformity with the details submitted including the 
mitigation measures proposed in the planning application and supporting 
documents.

Construction hours of working

3. No construction works authorised by this permission shall be carried out on 
site except between the following hours: 

07.30 to 18.00 hours Monday to Friday.
07.30 to 13:00 Saturday

No construction work related to the development shall take place on Sundays, 
Bank or Public Holidays.

The term ‘construction work’ shall, for purpose of clarification of this condition 
include: the use of any plant or machinery (mechanical or other), the carrying 
out of any maintenance/cleaning work on any plant or machinery, deliveries to 
and from the site and the movement of construction vehicles within the 
curtilage of the site.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with Joint 
Core Strategy Policy SD14.

Highways

4. Throughout the construction period of the development hereby permitted 
provision shall be made within the site that is sufficient to accommodate the 
likely demand generated for the following:
i. parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;

ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials;

iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;

iv. provide for wheel washing facilities.

Reason: To reduce the potential impact on the public highway and 
accommodate the efficient delivery of goods and to ensure that the adjoining 

Page 127



public highway is kept free from mud and debris in accordance with JCS 
policy INF1 and Paragraph 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Completion of Access Works

5. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the 
means of access for vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists have been constructed 
and completed in accordance with drawings SK11 Rev I, SK 12 Rev F and 
SK13 Rev C.

Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with JCS policy INF1 
and Paragraphs 110 and 112 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

Highway Improvements

6. No construction works shall take place above any on-site Damp-Proof Course 
level until drawings of the highway works comprising:

• School Safety Zone on A435
• Proposed street trees and landscaping on the A435 and future 

management plan

have been submitted to the County Planning Authority for approval in writing; 
and the building shall not be occupied until those works have been 
constructed in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the safe and free flow of traffic onto the highway 
accordance with JCS policy INF1 and Paragraphs 110 and 112 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Travel Plan

7. The School Travel Plan hereby approved, dated December 2021 shall be 
implemented and monitored in accordance with the regime contained within 
the Plan. In the event of failing to meet the targets within the Plan a revised 
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning 
Authority to address any shortfalls, and where necessary make provision for 
and promote improved sustainable forms of travel to and from the site. The 
submitted details shall use Modeshift STARS to carry out this process and 
include mechanisms for monitoring and review over the life of the 
development and timescales for implementation. The approved Travel Plan 
shall be implemented, monitored and reviewed in accordance with the 
approved details 

Page 128



Reason: To reduce vehicle movements and promote sustainable travel up in 
accordance with JCS policy INF1 and Paragraph 113 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Parking Facilities

8. Prior to the first use of the development hereby approved a maximum of 53 
car parking spaces, a minimum of 5 accessible spaces, a minimum of 80 
bicycle spaces, a minimum of 80 scooter spaces, a minimum of 2 motorcycle 
spaces and a minimum of 7 electric vehicles spaces, shall be provided. These 
spaces should be maintained throughout the lifetime of the planning 
permission. 

Reason: To ensure suitable parking facilities are provided to support the 
development in accordance with JCS policy INF1 and Paragraph 112 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.

Construction Management Plan

9. Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted details of a 
Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the County Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. The plan/statement shall include but not 
be restricted to: 

 Parking of vehicle of site operatives and visitors (including measures 
taken to ensure satisfactory access and movement for existing 
occupiers of neighbouring properties during construction); 

 Advisory routes for construction traffic; 
 Any temporary access to the site; 
 Locations for loading/unloading and storage of plant, waste and 

construction materials;
 Method of preventing mud and dust being carried onto the highway;
 Arrangements for turning vehicles;
 Arrangements to receive abnormal loads or unusually large vehicles;
 Joint Highway Condition survey; 
 Methods of communicating the Construction Management Plan to staff, 

visitors and neighbouring residents and businesses; and 
 Registration and compliance with code of conduct with the Considerate 

Constructors scheme.

Reason: In the interests of safe operation of the adopted highway in the lead 
into development during the construction phase of the development in 
accordance with JCS policy INF1 and Paragraph 110 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Page 129



10.The development hereby approved shall not be brought into beneficial use 
until the implementation of traffic regulation orders (TROs) relating to 

 the provision of a 40mph speed limit on the A435 north of Bishop’s 
Cleeve fronting the development;

 provision of a clearway order on the A435 north of Bishop’s Cleeve 
fronting the development; and

 provision of waiting restrictions at the junctions of Evesham 
Road/Valentine Road and Evesham Road/Greenacres Way.

Reason: To restrict impact and harm until suitable mitigation is delivered in 
accordance with JCS policy INF1 and Paragraph 110 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

Landscaping/Ecology

11.  Within 6 months of commencement of development a landscaping scheme 
shall be submitted for approval in writing by the County Planning Authority. 
The submitted scheme shall include finalised details of the soft and hard 
landscaping at the site and highway including details relating to materials, 
finishes, equipment, species, densities and fruit tree grafting. The approved 
details shall be fully implemented before the development is brought into 
beneficial use.

Reason: To ensure that the landscape requirements are successfully 
implemented and maintained in accordance with policies SD6 and SD9 of the 
JCS, NAT1 of the TBP and paragraphs 174 and 180 of the NPPF.

12.Prior to the beneficial use of the site a landscaping management and 
maintenance scheme shall be submitted for approval in writing by the County 
Planning Authority. The submitted scheme shall be implemented as approved 
and include details relating to future maintenance and management of the 
scheme including 30 year Biodiversity Net Gain monitoring and reporting 
requirements.

Reason: To ensure that the landscape requirements are successfully 
implemented and maintained in accordance with policies SD6 and SD9 of the 
JCS, NAT1 of the TBP and paragraphs 174 and 180 of the NPPF.

13.Prior to commencement of development tree and hedgerow protection 
measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County 
Planning Authority in accordance with details submitted in the Arboricultural 
Impact Assessment ref 211206 1228 AIA V1a dated 22 December 2021. The 
scheme shall be implemented as approved for the duration of the construction 
period.

Page 130



Reason: To ensure that the existing trees and hedgerows are appropriately 
protected during the course of development in accordance with policies SD6 
and SD9 of the JCS, NAT1 of the TBP and paragraphs 174 and 180 of the 
NPPF.

14.Prior to the removal of existing orchard trees grafting of sufficient existing fruit 
tree material onto rootstock to meet the requirements of the approved 
landscaping scheme shall be undertaken. The approved details shall be fully 
implemented in accordance with the approved landscaping scheme and the 
approved landscaping management and maintenance scheme.

Reason: To ensure that the existing trees and hedgerows are appropriately 
protected during the course of development in accordance with policies SD6 
and SD9 of the JCS, NAT1 of the TBP and paragraphs 174 and 180 of the 
NPPF.

15.Prior to commencement of development a Biodiversity CEMP which should be 
implemented alongside the general CEMP shall be submitted and approved in 
writing by the County Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall detail 
the GCN licensing approach to be taken and be fully implemented in 
accordance with timescales contained within the CEMP.

Reason: In the interests of ecology and biodiversity protection and 
enhancement during the course of development in accordance with policies 
SD6 and SD9 of the JCS, NAT1 of the TBP and paragraphs 174 and 180 of 
the NPPF.

16.During the construction phase all hazardous chemicals, if left on site 
overnight, are to be secured and any excavations covered or designed with 
one sloped side or ramp in place. Also, all open pipes to be capped off 
overnight that are larger than 150mm outside diameter. All excavations to be 
filled in as soon as is practicable.

Reason: As a precaution to ensure the site is made safe from environmental 
pollution and that animals including those legally protected are prevented from 
becoming trapped within excavations. In accordance with JCS Policy SD6 and 
SD9, NAT1 of the TLP, ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraphs 179 and 185. This is also in accordance with Section 
40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (as 
amended), which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities.

17.The LEMP (Reference DLA.2046.RPT.LEMP.01.V03) and the Ecological 
Management Plan at Appendix B of the LEMP shall be fully implemented in 
accordance with revised plans ref 

 9546-RLL-A-PL101 Rev A;
 9546-RLL-A-PL102 Rev A;
 Landscape and Visual Addendum revised plans namely;

Page 131



 Soft Planting Proposals Phase 1 Drawing L35 Rev S04 dated 
04.03.2022;

 Soft Planting Proposals Phase 1 Drawing L32 Rev S03 dated 
04.03.2022;

 Hard Landscape Proposals (Phase 1) Drawing L36 Rev S04 dated 
03.03.2022; and

 Hard Landscape Proposals (Phase 2) Drawing L33 Rev S03 dated 
03.03.2022

Reason: In the interests of ecology and biodiversity protection and 
enhancement during the course of development in accordance with policies 
SD6 and SD9 of the JCS, NAT1 of the TBP and paragraphs 174 and 180 of 
the NPPF.

18.External lighting shall be fully implemented in accordance with a scheme, 
based on 5.14 to 5.16 of the Bat Roost Presence/Absence Survey Report 
dated September 2021, which has been submitted and approved in writing by 
the County Planning Authority.

Reason: To conserve amenity and ensure that bats, dormice, otters and 
badgers are not discouraged at this location. In accordance with JCS policy 
SC9 and NPPF Paragraphs 170, 175 and 180 and Section 40 of the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 which confers a general 
biodiversity duty upon local authorities whilst exercising their functions.

19.After December 2023, no works shall take place on the development site until 
further surveys for badger activity and presence of any bat roosting in trees on 
the site are carried out.  A report with appropriate mitigation measures should 
be prepared and submitted for the written approval of the County Planning 
Authority. The mitigation measures in the approved report shall be fully 
implemented before works commence or resume.

Reason: As a precaution to ensure the site is made safe from environmental 
pollution and that animals including those legally protected are prevented from 
becoming trapped within excavations. In accordance with JCS policy SC9 and 
NAT1 of the TLP, ODPM Circular 06/2005 plus National Planning Policy 
Framework paragraphs 179 and 185. This is also in accordance with Section 
40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (as 
amended), which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities.

20.  Upon completion of the landscape works (or upon the occupation of the 
building), an annual landscape inspection by the Applicant and a suitably 
qualified Landscape Architect, of the approved and implemented landscaping 
scheme shall take place each year for the for the first five years of the LEMP.  
Thereafter the landscape inspection should take place every three years. A 
report with appropriate mitigation measures should be prepared and 

Page 132



submitted for the written approval of the County Planning Authority. The 
mitigation measures in the approved report shall be fully implemented.  

Reason: To ensure the implementation of the LEMP to ensure the successful 
establishment and development of the landscape to meet landscape, visual 
and ecological mitigation requirements and provide for the expected 
biodiversity gain in accordance with CS policy SC9 and NAT1 of the TLP, plus 
National Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 179 and 185.

21.Prior to the construction of above ground works, finalised details and samples 
of the materials to be used for the external appearance of the building(s) shall 
be submitted for the written approval of the County Planning Authority. The 
buildings shall be built in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development is compatible with its location and 
sustainable design credentials in accordance with JCS policy SD3 and 
Paragraphs 130 and 135 of the NPPF.

Sports Pitches

22.Within 2 months of commencement of development details of the design and 
layout of the artificial grass pitches and MUGA shall be submitted for the 
approval in writing by the County Planning Authority. The artificial grass 
pitches and MUGA shall not be constructed other than in accordance with the 
approved details.

Reason: To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable and to 
accord with Joint Core Strategy Policies SD3 and INF4 and Paragraph 98 of 
the NPPF.
 

23.Within 6 months of the commencement of development:
 A detailed assessment of ground conditions of the land proposed for the 

new playing field land shall be undertaken (including drainage and 
topography) to identify constraints which could affect playing field quality; 
and 

 Based on the results of this assessment to be carried out, a detailed 
scheme to ensure that the playing fields will be provided to an 
acceptable quality (including appropriate drainage where necessary) 
shall be submitted to the County Planning Authority for approval in 
writing. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the 
sports pitches are brought into beneficial use.

Reason: To ensure that site surveys are undertaken for new and that any 
ground condition constraints can be and are mitigated to ensure provision of 
an adequate quality playing field and to accord with JCS policies SD3 and 
INF4, TLP policy HEA1 and paragraph 98 of the NPPF.

Page 133



24.The sports pitches, playing field and MUGA shall be used for Outdoor Sport 
and for no other purpose (including without limitation any other purpose in 
Class F1 Use Classes Order 2020, or in any provision equivalent to that Class 
in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification).

Reason: To protect the sports pitches, playing field and MUGA from loss 
and/or damage, to maintain the quality of and secure the safe use of sports 
pitch/es and to accord with JCS policies SD3 and INF4, TLP policy HEA1 and 
paragraph 98 of the NPPF.

Lighting

25.All non-essential lighting on the school site shall be turned off every night by 
no later than 21:00 hours to 06:00 hours Mondays to Fridays, and 20:00 to 
06.00 hours Saturdays, Sundays and Bank / Public Holidays.  

Reason:  In the interests of seeking to protect the residential amenities of the 
occupiers of the nearby properties and in accordance with JCS Policies SD3, 
SD6, SD9, SD14 and INF5 and NAT1 of the TLP. 

Dust

26.No below or above ground development shall commence until a Dust 
Management Plan (DMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing to 
the County Planning Authority. The approved DMP shall be fully implemented 
in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To minimise the dust generation during groundworks and 
construction works to protect the amenity of nearby and adjoining land users 
in accordance with JCS policy SD14.

Noise

27.The development shall be built in accordance with Acoustic Design of 
Schools: Performance Standards (DfES 2014) and for external plant in 
accordance with the Noise and Acoustic Feasibility Impact Assessment 
prepared by Acoustic Consultants Ltd ref: 8999/JC.

Reason: To ensure that to ensure that there are no adverse impacts from 
noise at the nearest sensitive receptors in accordance with JCS policy SD14, 
TLP policy HEA1 and NPPF paragraph 185.

Removal of Permitted Development Rights

Page 134



28. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order 
revoking or re-enacting that order with or without modification) no buildings, 
structures, alterations or operations, as defined within Class A of part 4, Class 
M and N of Part 7 and Class A of Part 12  of Schedule 2 of the Order, shall be 
carried out on the site otherwise than in accordance with a planning 
permission granted by the County Planning Authority. 

Reason: To enable the County Planning Authority to adequately control, 
monitor and minimise the impacts on the amenities of the local area, and in 
the interests of the conservation of local biodiversity and public amenity in 
accordance with JCS policies SD6, SD9 and SD14 and TLP policy HEA1.

Waste Minimisation

29. No below or above ground development shall commence until a detailed site 
waste management plan or equivalent has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the County Planning Authority. The detailed site waste 
management plan must identify: - the specific types and amount of waste 
materials forecast to be generated from the development during site 
preparation & demolition and construction phases; and the specific measures 
will be employed for dealing with this material so as to: - minimise its creation, 
maximise the amount of re-use and recycling on-site; maximise the amount of 
off-site recycling of any wastes that are unusable on-site; and reduce the 
overall amount of waste sent to landfill. In addition, the detailed site waste 
management plan must also set out the proposed proportions of recycled 
content that will be used in construction materials. The detailed site waste 
management plan shall be fully implemented as approved unless the local 
planning authority gives prior written permission for any variation.

Reason –To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation and 
resource efficiency measures in accordance with adopted Gloucestershire 
Waste Core Strategy: Core Policy WCS2 – Waste Reduction and adopted 
Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire Policy SR01

30. No above-ground development shall commence until full details of the 
provision made for facilitating the management and recycling of waste 
generated during occupation have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the County Planning Authority. This must include details of the appropriate 
and adequate space and infrastructure to allow for the separate storage of 
recyclable waste materials. The management of waste during occupation 
must be aligned with the principles of the waste hierarchy and not prejudice 
the local collection authority’s ability to meet its waste management targets. 
All details shall be fully implemented as approved unless the local planning 
authority gives prior written permission for any variation.

Page 135



Reason - To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation and 
resource efficiency measures in accordance with adopted Gloucestershire 
Waste Core Strategy: Core Policy WCS2 – Waste Reduction

Informatives

Highways

1. Works on the Public Highway
The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of work on the adopted 
highway. You are advised that before undertaking work on the adopted highway you 
must enter into a highway agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 
with the County Council, which would specify the works and the terms and conditions 
under which they are to be carried out.

Contact the Highway Authority’s Legal Agreements Development Management 
Team at highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk  allowing sufficient time 
for the preparation and signing of the Agreement. You will be required to pay fees to 
cover the Councils costs in undertaking the following actions:

Drafting the Agreement

A Monitoring Fee

2. Traffic Regulation Order (TRO)
You are advised that a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) is required. You must submit 
a plan to scale of an indicative scheme for a TRO, along with timescales for 
commencement and completion of the development. Please be aware that the 
statutory TRO process is not straightforward; involving advertisement and 
consultation of the proposal(s).

You should expect a minimum of six months to elapse between the Highway 
Authority’s TRO Team confirming that it has all the information necessary to enable it 
to proceed and the TRO being advertised. You will not be permitted to implement the 
TRO measures until the TRO has been sealed, and we cannot always guarantee the 
outcome of the process.

We cannot begin the TRO process until the appropriate fee has been received. To 
arrange for a TRO to be processed contact the Highway Authority’s Legal 
Agreements Development Management Team at 
highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

The cost of implementing any lining, signing or resurfacing required by the TRO is 
separate to the TRO fees, which solely cover the administration required to prepare, 
consult, amend and seal the TRO.

3. Street Trees

Page 136

mailto:highwaylegalagreements@gloucestershire.gov.uk


All proposed street trees must be suitable for transport corridors as defined by Trees 
and Design Action Group (TDAG). Details should be provided of what management 
systems are to be included, this includes root protections, watering and ongoing 
management. Street trees are likely to be subject to a commuted sum.

4. Impact on the highway network during construction
The development hereby approved and any associated highway works required, is 
likely to impact on the operation of the highway network during its construction (and 
any demolition required). You are advised to contact the Highway Authorities 
Network Management Team at  
Network&TrafficManagement@gloucestershire.gov.uk before undertaking any work, 
to discuss any temporary traffic management measures required, such as footway, 
Public Right of Way, carriageway closures or temporary parking restrictions a 
minimum of eight weeks prior to any activity on site to enable Temporary Traffic 
Regulation Orders to be prepared and a programme of Temporary Traffic 
Management measures to be agreed.

Ecology

5. If a protected species (such as any bat, great crested newt, dormouse, 
badger, water vole, otter, reptile, barn owl or any nesting bird) is discovered using a 
feature on site that would be affected by the development or related works all activity 
which might affect the species at the locality should cease. If such discoveries can 
be dealt with satisfactorily by the implementation of mitigation measures that have 
already been drawn up by your ecological advisor and approved by the County 
Planning Authority and/or you and your contractors, then these should be 
implemented. Otherwise a suitably experienced ecologist should be contacted and 
the situation assessed before works can proceed. This action is necessary to avoid 
possible prosecution and ensure compliance with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended) and the Protection of Badgers Act 1992. Works taking place between 1st 
March and 31st August require special care as trees, shrub, open fields or certain 
parts of built structures could harbour nesting birds unless it is reasonably 
determined by observation or survey by an experienced person that nesting bird 
activity is absent. This advice note should be passed on to any persons or 
contractors carrying out the development/works.

6. In relation to the County Council’s Service Level Agreement with the Local 
Biological Records Centre and to assist in the strategic conservation of countywide 
biodiversity, all species and habitat records from the ecological work commissioned 
by the Applicant should be copied [if not already] to the Gloucestershire Centre for 
Environmental Records (GCER).

Lead Local Flood Authority

Page 137



7. The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) will give consideration to how the 
proposed sustainable drainage system can incorporate measures to help protect 
water quality. However pollution control is the responsibility of the Environment 
Agency.

8. Future management of Sustainable Drainage Systems is a matter that will be 
dealt with by the County Planning Authority and has not, therefore, been considered 
by the LLFA.

9. Any revised documentation will only be considered by the LLFA when 
resubmitted through suds@gloucestershire.gov.uk e-mail address. Please quote the 
planning application number in the subject field.

10.We would advise that the proposed lengthening of the culvert under the A435 
will require consent under the 1991 Land Drainage Act. Given that the Dean Brook 
classified as an ordinary watercourse to the east of the A435 and a main river to the 
east of the A435 consents will need to be sought from both the Environment Agency 
and the Tewkesbury Borough Council.

Western Power Distribution

11. Western Power Distribution have High Voltage overhead distribution network 
within this proposed development. The Applicant must agree to the diversion of the 
network at the developer’s cost.

 Please note that all WPD equipment on site should be assumed to be LIVE until 
WPD prove otherwise and provide you with confirmation to this effect in writing. 
Recent additions to our network, or service connections between the main cable and 
a building or street lamp may not be shown.

Damage to underground cables and contact with overhead lines can cause severe 
injury or may prove fatal. If you are excavating on site in the vicinity of either WPD 
Electrical apparatus or WPD Surf Telecom apparatus you must comply with the 
requirements of the following:-

Health & Safety Executive guidance HS(G)47, Avoiding Danger from underground 
services.

Work taking place in the vicinity of our plant is also regulated under the:-
Electricity at Work Regulations 1989, Health and Safety Act 1974, CDM Regulations 
2015. Safe working procedures should be defined and practiced

Please ensure that the use of mechanical excavators in the vicinity of our plant is 
kept to a minimum. WPD Surf Telecom ducts contain fibre cables, which are 
expensive to repair. Therefore, extreme care must be taken whilst working in the 
vicinity of these ducts, hand digging methods being used to determine their precise 
position.

If there are overhead lines crossing your site and your proposal involves building 

Page 138



works which may infringe the clearance to our overhead system then you should call 
the relevant general enquiries number (see page 2 of this letter) for advice. Where 
overhead lines cross your site you must comply with the requirements of Health & 
Safety Executive guidance as laid down in GS6, Avoidance of Danger from 
Overhead Electric Lines.

Where diversions to WPD apparatus are needed to allow change to occur on site, 
the cost of these alterations may be charged to the persons responsible for the 
works.

Wales and West Utilities

12. No liability of any kind whatsoever is accepted by Wales and West Utilities 
(WWU), its agents or servants for any error or omission. Please note that all WWU 
equipment on site should be assumed to be LIVE until proven otherwise.

Safe digging practices, in accordance with HS(G)47, Avoiding Danger from 
underground services must be used to verify and establish the actual position of 
mains, pipes, services and other apparatus on site before any mechanical plant is 
used. It is your responsibility to ensure that this information is provided to all persons 
(either direct labour or contractors) working for you on or near gas apparatus. Safe 
working procedures should be defined and practiced.

WWU reserves its position completely to enforce the terms of any existing easement 
against the landowner, even if this results in any planning permission granted not 
being able to be fully implemented.

You must not build over any of our plant or enclose our apparatus.

Wales & West Utilities have no planning objections to these proposals, although it 
should be noted that Wales & West's apparatus is held pursuant to easements and it 
has other private law rights in relation to the use of the land in the vicinity of its 
apparatus. Wales & West's private law land rights are not material planning 
considerations and therefore no comment is made in relation to those rights and they 
have no impact on whether or not planning permission should be granted, or 
whether, if permission is granted, it can lawfully be implemented. It should also be 
noted that Wales & West's apparatus may be at risk during construction works and 
should the planning application be approved, then we require the promoter of these 
works to contact us directly to discuss our requirements in detail. Should diversion 
works be required these will be fully chargeable.

Where diversions to WWU apparatus are needed to allow change to occur on site, 
the cost of these alterations may be charged to the persons responsible for the 
works.

If you have requested a new connection the WWU connections team will where 

Page 139



necessary prepare detailed proposals and provide a quotation for any necessary 
alterations and/or development of our equipment on the site.

 

Appendix on Conditions Informatives which must be used for GCN District 
licensing.

Great crested newt district licence 
Planning conditions & informatives 

Under the District Licences granted by Natural England, there is a requirement for the use of certain 
specified conditions on planning permissions which will be authorised by the planning authority 
under the District Licence.  The wording of the conditions cannot be varied and must be used as 
shown, because they are agreed by Natural England as part of the protocols and processes 
approved under the District Licence. Legal advice has affirmed that these conditions are compliant 
with all relevant legal and policy requirements.  All LPAs working under this district licensing 
scheme use the same standard planning conditions.

NatureSpace Partnership will provide the appropriate conditions and specific details as required 
for each proposed development which enters the scheme.  This information will be provided in the 
reports and certificates commissioned by developers under the scheme, which will be submitted 
to the LPA in support of planning applications. It is recommended that each planning authority 
includes reference to their own specific development plan policies for each condition. 

NOTE: NatureSpace Partnership have moved to providing an upfront assessment summary for 
developments which are interested in utilising the District Licence Scheme. The assessment 
summary is not a report or a certificate and does not replace these documents. It is a guidance 
document for the developer to outline associated costs and process should they choose to use 
the scheme. 

There are three mandatory planning conditions to use the district licence, but which ones apply 
are specific to each development. 
 

 Condition 1 applies to all developments authorised under the organisational licence – and 
there is an associated informative. This condition links a specific planning consent to the 
district licence and enable the subsequent authorisation of the development under the 
district licence.  

 Condition 2 is a pre-commencement condition and is only to be used when a certificate is 
yet to be provided – and there are two associated informatives. 

 Condition 3 is only to be used in the red zone, with each sub-clause only used when 
necessary, dependent upon the actual specific impacts and metric assessment outcome. 
There is an associated informative. 

1. No development hereby permitted shall take place except in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the Council’s organisational licence (WML-ORXX) and with the proposals detailed on 
plan XX (and, where applicable in report Ref XX).

Page 140



Reason: In order to ensure that adverse impacts on great crested newts are adequately mitigated 
and to ensure that site works are delivered in full compliance with the organisational licence (WML-
ORXX). [Each Planning Authority may insert reference to specific relevant development plan 
policies]

Informative: It is recommended that the NatureSpace Best Practice Principles are taken into 
account and implemented where possible and appropriate.

2. No development hereby permitted shall take place unless and until a certificate from the 
Delivery Partner (as set out in the District Licence WML-ORXX), confirming that all necessary 
measures in regard to great crested newt compensation have been appropriately dealt with, has 
been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority and the local authority has 
provided authorisation for the development to proceed under the district newt licence.  
The Delivery Partner certificate must be submitted to this planning authority for approval prior to 
the commencement of the development hereby approved. 

Reason: In order to adequately compensate for negative impacts to great crested newts. [Each 
Planning Authority may insert reference to specific relevant development plan policies]

Informative: It is recommended that the NatureSpace certificate is submitted to this planning 
authority at least 6 months prior to the intended commencement of any works on site.

Informative:  It is essential to note that any works or activities whatsoever undertaken on site 
(including ground investigations, site preparatory works or ground clearance) prior to receipt of 
the written authorisation from the planning authority (which permits the development to proceed 
under the District Licence WML-ORXX) are not licensed under the GCN District Licence.  Any such 
works or activities have no legal protection under the GCN District Licence and if offences against 
GCN are thereby committed then criminal investigation and prosecution by the police may follow. 

3. No development hereby permitted shall take place except in accordance with Part 1 of the 
GCN Mitigation Principles, as set out in the District Licence WML-ORXX [and in addition in 
compliance with the following [any or all of the following sub-clauses may be added to condition 
3, as determined by the planning condition calculator contained in Annex A4 of the District 
Licence]:

1. Works to existing ponds onsite may only be undertaken during autumn/winter, unless 
otherwise in accordance with the GCN Mitigation Principles. 

2. Works which will affect likely newt hibernacula may only be undertaken during the 
active period for amphibians.

3. Capture methods must be used at suitable habitat features prior to the commencement 
of the development (i.e. hand/destructive/night searches), which may include the use 
of temporary amphibian fencing, to prevent newts moving onto a development site 
from adjacent suitable habitat, installed for the period of the development (and 
removed upon completion of the development). 

4. Amphibian fencing and pitfall trapping must be undertaken at suitable habitats and 
features, prior to commencement of the development. 

5. The recommendations in report [report title, date, reference] provided as part of the 
planning application must be complied with.]

Reason: In order to adequately mitigate impacts on great crested newts [Each Planning Authority 
insert reference to specific relevant development plan policies]

Informative: It is essential to note that any ground investigations, site preparatory works and 
ground / vegetation clearance works / activities (where not constituting development under the 

Page 141



Town and Country Planning Act 1990) in a red zone site authorised under the District Licence but 
which fail to respect controls equivalent to those in condition 3 above  would give rise to separate 
criminal liability under District Licence condition 9  (requiring authorised developers to comply with 
the District Licence) and condition 21 (which requires all authorised developers to comply with the 
GCN Mitigation Principles) (for which Natural England is the enforcing authority); and may also give 
rise to criminal liability under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and/or the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (for which the police is the enforcing 
authority). 

CONTACT OFFICER:

Case Officer – Denis Canney, Senior Planning Officer

Email: planningdc@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 142



1

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT PROGRESS REPORT 

Planning Committee – 7th July 2022

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To identify the level and nature of enforcement activity undertaken by the 
Planning Enforcement team (as Minerals and Waste Planning Authority) during 
2022 up to and including 14th June, comparative to previous years.

1.2 To highlight complaints received and identify progress on planning enforcement 
matters raised as ‘Regulation 3 Development’, i.e. where the County Council is 
either the landowner, in control of the land, or the activity relates to the Council’s 
functions.

1.3 To provide further details regarding the planning enforcement service, how it 
operates, and other work undertaken.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 Effective enforcement is important to maintain public confidence in the planning 
system. Enforcement action is discretionary and local planning authorities should 
act proportionately in responding to suspected breaches of planning control. 
Gloucestershire County Council employs one-full time Planning Enforcement 
Officer, covering the whole of Gloucestershire, based in the Planning and 
Development Management (PDM) team. The role exists to investigate alleged 
breaches of planning regulations, work with those responsible to resolve any 
issues identified, and consider appropriate action where identified breaches 
cannot be remedied through other approaches.

2.2 The expectation of a Planning Enforcement service is often that action can and 
should be taken immediately to reverse unauthorised development or address 
unlawful activity. While this may be possible for the most serious and urgent of 
matters, the reality is that a Planning Enforcement Officer spends the vast 
majority of his/her time in resolving matters through investigation, negotiation, 
and persuasion. The scope of this work at Gloucestershire County Council is set 
out in section 3 of this Report.

2.3 Formal enforcement action is sometimes necessary, however is considered a 
last resort, as it is hoped that compliance will be achieved by mutual agreement. 
The Council’s commitment to taking such legal actions is set out in its Planning 
Enforcement Plan. However, this last resort should only be considered when 
necessary evidence relating to a breach has been clearly gathered, the harm 
caused by its impact is demonstrable, and where the Council decides it is 
expedient, in the public interest, and legally sound. Where all these tests are 

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



2

clearly met the Council will look to pursue such action. Failure to do so could 
potentially result in judicial review proceedings and/or financial penalties against 
the Council, as well as reputational damage.  

2.4 Government policy advises that local planning authorities consider publishing a 
local Planning Enforcement Plan to manage enforcement proactively, in a way 
appropriate for their area. The current plan was published in 2019 and sets out a 
further explanation of how the service operates, and is supported by a set of 
Customer Service Standards. Officer(s) consistently work to, and meet, these 
standards.

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-
enforcement/planning-enforcement-plan/

2.5 A full review of the Planning Enforcement Plan has been undertaken, and a first 
draft produced. This has been considered by Planning Officers and an updated 
version is being prepared for wider consultation. The Plan will be brought before 
Planning Committee members later in 2022. 

3.0 CURRENT CASELOAD

48

61

73 72

88

23

62
64

70

55

30 29

38
40

73

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 (Projected)
20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

New 
investigations
Resolved 
investigations
Open 
investigations

 

3.1 The following is a summary of enforcement activity during 2022, to 14th June:

 40 new enquiries received requiring full investigation;

Page 144

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-enforcement/planning-enforcement-plan/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-enforcement/planning-enforcement-plan/


3

 An additional 11 general enquiries, reports or complaints relating to the planning 
status of activities or land have been received and answered, which although 
requiring some assessment, did not require full investigation;

 25 investigations resolved or otherwise concluded;
 A total of 81 different cases worked on in 2022 to date; 55 investigations remain 

‘live’.

3.2 The graph above identifies planning enforcement caseload since 2018, and 
shows an increasing workload during that period. Projections for 2022 shows an 
increase in the number of new investigations, and a doubling of ‘live’ cases by 
the end of the year. However, some care should be taken as this is an 
extrapolated figure, based on a large number of enquiries and complaints 
received so far this calendar year, and will be kept under review. 

3.3 The following identifies some of the main areas of work currently being 
undertaken by the Enforcement Officer: 

 A full review of cases is under way to identify any older cases that could now be 
concluded. No investigation will be closed without full and proper justification for 
doing so, and only with the prior authorisation of the Team Manager 
Development Management, in line with the Council’s Planning Enforcement 
Plan.

 A number of approved sites have not fully implemented landscaping schemes as 
required by condition of their planning permission. The Enforcement Officer is 
addressing these with operators, and considering other options to achieve this 
on sites where works were not completed by the end of the 2022 planting season 
(March 31st).

 There has been particular focus since the last update on the following matters:

 Investigation into a number of new or improved land accesses in 
Brookthorpe, using inert waste materials (in liaison with Stroud District 
Council)

 Monitoring of water management and restoration measures being undertaken 
as part of extraction activities at Manor Farm, Whelford

 Discussion relating to outstanding works and conditions requirements at 
Wingmoor Biosolids in Stoke Orchard

 Discussion relating to revised restoration and after-care measures at Oxleaze 
Quarry

 Ongoing inspections at Ford area quarries following complaints received from 
local residents

 Monitoring of preliminary works at Loader’s Barn, prior to extraction of clay, 
following enquiries from local residents.

4.0     FORMAL ACTION

4.1 When the Council’s requirements are not met, following a reasonable period 

Page 145



4

given for compliance, and where the identified breach causes significant harm, 
then formal action will be considered to remedy the situation. This usually involves 
service of a Notice and/or prosecution.

4.2 There is currently one Enforcement Notice in effect, and is currently subject to 
discussions with the Council’s Legal team following non-compliance with its 
requirements. 

5.0     ‘REGULATION 3’ MATTERS

5.1 The County Council is rightly expected to investigate complaints relating to its 
own land or services, and approach their resolution in the same way as it would 
for any other breach of planning control reported. In order to demonstrate this 
transparency, reports to Committee will identify all such investigations, setting 
out progress, the latest position and outcome.  

5.2 The Planning Enforcement Officer has received the following ‘Regulation 3’ 
related enquiries since the last Planning Enforcement Progress Report:

 Cleeve School drainage – this relates to further flooding of a neighbouring 
property, and whether the drainage maintenance programme is being adhered to 
(required as a condition of planning permission). This matter is currently under 
discussion between the Council’s Asset Management Property Services Team 
(AMPS) and the drainage contractor.

 A complaint was received about the operational hours at Warden Hill Primary 
School, however retrospective planning permission was given at May Planning 
Committee following consideration of the issues. This now allows operations to 
take place during the hours initially reported.

6.0 CONCLUSION

6.1 The performance of the Planning Enforcement team is set out in sections 3.0 to 
5.0 and demonstrates Gloucestershire County Council’s commitment to 
investigating and resolving breaches of planning control in line with the 
provisions of the Planning Enforcement Plan, which is currently being reviewed. 

6.2 A total of 55 cases are currently under investigation. In addition to any further 
enquiries received, the Planning Enforcement Officer will continue to work to try 
and resolve or meet a satisfactory outcome on as many of these cases as 
possible.

CONTACT OFFICER: 
Andy Birchley - Senior Planning Officer (Enforcement)
andy.birchley@gloucestershire.gov.uk

07795 061 664

Page 146

mailto:andy.birchley@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Delegated decisions between 29th April 2022 and 21st June 2022
County Matters

Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue Date Decision
21/0019/GLS73W Variation of condition 15(Detailed 

Drainage Scheme - Approval of flood 
modelling report JNP reference S10988-
JNP-XX-XX-RP-C-1001 Flood Risk 
Modelling Jan 2021, and updated 
drainage layout and details) relating to 
planning consent 19/0033/GLMAJW & 
20/0005/COMPLI dated 25/09/2019 and 
20/03/2020.

Old Gas Works
Bristol Road
Gloucester
Gloucestershire

29/04/2022 Consent

21/0075/STMAJW Installation of a Combined Sewer 
Overflow (CSO) and associated outfall 
south of the A419, Ebley Bypass.

Land South of A419, Ebley Bypass 07/06/2022 Consent

21/0083/CWS73W Variation of condition 6 to permit 
overnight parking of 2 ancillary waste 
vehicles relating to planning permission 
20/0030/CWMAJW [increase in 
importation of waste for feedstock for 
the existing Anaerobic Digester Plant 
from 70,000 tonnes up to 120,000 tonnes 
annually], dated 20/09/2021

Stanleys Quarry
Greenway Road
Blockley
Gloucestershire

06/05/2022 Consent

21/0093/STS73W Variation of condition 3 (Hours of 
Operation) relating to planning consent 
13/0006/STMAJW dated 01/05/2013, to 
enable the unloading of trade waste 
collection vehicles at night.

Smiths Resource Recovery Centre
Moreton Valence
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL2 7NG

18/05/2022 Consent

P
age 147

A
genda Item

 11



22/0010/GLMAJW Installation of a Motor Control Centre 
(MCC) Kiosk.

Netheridge Sewage Treatment 
Works
Netheridge Close
Gloucester
Gloucestershire
GL2 5LE

27/05/2022 Consent

22/0020/NONMAT Non-material amendment to condition 3 
a design change to introduce a new 
'white diesel' tank following new UK 
legislation from 01 April 2022 relating to 
relating to appeal 
APP/T1600/A/13/2200210 Allowed 
16/01/2015.  GCC Public Access appeal 
ref. 13/0001/INQUIR. (Original planning 
ref. 12/0008/STMAJW.

Javelin Park
Bath Road
Haresfield
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 3ET

14/06/2022 Non Material 
Amendment 
Approval

Regulation 3 
Application Ref Proposal Site Location Decision Issue Date Decision

21/0039/CWREG3 Replacement of end-of-life single glazed 
windows.

Cirencester Primary School
Victoria Road
Cirencester
Gloucestershire
GL7 1EX

01/06/2022 Consent

22/0008/CWREG3 Proposed external play area. Mickleton Primary School
Broad Marston Lane
Mickleton
Gloucestershire
GL55 6SJ

16/06/2022 Consent

22/0014/COMPLI Compliance with conditions 9(Waste 
Minimisation Statement), 
18(Archaeology), 20(Dust Management 

Gloucester South West Bypass 
(GSWB) 
Llanthony Road

11/05/2022 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

P
age 148



Plan) & 21(Noise) relating to planning 
consent 18/0052/GLR3MJ dated 
09/04/2019.

Gloucester
Gloucestershire

22/0015/COMPLI Compliance with condition 17 relating to 
planning consent 20/0032/CHR3MJ dated 
20/07/2020

Land Between
Farm Lane/Kidnappers Lane
Cheltenham
Gloucestershire

25/05/2022 Compliance 
with 
Condition(s)

P
age 149



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of previous meeting
	Minutes

	8 Members Site Visit
	9 Application No:22/0003/TWR3MJ Site: Land South Of Badham Pharmacy Head Office, A435, Bishops Cleeve, Cheltenham, Gloucestershire GL52 8SA
	10 Enforcement Report
	11 Delegated Decisions Report

